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About Our Company

We are aleading Tood and beverage company, Our Dairy Group is the Targest processor and distribator of milk and
various other dairs products in the United States. oure Branded Products Group markels and setls avariety of well-
known dairy and dairy-refated hranded products sueh as SPKS sosmilk, Horizon Organic™ dairy products and juices.
hiternational Delieh!™ coltee creamers, Yaries™ relvigerated dips and dressings, Hershevs® milks and milkshakes
and LD O LARES T brand miths and creams. Our Specialty Foods Group 1 the Teading pickle processor and one of
the leading manulacturers of powdered cotfee creamers in the United States and maker of avariely of other specialts
loods products. We also own the Tourth largest dairy processor in spain.,

We hinve a unique mix ol product offerings that are squarehy in dine with todays focus on bealthy, nutritious foods and
beverages. And with our =olid record of strong and consistent tfinancial performance. and our intense foeus on crealing
value —we are well posilioned to reach new heights,

Now more than ever = reach for Dean,

I




Historic Stock Performance*

$35

30 N
4

j: Ml‘\/’\/f

M N
10

JFMAM) JASOND | FMAM]) JASOND) FMAM| JASOND] FMAM]| JASOND ) FMAM| JASOND | FM

99 00 01 02

* Chart reflects splil-adjusted closing prices on the last day of each month.

xeacn for Dean

Contents

Letter from the Chairman

Reach for Dean in the Dairy Case
Reach for Silk®

Reach for Horizon Organic®
Reach for Dean's Leading Brands
Reach for Dean Brands Storewide
Reach for Dean Overseas
Financial Review

Other Shareholder {nformation
Board of Directors and Officers

04

12
16
20
22
24
95
96

Reach for Dean - Dean Foods 2003 Annual Report

1




Dear Fellow Shareholders:

I am pleased to report that 2003 was
anuther vear of strong performance al
Dean Poods Company. Despite a number
of operational challenges, including
rising raw milk prices, a prolonged
strike altfecting our grocery customers in
southern California and some growing
pains in our former Morningstar
division, we achieved our earnings

2oal. 20003 was an impaortant year ol
transition for us and we emerged from

it & better, stronger company.,

BUitDING & STRONGER ComPaNY

AL Dean Foods, we are intently focused on
creating value. In 20038, we took a number
ol tmportant steps Lo steengthen our
position and create value,

I'irst. we reorganized our former
Morningstar Foods division in an eflort
Lo sharpen our focus an our strategic
brands and maximize our manufacturing
efficiency. Historically, about hall of
Morningstar Foods™ sales have consisted
of private Tabel dairy products. Elfective
January 1. 2004, we shifted al ol
Morningstar Foods™ private label
business. and all ol its manufacturing
operations, to the Dairy Group. We
then ereated the National Brand Group
and assigned it the task ol developing.
marketing and selting our porttolin ol
strategic brands (except Tor our soy
and organic products), We reeraited
Mike Reown, a marketing veteran whose
most recent experience was running the
Shelf Stable Division of The Minute
Maid Company. as leader ol the 2roup
amd empowered hiny and his team with
the resources ey need Lo build our
hrands. Now we helieve our resources are
hetter aligned to allow our emplovees 1o
dowhat they do best. Our Bairy Group is

now manutacturing the National Brand

Groups products, using their proven
ability to manufacture the highest guality
products al the Jowest cost. Our National
Brand Group emplovees have the freedom
1o locus their atlenlion on our strategic
hrands, Our private label customers and
our private label operations henelit
because we now go tomarket with one
voice. better able to help our customers
strengthen their private Tabel brands.
Our sharcholders benefit from inereased
visibility of the performance of our
strategic brands, as we hine a4 new
[eament reporting structure that
isolates our strategie brands into a
single reportable segment called the
Branded Products Group. This new
reporting structure will begin in the
first quarter of 2004

Fven as we were in the midst of
integrating 15 manufacturing lacilities
and over 5400 million of private label
sales from Morningstar Foods into the
Dairy Group, we continued our cflorls
Lo drive costs oul of our Dairy Group's
manulacturing operations. We closed 5
Dairs Group Tacilities in 2003 that had
excess manufacturing capacily or
overlapping operations and reduced
headeount accordingly.

We also made a number ol strategic
acquisitions during the sear, including
Iost notahly our acquisition on
January 4. 2004 ol Horizon Organic®.
Lhe Teading brand of organic foods in 1he
Liited States: We are very pleased to
welcome Horizon Organic inlo our
portfolio of strategic brands and belicve
that 10 is and will continue Lo be an
important part of our growing health
and wellness platform. Horizon Organics
financial resulls will be included in our
new Branded Products Group segment,

together with owr other stralegie brands.
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including Sitk™ sovmilk, futernational
Detight' coltee creamers, Hershey 8™
milks and miltkshakes. Land 0 Lahes
Dairy Fase™ and creamers, Varie & dips
and dressings, and Deans ™ dips.

In addition to the acquisition of
Horizon Oreanic. we also made impaortant
acquisitions in our Dairy Group and
Specialty Foods segments. IncJune. our
Dairy Group acquired Melody Farms. a
Michigan-based regional dairy processor,
Thix acquisition expanded our Dairy
Group's distribution reach in the
Michigan area, allowing us o betler
serve our customers. In October, we
acquired kohler Mix Specialties, whose
product line cansists primarily ol private
label ullra-pasteurized ice cream mines,
creamers and creams, sold maindy in the
foodservice channel. This transaction
creatly enhaneed the Dairy Group's
ultra-high lemperature manufacturing
capabilits, Finallv, in January 2004,
our Dairy Group acguired Ross Swiss
Dairies, a distributor based in
Los Angeles, which has given us
improved distribution capabililies in
southern California,

I December 20003, our Specialty Foods
Group acquired the Cremara™ hranded
coflee creamer husiness. \lthough our
Specialty Foods Group is one ol the
leading manuafacturers of powdered
collee creamers in the nation, ils business
has historicatiy been private label, We
are excited now Lo be able e olfer our
customers more choices with Cremora,
our lirst branded powdered coflee
creamer ollfering.

Another impartant develapment at our
specialty Foods Group was the retirement
of ils President. Jim Greisinger. in
Febraary 2004, Blake Anderson. formerhy

senior vice president at Specialty Foods,




replaced Jim as President. Blake, who has
been with us since 2002, has over 29
vears of experience in the food industry
primarily with Campbell Soup Company
and also with Vlasic Foods. We are
pleased to have Blake in his new position.

BuUILDING OUR BRANDS

We continue to believe that our strategic
brands will be a significant area of
future growth for us, and in 2003 we
invested heavily in marketing and gaining
distribution for those brands. We are
already beginning to see the rewards of
our investment, as unit sales of our
strategic brands increased by more than
27% in 2003, on a pro forma basis as if
we had owned Silk for all of 2002. We
launched a number of product
extensions and packaging changes
during the year, including a new plastic
bottle for International Delight and new
packaging for our Maries dressings.

We also launched new flavors and
formulations in several of our lines. More
information about our 2003 branded
product developments is included in the
next few pages of this report.

STRENGTHENING OUR
FiNANCIAL PoOsITiON

We made several improvements to our
overall financial position in 2003. In the
second quarter of 2003, we retired
$600 million of trust-issued preferred
securities, more than 99% of which
were converted into shares of our

- common stock. We also amended our
senior credit facility to increase our
borrowing capacity, lower the interest
rate and add greater flexibility to finance
our growth.

LookiNG AHEAD

As we look to 2004, our strategy remains
much the same. As always, our primary
focus will be on our customers. We will
continue our relentless efforts to be our
customers’ supplier of choice by providing
them the highest quality products and the
best service at a competitive price. We
will continue our disciplined efforts to
drive costs out of our business.

We will also continue to make
meaningful investments in our brands.
We believe that we can continue to
increase sales and profitability by
wisely investing in marketing our
biggest and fastest growing brands.

Finaily, we will continue to carefully
invest our capital where we believe
returns are the greatest, including on
acquisitions that fit our strategic
objectives. We will also continue to
carefully analyze our portfolio of
businesses to ensure that our resources
are always properly aligned with our
strategic objectives.

[ thank all of our employees for their
individual contributions toward our
success, and I thank you, our shareholders,
for your continued investment in and

support of our company.

Sincerely,

Lhg

GREGG ENGLES

Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
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LOW-FAT ALTERNATIVES

With dairy’s essential combination
of vitamins and minerals, it's a
vital part of any healthy diet. Our
regional dairy brands offer a
variety of fat-free and low-fat
alternatives. High on richness,
flavor and nutrition, low on fat —
we provide healthy options for
today’s families.

Reach
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HERE’S THE SKINNY

The percentage of overweight Americans has risen sharply over the past
30 years. More and more research suggests that dairy products may
play a role in weight loss. At Dean Foods, a cross-company initiative is
underway to bring this exciting news straight to the consumer, driving
them to the dairy case in their efforts to watch their weight.

Dean in the Dairy

m

i “ ) ur Dairy Group sells a full line of
\- branded and private label dairy
case products to retailers, distribu-
tors, foodservice outlels, schools and
governmental entities across the
country. With sales of over $7 billion
in 2003, or almost 80% of our total
sales, the Dairy Group remains the
foundation of our company. From
fresh milk and cream to yogurts,
cottage cheese and juices, our Dairy
Group is in the business of providing
consuners with héalthy options for
their families.

As consumer preferences evolve,
we are dedicated to innovating in the
dairy category to bring consumers
products that meet their needs. From
convenient single-serve milks that

satisfy today’s on-the-go consumer to

low-fat and low-carb alternatives that
help build healthy bodies — we're
ready and able to bring Americans
what they want in the dairy case.

We're also focused on bringing our
customers what they want in the dairy
case — the highest quality products
at the lowest cost and the finest in
customer service. Our decentralized
business model enables us to stay
close to our customers wherever
they are and Lo react quickly to meet
the‘ir unique and changing needs.
We are fiercely loval to all of our
customers and dedicated to helping
them grow their businesses in
whatever ways we can.

At Dean Dairy Group, we're doing
what it takes to keep our customers

and consumers reaching for Dean.

Reach for Dean - Dean Foods 2003 Annual Report
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ur Dairy Group sells its products from coast to coast

under more than 30 familiar local and regional dairy
brands and an array ol private labels. From Garelick Farms®
and Tuscan® in the Northeast Lo Meadow Gold® in the Wesl,
and from Deans™ and Country Fresh™ in the Midwest Lo
Schepps® and Oak Farms® in the South. our Dairy Group
sells the brands you know and love,

And we're bringing thent Lo vou in a way that only we can.

We have Lhe most extensive refrigerated direct-store-delivery

SERVE YOURSELF system in the United States. which makes us the only dairy
Single-serve milks continue to boost consumption and sales at company wilh the ability Lo deliver fresh dairy products to
Dean Foods. Today’s consumers are convenience-minded, and customers virtually anywhere in the country. The singular

roviding on-the-go options is key to meeting their needs. . . ) , .
P . g . goop y ) & reach ol our direct-store-delivery network is a unique and
Also ideal for kids, the smaller servings encourage healthy ‘ «
snacking. Serving convenience for consumers and value for all important assel that benefits atl of our business unils — and
... seems like good things really do come in small packages! i1s just one of the many advantages that sets us apart.

We're reaching oul — to our customers and to our

consumers — and we're bringing greater value Lo all.

Gands's

(@ QUALITY CHEKD'

The Dairy Best®

Reach for Dean - Dean Foods 2003 Annual Report




STRAIGHT A’S IN HEALTH

To help schools provide healthier beverage choices for their students,
we are testing several school vending programs. Our machines offer
kids a variety of single-serve milks, including our local brands, our
Hershey’s® milks and milkshakes and Silk® soymilk. More nutrition,
less junk ... a good lesson in health for kids at any age.

Browns
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ik sovmilk. 1Us good for

vour body. L tastes greal. 10s
wot less fat and no cholesterol
and its full of calcium and other
vitamins. And best of all. it's sov.
The DA has determined Lthat 25
grams ol sov protein a day as

part of a diet low in Lat and

heart disease. Also. some studies have
indicated that sov can play a role in
addressing a variety of other health
problems, such as osleoporosis, cancer
and even premature aging. With Silk.
we're proud o be part of the solution for
consumers focused on nutrition and
healthy lifesives.

We're on a mission Lo bring Sifk

into the mainstream — and we're

cholesterol may reduce the risk of




SILK® AND THE SUSAM G. KOMEN
BREAST CANCER FOUNDATION
RACE FOR THE CURE® SERIES

By making Silk a

breast cancer. Silk is proud to be a national sponsor of the Komen
Race for the Cure®, the world’s largest 5K race series, benefiting the

Susan G. Komen

into the American mainstream, we hope to help Komen in its mission
to eradicate breast cancer.

)

The Susan G. Komen

Breast Cancer Foundation

part of your diet, you’re supporting the fight against

Breast Cancer Foundation. By bringing Sitk soymilk

for Silk

| Gor Bood Taste and Good Healsh 1

off to a good slart. Silk has already
penetrated more than 10 million
homes in the United States and
enjoys extreme hrand lovalty with
an approximately 80% share of the
refrigerated soymilk category. Silk
revenues were up by more than
40% in 2003.

But we think the Silk story is only
just beginning. With all its success,
Sitk has still only reached less than
10% of American households — and
that teaves a 1ot of room for growth.
We think the key to maximizing Silk's

START YOUR DAY WITH S/LK

Start your day right with Silk in the morning.
Whether it’s soymilk with cereal or great
tasting soy yogurt, Silk wants to help bring
you a happier, healthier day.

reach is to increase consumer
awareness of the health benefits
of soy and Silk, and to
generale greater irial.
We are investing heavily
toward those goals.
Reach for Silk - it'll
do your body good.

Reach for Dean - Dean Foods 2003 Annual Report




SOMETHING FOR EVERYONE

As more and more consumers discover the joy of soy, Silk

is creating new flavors and varieties to keep up with changing
consumer preferences. Silk Very Vanilla has a kid-friendly
taste with 15 essential nutrients, including 35% of
recommended daily calcium. Silk Enhanced contains
added important vitamins and nutrients and is targeted
especially toward women. Sitk Unsweetened provides the
delicious flavor of Silk without the added sugar.

10 Reach for Dean - Dean Foods 2003 Annual Report




NO REFRIGERATION REQUIRED

In 2003, we introduced an aseptic three-pack in Silk Very Vanilla and
Silk Chocolate flavors, ideal for school lunches or snacks on-the-go. The
shelf-stable 8% - ounce packages require no refrigeration but offer all
the great taste of refrigerated Silk. Look for it on store shelves near you.

RS FLOz @aamy)

tified

e’re reaching out to consumers. We're
L: i lislening to their wants and needs, and
we are responding. We know that consumers
care not just about nutrition but also about
taste and convenience — so we are constantly
introducing new and innovative Silk flavors
and packaging. We've introduced a variety of
new Silk products that are tasty enough to
please even a kid, convenient enough for the
busiest mom and nutritious enough for the
most health-conscious consumer.

We also know that consumers care about
more than just what goes in their bodies. It
is our belief that companies and brands are
differentiated by their culture as much as by

their products — and we believe Silk is the
brand that consumers can feel proud to
support. Silk has a long-standing commitment
to socially responsible and environmentally
sustainable business practices. We back
important causes like the Susan G. Komen
Breast Cancer Foundation and Farm Aid. We
are the largest American company to purchase
wind power credits for manufacturing. Silk
doesn’t use any genetically engineered
producis. We're proud to support the
causes that consumers care about.

Silk. It's what you want. Healthy bodies,

healthy minds, healthy planet.

SOY FOR YOU, SOY FOR ME

In addition to Silk, White Wave produces
Sun Soy®, a value alternative for soymilk
drinkers. White Wave rounds out the soy
category with other offerings, including soy
yogurts and coffee creamers, tofu, seitan
and tempeh. Soy to satisfy anyone’s tastes.

Reach for Dean - Dean Foods 2003 Annual Report
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ORGANIC - RIGHT FROM THE START

Horizon Organic provides wholesome goodness in

a variety of products especially for kids - like Yogurt Tubes
nd Yo-Yo’s yogurt cups for older kids, and Baby Yogurt for
infants and toddlers. These yummy yogurts are a great source of
calcium and help moms give their kids the nutrition they need.

| Gor Boad To

orizon Oreanic™ is 1he leading brand of choice Tor Kids in portable packages. \Iso, we

certificd organic loods in the United States. ; are now packaging our highly successtul Horizon
with avariely of product olferings (rom mitk and /’ L&*‘ Organic single-serve miths in shell-stable
cream Lo vogurl, sour cream, cotlage cheese, / : [ B-packs. hringing even more value and
hutter, cheese. juice and now a new Horizon j comenience 1o lodays busy families, In 2003,
Crganic infant Tormula, ] / Horizon Oreanic launched the lirst-ever LSD A
Horizon Organic is passionale about bringing _/L-/ certilied oreanic infant formula. offering

constmers the products they love 1o eat and parents an organic choice that meets aft FDA

drink. but in an organic variety, One of Horizon requirements for complete infant nutrition.

Oreanie s irst prioritics is providing parents Horizon Organic Infant Formula is iy aitable in

with healthy oreanic tood alternatives Py the western United States, with a

[or their Kids. Our line of Horizon national rotlout expected in 2004
Organic Kid vogurts provides We know that by the time
a specially formulated child reaches 8 vears of age, he
product for habics or she begins 1o

and a healthy play a higger role

Re¢ach for Dean - Dean Foods 2003 Annual Report
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in choosing the foods that come into the home. By
reaching kids early with organic products that are
fun and delicious, yet nutritious enough to please
parents, we hope to open the door for organic foods
to become a staple in all American households.

Consumers are craving healthy alternatives, ‘
and with Horizon Organic we intend to give them -
what they want. Helping consumers reach their
nulrition goals — that's what we're all about.

Reach for Horizon Organic — it's a choice you can

feel good about.
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SKIMMED:
RESH MILK

Pasteurrsed

Bia-live wholemill
Strawherry Yogurt

GREAT BRITAIN GREAT PRODUCT

Horizon Organic sells its products under the Rachel’s
Organic® label in the U.K,, and it is now the U.K.’s No. 1
organic mitk brand and No. 2 organic yogurt, butter and
cream brand. Recent product introductions include a
dessert yogurt multi-pack, the first major introduction in
the organic dessert category. These multi-packs offer an
innovative range of flavors, including Toffee with Fudge
Pieces, Apple and Butterscotch and Apple and Blackberry —
a variety of tastes to please every member of the family.

2004 as part of our commitment Lo
providing consumers wilh a full range of
healthy and nutritious products. With the
areater resources thal come with joining
Dean Foods. Horizon Organic can now
bring the message ol healthy organic dairy
products to more consumers than ever

before and betler meel the increasing

demand for new, innovative organic products.

Research shows that 69% ol organic
consumers would prefer to buy organic
products al conventional supermarkets. We

intend to use all of our resources to make

Reach for Dean - Dean Foods 2003 Annual Report

+ € acquired Horizon Organic in January

sure that Horizon Organic producls are
everywhere consumers want them to be.

We helieve there is great untapped
potential for Horizon Organic producls and
we intend to invest heavily in developing.
marketing and promoting this brand. We also
hope to bring processing synergies to the
brand as we simplily and internalize its
supply chain. creating greater efficiencies.

smart and exciting product innovations.
aggressive marketing and enhanced
processing and distribution opportunities as
part of the Dean Foods family of companies

point Lo a bright tuture for Horizon Organic.




CHANGING THE WORLD - ONE ORGANIC ACRE AT A TIME

Horizon Organic supports more than 200,000 acres of organic agriculture ~ and that number is rapidly expanding.
Working with more than 300 family farmers, Horizon Organic is dedicated to sustainable agricultural practices,
safe land use and the respectful treatment of animals. We strongly believe in the importance of organic agriculture
- not only to provide the best-tasting, highest quality organic dairy and juice products, but also to encourage a
safe and beautiful future for our planet.

1ZON

Some =

The Happy Cow of Horizon Organic stands for high-quality organic foods that are fun, youthful and delicious, and
makes the brand inviting, approachable and kid-friendly.

Reach for Dean - Dean Foods 2003 Annual Report 15




80 YEARS OF EQUITY

We're very proud to offer the simple goodness
of LAND O LAKES" branded dairy products, such
as LAND O LAKES™ Dairy Ease™' lactose-free milk
and LAND O LAKES ™ creamers. LAND O LAKES™
fat-free half and half is a consumer favorite,
with sales growing four times faster than the
category. With high consumer brand awareness,
the LAND O LAKES* brand promises to be an
exciting vehicle for future growth.

For Gord Thsts and Good Health }

e National Brand Group markels and sells

a delicious collection ol winning produclts.
such as Indernational Delight™ collee creamers.
Hershey S milks and milkshakes, LAND O LARES'
mitks and creams, Varies salad dressings and
Deans™ dips and dressings,

International Defight is the National Brand
Groups lagship product line, and 2003 was an
exciting vear for this tried and true brand. We
intvoduced luternational Delight in a cur
plastic bottle with a unigue single-handed pour
spoul and we supported it with Wavne Brady

singing its praises.

16 Reach for Dean - Dcan Foods 2003 Annual Report
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HERSHEY'S® MILKSHAKES
JUST GOT EVEN COOLER

It's a minty match made in heaven. With York®
Peppermint Patty ranked as the No. 1 chocolate
mint, Hershey’s® York® MilkShakes are a fun
new addition to our Hershey’s® milkshake line.
Whether you choose Strawberry, Creamy
Chocolate, Cookies ‘N’ Cream, Vanilla
Cream or the new York® Peppermint
Patty, Hershey’s® MilkShakes are
the perfect healthy indulgence.

—

International Delight joined the low-carb
revolution in 2004 with the introduction of the
first low-carb liquid non-dairy creamer, currently
available in our most popular French Vanilla and
Hazelnut flavors. You can reach for International
Delight at a store near you in 16 unique flavors,
in pints or quarts or in our convenient single-
serve cups. Once again, we are answering
consumers’ call for healthier choices and
increased value, and 2004 is shaping up to be
another delightful year for International Delight.
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WHAT MAKES 1T, MAKES IT GREAT.™

in 2003, Marie’s® dressings brought new life to the
refrigerated salad dressing category. We re-introduced
the product in vibrant new packaging and backed it

up with fresh, creative advertising. The result was
double-digit growth. Marie’s dressings are No. 1 in the
refrigerated salad dressing category, and are available
in your grocer’s produce section in 26 varieties. Marie’s
is made with premium fresh ingredients and offers
homemade taste, helping consumers eat healthy
without compromising flavor.

“n 2003, one of our main priorities was (o ensure that our operations and resources are
' properly aligned Lo maximize the potential ol our strategic brands. As part of this process.
we created the Dean National Brand Group and made it custodian of some of our most
important brands. Smartl marketing and innovalion are the National Brand Group's mandate.
This highly energized group has already developed a robust pipeline of new products and line
extensions. and we are truly excited about the potential for this arca of our business,
Beginning in 2004, the National Brand Groups financial resulis will be reported as part of
a new segment that also includes Sifk™ sovimilk and our other soy products. and Horizon
Organic. With estimated 2004 revenue of over $1 billion and estimated operaling margins ol
8-10% for the vear. this segmenl promises lo be an importanl growlh engine for our company.
We plan 1o markel our strategic brands aggressively in 2004, with special emphasis on our
fargest and fastest growing brands.
We've reached a new cra of hranded product excitement al Dean Foods and we are more

dedicated than ever to bringing added value to our customers. consumers and sharcholders.

Reach for Dean - Dean Foods 2003 Annual Report
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Dean Specialty Foods Group boasts a
diverse product line including pickles,
powdered creamers, syrups, sauces,
peppers, olives, puddings and nutritional
beverages for retail, foodservice and
industrial customers.

keach for

— e e P
{ Tor Boad THske dnd Beed Health J

MORE WITH CREMORA

In December 2003, our
Specialty Foods Group
acquired the popular
Cremora® brand of powdered
non-dairy coffee creamer.
Dean Specialty Foods Group
has long been a leading
manufacturer of private
label powdered creamers.
Now with our first branded
powdered creamer, we can
use our manufacturing,
marketing and distribution
expertise to offer our
customers even more.

s REGL,

PUTR—
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PETER PIPER’S PICKED

In 2003, our Specialty Foods Group consolidated eight of our
regional pickle brands under the Peter Piper’s® label,

transforming the brand with new packaging, new formulas

and line extensions. We expanded the brand into new markets,
making Peter Piper’s now available in nearly two-thirds of the
nation. With the regional strength of our Farman’s®, Nalley®
and Steinfeld’s® brands, in addition to the expanded presence
of Peter Piper’s, Dean Specialty Foods Group is the largest

 HAMBURGER %,

Dean Brands

pickle processor in the country.

torewide

m
| || ean Specialty Foods Group

Py
LU/ produces a broad spectrum of
products for a varied customer base.
This division primarily produces
pickies, powdered creamers, syrups,
sauces and nutritional beverages for
Tetail, foodservice and industrial
customers. With national brands,
customer brands and co-packing and
global sourcing expertise, this
division offers a host of exciting
options and services to cusltomers
and consumers alike.

In 2003 Dean Specialty Foods Group
continued to grow top and bottom line
results. Marketing initiatives in 2003
included a massive retail consolidation
of our pickie business, taking twelve

regional brands down to four, adding

more than 650 distribution points and
expanding the reputable Peter Pipers
brand to new markets, making it nearly
national in scope. We also expanded
our powdered creamer business with
new packaging and flavor introductions,
which expanded sales nicely. In
December, we announced our
acquisition of the Cremora® brand

of powdered non-dairy coffee creamer.
While we had been co-packing the
brand, now we own it ~ the second
targest label in the category.

We are also the leading manufacturer
of private label nutritional beverages
and in 2003 we grew this part of our
business appreciably. We expanded our
Roddenberys® Northwoods® syrup line,
answering the call to health by adding

reduced calorie and low-carb versions. :
We also invested in technology, ‘/
consolidated operations and

added new processing
capabilities to increase our
productivity. ..

Our Speciaity Foods
Group is an important part
of our commitment to
providing customers with the
products they demand. Dean
Specialty Foods Group —
just one more reason to
reach for Dean.

Reach for Dean -
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% FEWER CALORIES THAN
50 REGULAR PANCAKE SYRUP
No artificial Sweereners:,
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CROSSING IBERIA W’&m Py
With three processing facilities in Spain and one 7 “Barcelona
under construction in Portugal, our popular Celta® PORTUGAL - *Madrid
brand is spreading its wholesome goodness all Q
across Iberia. Lisbon?, /: SPA1N ’
L
N

Reach for overseas

| Fev Good Tosts and Good Health |

can Foods has made significant processing plant in Alpiarca. Portugal, modet can be successtul in international

strides on the Iherian Peninsula which is <scheduled to openin the

third quarter of 2004,

markels and we have gained a great

since we arrived there four years ago. deal of insight into these markets over
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our Celta® brand is now the second
lareest milk brand in Portugal and the
fourth largest in Spain. Just tike in the
U5, our goalin Iheria is Lo provide
Ihe highest quality products ot the
fowest cost with the highest level of
customer service.

Weve conducted our operations in
Spain using the same disciplined value-
oriented approach that has worked so
well Tor us in the United States. \s a
resull. sales volumes have grown
roughly 509 over the past four vears.
In order Lo belter serve our customers
in Portugal. we are very excited 1o be

bhuilding a new state-ofl-the-arl

\xin the States. we are commitied o
hringing innovation to the dairy category
in [heria by consistently introducing new
products and packaging. In 2003, we
launched a line ol specially fortified
milks for various consumer Largets.
some exciling new milk products
especially for Kids and Leche con
Frulas, a unique beverage
Lthat combines (ruit juice
with fresh wholesome
milk. Cefta atso produces
a full Tine of delicious
fruit juices.

The steady growth of

Cella proves our business
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the past several vears: We will continue
to study our oplions in Europe as we
oain a greater understanding of their
markets and. as alwavs, we will
approach expansion with the same

cautious discipline with which wehve

huill our business in the Uniled Slates,




Qur popular Leche con Frutas fruit and milk drinks are the
latest Celta offering that combine great taste with good
health. These unique products combine the sweetness and
nutritional value of fruit juice with the richness of milk.
Offered in convenient single-serve packs, these products
are the perfect good-to-go beverages.

GOOD HEALTH IN ANY LANGUAGE i

‘%W\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\%\\\\
“,
\\M .

Celta offers a full line of products that
meet consumer demand for healthy
beverages. By offering products
specially formulated for kids, as

well as varieties enriched with extra
calcium and other important vitamins
and minerals, Celta is responding to the
changing needs of Iberian consumers
through product innovation.
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Selected Financial Data

The following selected financial data as of and for each of the five years in the period ended December 31, 2003 has been derived

from our audited Consolidated Financial Statements. The selected financial data do not purport to indicate results of operations as of any
future date or for any future period. The selected financial data should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements

and related Notes.

Year Ended December 31

(Dollars in thousands except share data) 2003 2002% 2001 2000 1999%
Operating data:
Net sales™® $9.184,616 $8,991,464 | $5.974.555 $5,499,712 $4.224,620
Cost of sales 6.808.207 6,642,773 4,674,258 4,1560.170 3,304,473
Gross profit 2,376,409 2,348,691 1,400,297 1,349,542 920,147
Operating costs and expenses:
Selling and distribution 1,345,065 1.321,763 794,937 756,445 468,517
General and administrative 317,342 337,496 176,642 174.333 139,175
Amortization of intangibles® 4,949 7,775 51,361 49,776 35,849
Plant closing. merger and other costs 11,787 19,050 9,550 2,147 11,185
Other operating (income) expense' (68.719) (17,306) 7,500
Total operating costs and expenses 1,610,424 1,686,084 1.015.184 990,821 654.726
Operating income 765,985 662,607 385,113 358,721 265,421
QOther (income) expense:
Interest expense, net® 181,134 197,685 103,820 99.329 45.764
Financing charges on trust issued preferred securities 14,164 33,578 33,681 33.595 38,584
Equity in (earnings) losses of unconsolidated affiliates (244) 7,899 23,620 (11,453) (2,630)
Other (income) expense, net (2,625) 2,660 4,817 (233) (511)
Total other expense 192,429 241,822 165.838 121,238 81.207
Income from continuing operations before income taxes 573.556 420,785 219,275 237,483 184,214
Income taxes 217,853 152,988 80,160 92,489 74,254
Minority interest in earnings® 46 31,431 29,911 8.813
Income from continuing operations 355,703 267,751 107,684 115,083 101.147
Loss on sale of discontinued operations, net of tax (8,231)
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax 879 3,692 3,636 8.584
Income before cumulative effect of accounting change 355,703 260,399 111,276 118,719 109,731
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax (84,983) (1.446)
Net income $ 355,703 $ 175.416 | $§ 109,830 $ 118.719 $ 109,731
Basic earnings per common share:
Income from continuing operations $ 245 | % 1.98 | § 1.28 | $ 1.36 | $ 1.02
Income (loss) from discontinued operations (.05) .04 .04 .09
Cumulative effect of accounting change (.63) (.02)
Net income $ 2.45 3 1.30 3 1.30 $ 1.40 $ 1.11
Diluted earnings per common share:
Income from continuing operations $ 2271 8 1.77 | 8 117 | 8 1.24 1 $ .97
Income (loss) from discontinued operations (.03) .03 .03 07
Cumulative effect of accounting change (.51) (.01
Net income $ 2.27 $ 1.21 $ 1.19 $ 1.27 $ 1.04
Average common shares:
Basic 145,201,412 | 135,031,274 | 84,454,194 84,585,129 98,583,654
Diluted 160.695.670 | 163,163,904 [110.676,222 [110,013.792 (128,575,476
Other data:
Ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges
and preferred stock dividends™ 3.03x 2.78x 2.86x 2.68x 3.79x
Balance sheet data (at end of period):
Total asseis $6.992,536 $6,582,266 | $6,691,897 $3,780.478 $2,658.922
Long-term debt® 2,791,514 2,727,924 3,068,497 1,353,269 712,068
Other long-term liabilities 279,823 312,110 196,189 53.753 33,782
Mandatorily redeemable convertible trust
issued preferred securities 585,177 584,605 584,032 683,505
Total stockholders’ equity 2,542,813 1,643,293 1,475.880 598.832 583,972

Balances for 1999 through 2002 have heen adjusted to remove our Puerto Rico operations which have been reclassified as discontinued operations.

Net sales have been restated to reflect the adoption of EITF Issue No. 01-09 “Accounting for Consideration Given by a Vendor to a Customer." The net effect was to decrease

net sales by $33.7 million, $29.9 million and $22.2 mittion in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

On January 1, 2002, we adopted SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets," which requires, among other things. that goodwill and other intangible assets with

indefinite lives no longer be amortized and that recognized intangible assets with finite lives be amortized over their respective useful lives. As required by SFAS No. 142, our

results for periods prior to 2002 have not been restated.

(4) Results for 2003 include a gain of $66.2 million on the sale of our frozen pre-whipped topping and frozen coffee creamer operations and a gain of $2.5 million related Lo the
divestiture of 11 plants in 2001. Results for 2001 include a gain of $47.5 million on the divestiture of 11 plants offset by an expense of $28.5 million resulting from a payment
to a supplier as consideration for modifications to an agreement and an impairment charge of $1.7 million on a water plant. Results in 2000 include litigation settlement
costs of $7.5 million.

(5) Results for 2001 and 2000 have been restated to reflect the adoption of SFAS No. 145 “Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44 and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No.
13 and Technical Corrections." Gains and losses that were previously recorded as extraordinary items related to the early extinguishment of debt, which were a $7.3 million
loss in 2001 and a $7.7 million gain in 2000, have been reclassified to interest expense. There was no effect on net income.

(6) In December 2001, in connection with our acquisition of Legacy Dean, we purchased Dairy Farmers of America’s 33.8% stake in our Dairy Group.

(7) For purposes of calculating the ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges and preferred stock dividends. “earnings" represents income before income taxes plus fixed
charges. “Fixed charges" consist of interest on all debt, amortization of deferred financing costs and the portion of rental expense that we believe is representative of the
interesl componenl of rent expense.

(8) Includes amounts outstanding under subsidiary lines of credit and the curreat portion of long-term debt.

w S
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We are a leading food and beverage company, Our Dairy Group is the largest processor and distributor of milk and various other
dairy products in the United States. Our Branded Products Group markets and sells a variety ofbwell known dairy and dairv-related
branded products inctuding, for example: Silk sovmilk: Horizon Organic dairy products and juices: International Delight coffee
creamers: Maries refrigerated dips and dressings: and Hershevs milks and milkshakes. Our Specialty Foods Group is one of the
lecading pickle processors in the United States and o maker of a variety of other specialty food products. We also own the fourth

largest dairy processor in Spain.

SEGMENTS AND OPERATING Divisions

In 2003, we had three reportabie segments. including the Dairy Group. Morningstar/White Wave and the Specialty Foods Group.
Elective January 1. 2004, we reorganized our former Morningstar Foods division, which has resulted in a new segment reporting
structure. We now have the following reportable segments: the Dairy Group, the Branded Products Group and the Specialty Foods

Group. Our reportable segments and other operating divisions are described below,

Dairy Group — Our Dairy Group segment is our largest segment, with approximately 78% of our 2003 consotidated sales. Our Dairy
Group manufactures, markels and distributes a wide variety of branded and private label “dairy case” products. such as milk. cream,
ice cream, cultured dairy products and juices, to retailers, distributors. foodservice outlets, schools and govermmental entities
across the United States. The Dairy Group also manufactures most of the products marketed and sold hy our Branded Products
Group. Due to the perishable nature of the Dairy Group's products, our Dairy Group delivers the majority of its products directly to
its customers” stores in refrigerated trueks that we own or lease. This form of defivery is called a “direct store delivery” or "DSD”

svstem and we have one of the most extensive DSD svstems in the taited States.

Branded Products Group — Our Branded Products Group develops, markets and sells our portfolio of strategic brands. including Sifk
sovinitk. Horizon Organic dairy products, juices and infant tormula. International Detighi cotfee creamers, Hershevs miths and
miltkshakes. Land O'Lakes Dairy Fase and Land O'Lakes creamers, Maries dips and dressings. The Organic Cow of Vermont organic
milk. Rachels Organic organic dairy products (sold in the UK. Foleers Jakada milk and coffee beverage and Deans dips. Our
Branded Products Group consists of three distinet operating divisions: the National Brand Group, White Wave and Horizon Organic.

P’rior to 2004, we had a Morningstar Foods division that manufactured. marketed and sold all of our strategic brands except for
our sov products. and also manufactured and sold private label dairy products. Approximately hall of Morningstar Foods™ 2003 sales
consisted of private label dairy products. In mid-2003. we began the process of reorganizing the operations of our Morningstar
Foods division. as part ol a companyv-wide effort to sharpen our focus on our strategic brands and to maximize our manutacturing
clficiency. Bifective January 1, 2004 we completed the shift of all of Morningstar Foods™ private label sales and all of its manufacturing
operations to 1he Dairy Group. We also created the National Brand Group and assigned it the =ole responsibility of developing.
marketing and selling the former Morningstar Foods™ strategic brands, which include ndernational Delisht collee creamers.,
Hershey s milks and milkshakes, Land O'Lakes Dairy Fase and Land O Lakes creamers, Maries dips and dressings. Folgers Jakada
milk and coffee beverage and Deans dips. Other branded products sold by the National Brand Group include Mocha Miv® non-dair
liquid coffee creamer, Netarally Yours ™ sour cream and Second Nature cgg substitute, We license the Hershevs, Land O'Lakes and
Foleers names from thivd parties for use on certain ol our products,

White Wave markets and sells Silk sosmitk, the Teading brand ol sovmilk in the United States: Sun Sovsovmilk: Siltk cultured soy
products: and White Wave branded tofu, tempeh and seitan to a variety of customers across the United States and in several foreien
countries. including mass merchandisers, club stores, grocery stores, natural foods stores. convenience stores and foodservice

outlets, using its internal sales foree and independent brokers.,
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Horizon Organic, which we acquired on January 2, 2004, markets and sells a full-line of branded and private label organic dairy
products and juices to retailers across the United States and in the U.K. using its internal sales force and independent brokers,
under the Horizon Organic, The Organic Cow of Vermont, and Rachels Organic brands. All of Horizon Organic’s products are
“eertified organic products,” as defined by the USDA's Organic Regulations.

Specialty Foods Group — Our Specialty Foods Group is one of the nation’s leading pickle processors, and the largest manufacturer and
seller of powdered non-dairy coffee creamers in the United States. The Specialty Foods Group also manufactures and sells a variety

of specialty foods, such as powdered ingredients, aseptic sauces and nutritional beverages.

International Group — Our International Group, which does not qualify as a reportable segment, manufactures, markets and sells
private label and branded milk, butter, cream and cheese through its internal sales force to retailers and distributors across Spain

and Portugal.

CURRENT BUSINESS STRATEGY
We are focused on consistently creating and maximizing shareholder value primarily through the following strategies:

Investing in Our Brands — We believe that investing in our brands is key to growing our sales and our profitability. In 2004, we intend
to spend approximately $210 million marketing the strategic brands of our Branded Products Group, with an emphasis on our
largest and most successful brands: Silk, Horizon Organic, International Delight and Hersheys. In addition, during 2004 we expect

to spend approximately $50 million marketing our regional Dairy Group brands.

Rationalizing Our Operations — An important part of our strategy is reducing costs and ensuring that our resources are properly
aligned with our strategic direction. Therefore, in 2004 we intend to continue (i) rationalizing production between manufacturing
facilities and realigning Dairy Group delivery routes. (ii) closing facilities with overlapping markets or excess capacity, and

(iii) eliminating duplicative administrative functions.

Investing Our Cash — Our company generales a significant amount of cash flow from operating activities. In addition to investing in
our brands, we intend to invest our capital where we believe returns are greatest, which could include acquisitions in our core lines

of business, repurchases of our stock and/or reductions of indebtedness.

DEVELOPMENTS SINCE JANUARY 1, 2003

Acquisitions and Divestitures — On January 26, 2004, our Dairy Group acquired Ross Swiss Dairies, a dairy distributor based in Los
Angeles, California, which had net sales of approximately $120 million in 2003. As a result of this acquisition, we have increased the
distribution capability of our Dairy Group in southern California, allowing us to betier serve our customers. Ross Swiss Dairies has
historically purchased a significant portion of its products from other processors. We intend to shift the manufacturing of substan-
tially all of Ross Swiss Dairies’ product needs into our southern California plants in 2004. We paid approximately $20 million for the
purchase of Ross Swiss Dairies and funded the purchase price with borrowings under our receivables-backed facility.

On January 2, 2004, we completed the acquisition of the 87% of Horizon Organic Holding Corporation that we did not already
own. Horizon Organic Holding Corporation had sales of approximately $214 million during 2003. We already owned approximately
138% of the outstanding common stock of Horizon Organic Holding Corporation as a result of investments made in 1998. All of
Horizon Organic’s manufacturing has historically been done by third-party co-packers, including us. During 2003, we produced
approximately 27% of Horizon Organic’s fluid dairy products. We intend to increase that percentage over time. We also distribute

Horizon Organic’s products in several parts of the country. Because organic foods are gaining popularity with consumers and
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hecause Horizon Organie’s products offer consumers an atternative to our Dairy Groups traditional dairy products, we believe
Horizon Organic is an important addition to our portlolio of strategic brands. The purchase price for the 879% ol Horizon Organic
that we did nol already own was approximately S216 million. all of which was funded using borrowings under our senior credit
facility and our receivables-hacked facility. We also repaid approximately $40 million of borrowings under Horizon Organics former
credit facilities. Beginning in the first quarter of 2004, Horizon Organics financial results will he reported in our Branded Products
Group segment,

On December 24, 2003, our Specialty Foods Group acquired the “Cremora® ™ branded non-dairy powdered coffee creamer business
from kagle Family Foods. Prior to the acquisition. we had been producing Cremaora creamers for lagle FPamily Foods pursuant 1o a
co-packing arrangement. which generated approximately $8.9 million of net sales for us in 2003, The Cremora brand had sates of
approximately $15.8 million for the 12 months ended June 30, 2003, We purchased the Cremora business for a purchase price of
approximately S12.6 million. all of which was tunded using borrowings under our senior credil facility.

On October 15, 2003, we acquired Kohler Mix Specialties, Ine.owhose product line consists primarily of private label ultra-
pasteurized ice cream mixes, creamers and creams. sold primarity in the foodservice channel. rom the time of the acquisition
through the end of 2003, Kohler was part of our former Morningstar/White Wave segment. Effective January 12004 Kohler hecame
part of our bairy Group. along with all of Morningstar Foods™ other private tabel and manufactaring operations, Rohler had net sates
ol approximately $187.5 million for the 12 months ended August 31, 2003, We paid approximately S1538.6 million for the purchase
ol kehler, all of which was funded using borrowings under our receivables-backed facility,

OnJuly 31,2003, our Morningstar/AVhite Wave segment sold its frozen pre-whipped topping and frozen collee creamer operations
[or cash proceeds of approximately S90 million, all of which was used Lo reduce indebledness. The divested operations were our only
operations with frozen warehouse distribution. and we sold it in order to more closely align our financial and management resources
with our strategic direction and expertise.

O June 9. 2003, our Dairy Group acquired Melody Famns, LLC, a regional dairy processor based in Livonia. Michigan. Melody
Farms had net sales of approximately S1T16 mitlion during the 12 months ended March 31, 2003, We paid approximatels $52.7 million

for Melody Farms, all of which was funded using borrowings wnder our receivables-backed facility.

Plant Closing and Rationalization Activities — As part of our overall integration and cost reduction strategy, we closed or announced the
closure of five Dairy Group Tacilities in 2003 and reduced (or intend to reducey our workforce accordingly. We also restructured cer-

tain administrative functions in the Northeast and Midwest regions of our Dairy Group. in addition to Morningstar Foods.

Branded Product Initiatives — Our nationally hranded products were a significant Tocus for us in 2003, We spent approximalely $188

million marketing and gaining additional distribution for our strategic brands during 2003,

TIPES — In three separale transactions during the second quarter of 2008, we called for redemption all of our trust-issued preferred
securities (CTIPEST). The TIPES were converlible al the option of the holders, at any time, into shares of our common stock and
were redeemabte, at our option, al any time al specified premiums, In response 1o our three announced redemption transaclions.
holders of more than 99% of all outstanding TIPES elected to convert their TIPES into shares of our commmon stock rather than
receive the cash redemption price. Accordingly, during the second quarter of 2003, we issued a total of approximately 23 million
shares of common stock to hotders ol TIPES in licu of cash redemption payvments, and we paid approximalely S2.4 million in cash

to holders who did not elect to convert. There are no remaining TIPES outstanding.

Stock Buyback — During 2003, we spent approximately $185.5 million to repurchase 6.7 million shares of our common stock for
an average purchase price ol $27.82 per share. At March 10, 2004, approximately S11-L6 million remained available under our

current authorization.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Results of Operations
The following table presents certain information concerning our financial results, including information presented as a percentage

of net sales.
Year Ended December 31

2003 2002 2001 :
(Dollars in thousands) Dollars Percent Dollars Percent Dollars Percent i
Net sales $9.184.616 100.0%  $8,991,464 100.0% $5.974,555 100.0%
Cost of sales 6,808,207 74.1 6,642,773 73.9 4,574,258 76.6
Gross profit 2,376,409 25.9 2,348,691 26.1 1,400,297 23.4
‘Operating costs and-cxpenscs:
Selling and distribution 1.345,065 14.6 1,321,763 147 794,937 13.3
General and administrative 317.342 3.5 337,496 3.7 176,642 2.9
Amortization of intangibles 4,949 0.1 7.775 0.1 51,361 0.9
Plant closing and rationalization costs 11,787 0.1 19.050 0.2 9,550 0.2
Other operating (income) expense (68,719) (0.7) (17,306) {0.3)
Total operating costs and expenses 1,610,424 17.8 1.686.084 18.7 1,015,184 17.0
Total operating income $ 765,985 8.3% _ $ 662,607 7.4% $ 385113 6.4%

Year ENDED DecemBER 31, 2003 ComPARED TO YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002 — CONSOLIDATED RESULTS
Net Sales — Consolidated net sales increased approximately 2% to $9.18 billion during 2003 from $8.99 billion in 2002. Net sales by
segment are shown in the table below.

Net Sales

(Dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 $ Increase % Increase
Dairy Group $7,146,028 $7,061,538 $ 84,490 1.2%
Morningstar/White Wave 1,109,499 1,056,751 52,748 5.0
Specialty Foods Group 684,207 673,604 10,603 1.6
Corporate/Other 244,882 199,571 45,311 22.7

Total 39,184,616 $8,991,464 $193.152 2.1%

The change in net sales was due to the following:

Change in Net Sales 2003 vs, 2002
Divestitures and Pricing, Volume
Discontinued Foreign and Product Total

(Dotlars in thousands) Acquisitions Product Lines Exchange Mix Changes Increase
Dairy Group $ 82,209 $ 2,191 $ 84,490
Morningstar/White Wave 96,092 (114,463) 71,121 52,748
Specialty Foods Group (13,668) 24,271 10,603
Corporate/Other 40,304 5.007 45,311

Total $178,391 $(128,133) $40,304 $102,590 $193,152

See “~ Results by Segment” for more information.

Cost of Sales — All expenses incurred to bring a product to completion are included in cost of sales, such as raw material, ingredient
and packaging costs; labor costs; plant and equipment costs, including costs to operate and maintain our coolers and freezers; costs
associated with transporting our finished products from our manufacturing facilities to our own distribution facilities; and the cost of
shipping preducts to customers through third-party carriers. Our cost of sales ratio was 74.1% in 2003 compared to 73.9% in 2002.
Increased raw material costs affected all of our segments in 2003. Also, the Morningstar/White Wave segment incurred higher costs
due to certain manufacturing inefficiencies related to the introduction of new products and new technologies, and the realignment of
certain manufacturing operations. See “— Results by Segment.”
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Operating Costs and Expenses — Our operaling expense ratio was 17.6% in 2008 compared Lo 18.7% during 2002, This decrease was
mosty due to (1) a gain of 566.2 mitlion on the sale of Morningstar/White Wave's frozen pre-whipped topping and frozen cotfee
creamer operations in the third quarter ol 2003, (i) a gain of S2.5 million related to the divestiture of 1T plants in 2001 which wus
recorded at corporate as a result of certain contingencies heing tavorably resolved during 2003, and (iit) lower plant closing and
other rationalization costs ol STLE million in 2003 campared to $19.1 million in 2002, primarily dae to ditterences in the natuee of
the restructuring activities and to the timing of recognition of certain charges as a result of our adoption of SFAS No. 146,

“Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities.” in January 2003,

Operating Income — Operating income during 2003 was $766 million. an increase of $103.4 million from 2002 operating income of
S662.6 million. Our operating margin in 2003 was 8.3% compared to 7.4% in 2002, Excluding the gain of $68.7 million related to

divestitures, our operating margin in 2003 would have been 7.6% compared to 7.4% in 2002,

Other (Income) Expense — 'lotal other expense decreased by S49.4 million in 2003 compared 1o 2002 Interest expense decreased o
F18T. 1 million in 2003 from $197.7 million in 2002, This decrease was the resull of lower interest rales and lower average debl
balances in 2003, Finameing charges on preferred securities were S14.2 million in 2003 versus $33.6 million in 2002 due to the
successful retirement of these securities during the second quarter of 2003, See Note 10 1o our Consolidated Financial Statements,

Income from investments in unconsolidated alfiliates was $0.2 million in 2003 compared to a loss of $7.9 million in 2002, Income
in 2003 related W our approximately 13% interest in Horizon Organic Holding Corporation. In 2002 we recorded income of 2.4
million which was primarily related o our 36% interest in White Wave through Mayv 9. 2002, when we acquired the remaining equily
interest in White Wave and began consolidating White Waves resulls with our financial results. This income was oftset in 2002 by a
$ 10 million loss on our minority interest in Gonsolidated Container Company, See "= Year Ended December 31, 2002 Compared to

Year Ended December 3120017

Income Taxes — Income lax expense was recorded at an effective rate of 38% in 2003 compared to 36.4% in 2002, In 2002 we
recorded the favorable settlement ol a contested Lax issue. Qur Lax rale varies as the mix of carnings contributed by our various

husiness units changes. and as tax savings initialives are adopted,

YeAR ENDED DEcCeEMBER 31, 2003 CoMPARED TO YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002 — RESULTS BY SEGMENT
As noled above, we had three reportable segments in 2003: the Dairy Group. Morningstar/White and the Specialty Foods Group. Our
new segment reporting structure Will begin with the first quarter of 2004,

The key performance indicators of our segmenls are sales. gross profit and operating income.

Dairy Group —
Year Ended December 31

2003 2002
(Dollars in thousands) Dollars Percent Dollars Percent
et sales F7.146.028 100.0% $T.061.538 OO
Cost ol sales 5,295,482 741 5,249 730 74.3
Gross profit 1.850.546 254 1.811.808 200
Operaling costs and expenses 1.241.930 17.4 1.290.873 18.3
Total operating income S 608,616 §.5'% S 5200930 7.4
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The Dairy Group’s net sales increased by approximately $84.5 million, or 1.2%, in 2003 versus 2002. The change in net sales
from 2002 to 2003 was due to the following:

{Dollars in millions) Doliars Percent
2002 Net sales $7.061.5
Acquisitions 82.3 1.2%
Volume (127.1) (1.8)
Pricing and product mix 129.3 1.8
2003 Net sales $7,146.0 1.2%

The Dairy Group acquired Melody Farms, LLC in June 2003. Melody Farms had annual revenues of approximately $116 million in
the 12 month period ended March 31, 2003. The Dairy Group also made a number of small acquisitions in 2003. See Note 2 to our
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Volume change for all products, net of the effect of acquisitions, was a decline of 1.8% in 2003 compared to 2002. That volume
change was driven primarily by the fluid dairy category (which represented 73% of the Dairy Group's 2003 sales) and the ice cream
category (which represented 12% of the Dairy Group's 2003 sales). Equivalent gallons of fluid dairy products sold (including milk,
cream and ice cream mix) decreased by 1.1% in 2003. We believe the decrease is due primarily to continued declining consumption
of traditional fluid dairy products in some parts of the country. Ice cream and ice cream novelty volumes declined by approximately
7% in 2003 compared to 2002, primarily because we sell our ice cream under private labels and local brands, and we believe we
lost sales during the year to nationally branded products which were promoted more aggressively than our products.

In general, we change the prices that we charge our customers for fluid dairy products on a monthly basis, as the costs of our raw
materials fluctuate. The increase in sales due 1o price and product mix shown in the above table primarily resulis from higher raw milk
costs in 2003 than in 2002. These price increases due to increases in the cost of raw milk were offset somewhat by price concessions
that were granted in some markets in 2003 due to the competitive environment. The following table sets forth the average monthly
Class I “mover” and average monthly Class If minimum prices for raw skim milk and butterfat for 2003 compared to 2002:

Year Ended December 31*

2003 2002 % Change
Class I raw skim milk mover® $7.47M $7.01 7%
Class I butterfat movert® 1.19@ 1.21@ (2)
Class Il raw skim milk minimum®) 6.74M 7.62M (12)
Class II butterfat minimum® 1.2202 1.20@ 2

* The prices noted in this table are not the prices that we actually pay. The federal order minimum prices at any given Jocation for Class | raw skim milk or Class | butterfat are
based on the Class ! mover prices plus a location diflerential. Class {l prices noted in the table are federal minimum prices. applicable at all locations. Our actual cost also
includes producer premiums, procurement costs and other related charges that vary by location and vendor. Please see “Part I - Item 1. Business - Government Regulation -
Milk Indastry Regulation,” and “~ Known Trends and Uncertainties — Prices of Raw Milk and Cream” for a more complete description of raw milk pricing.

(1) Prices are per hundredweight.
(2) Prices are per pound.
{3) We process Class | raw skim milk and butterfat into fluid milk products.

{4) We process Class Il raw skim milk and butterfat into products such as cottage cheese, creams and creamers. ice cream and sour cream.

The Dairy Group's cost of sales ratio improved slightly in 2003 compared to 2002. Prices of raw milk were significantly lower in
the first 8 months of 2003 than in 2002. Increased raw milk prices in the last 4 months of the year did not fully offset the effects of
lower raw milk prices in the first 8 months of the year.

The Dairy Group’s operating expense ratio decreased from 18.3% in 2002 to 17.4% in 2003. Part of the improvement in the Dairy
Group’s operating expense ratio in 2003 was due to the effects of increased raw milk costs. Higher raw milk costs generally increase

sales dollars because we increase the prices that we charge for fluid dairy products on a monthly basis in accordance with fluctuations
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in the price of raw milk. Therefore. increased raw milk costs will generally decrease the Dairy Groups operating expense ratio and
decreased raw milk costs will generally increase the Dairy Groups operating expense ratio. The decrease in the Dairy Groups operating
expense ratio was also alfected by lower insurance, advertising, bad debl and boitus expenses in 2003, [nsurance costs (including the
costs of self-insurance) declined approximately $13.0 million in 2003 as a resull of better claims experience. Advertising expenses
decreased approximately S 2.8 willion in 2003 partially because we reduced planned advertising spending in 2003 in anlicipation of
the difficutt raw milk environment and also because advertising expense in 2002 was higher than normal because we incurred unusual
advertising costs in order to (1) promote our brands in certain parts of the country following our acquisition of Legacy Dean. and (2)
promote two local Dairy Group brands affected by product recalls in 2002, Bad debt expense declined approximately SH1L2 mitlion
compared 1o 2002, 1n 2002, some of our customers experienced economic difficulty and a few large customers sought bankruptey
protection. Bonus expenses were 96,4 mitlion lower in 2003 than in 2002 as a result of our actual performance compared to bonus

tarects. Finally. the ratio was helped in 2003 by 54.3 million in Tower plant closing and rationalization cosls,

Morningstar/White Wave —
Year Ended December 31

2003 2002
(Dollars in thousands) Dollars Percent Dollars Percent
el =ales S1T.109.499 100.0% SEOMG.751 100,08
Cost ool sales 794.095 716 720,075 [N
Gross profit D504 284 336,676 31.9
Operating costs and expenses 196,807 17.7 225,008 213
Total operating income 3 LIR.5YT 10.79% $ 1668 106"

Morgingstar/White Waves net sales increased by 85327 million, or 3%, in 2003 versus 2002 The change in net sales in 2002

compared Lo 2003 was due to the following:

(Dollars in millions) Dollars Percent
2002 Net sales 100568
Acquisitions 96.1 G410
Divestitures/discomtinued produoet Hines [RRE R {10.8)
Volume 87.7 8.3
I'ricing and product mis (16.6) (1.6)
20003 Net sales $1.109.5 5.0V

On October 15, 2003 our Morningstar/AVhite Wave scagment acquired kohler Mix Specialties. Inc.. which had sales of approximately
S187.5 million during the 12 month period ended August 31, 2003, We acquired the 649% of While Wave that we did not already own
in VMayv 2002, Therefore, 2003 includes 12 months of White Wave =ales compared Lo only 8 months in 2002,

I an ettort to better align our resources with our strategic direction, Morningstar/White Wave sold ils frozen pre-whipped topping
and frozen coflee creamer operations in July 2003, \lko. as a result ol our aequisition of Legacy Dean in December 20010, we
decided 1o discontinue certain of Mormingstar/Ahite Wave's product lines that were competitive with other products sofd by
Morningstar/AWhite Wave. Accordingly, beginning in January 2002, we began an ovderly oxil from the Lactaid®. Nestle™ Nesquik®
and Nestie™ Colfeemate” co-packing businesses so that we could focus our management and financial resources on our Léand
O'Lakes Dairy Ease and International Detight brands. Our transition out ol the Lactaid co-packing business was compleled in
February 2002 and our transition oul ol the Nestle co-packing business was completed in February 2003,

L uit volumes for Morningstar/White Wave increased 8.8% overall in 2003 (net of the effects ol acquisitions, divestitures and
discontinued product lines) due to the success of our strategic brands, particularty Sifk. Strategic brand volumes increased 45% in

20038 versus 2002, 0n a pro forma basis as it White Wave had been acquired on January 1, 2002 (instead of May 9. 2002), strategic
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brand volumes increased 27% in 2003. Partly offsetting this increase was a 5% volume decline in Morningstar's private label
business due primarily to cannibalization of Morningstar/White Wave's private label creamer sales by sales of Land O’Lakes creamers
(which are included in our strategic brands), and a 9.6% volume decline in Morningstar/White Wave's non-strategic brand sales due
primarily to the fact that our sales and marketing resources were focused on our strategic brands.

Morningstar/White Wave invested approximately $188 million marketing our strategic brands in 2003, and successfully penetrated
new channels such as club stores and foodservice. Approximately $91 million of that amount was spent on slotting fees, couponing
and certain other promotional costs, which were recorded as reductions of revenue.

The doltar change in sales of our strategic brands did not increase as much as volume sales primarily because in the first half of
2003, Morningstar Foods/White. Wave. introduced new plastic. packaging for International Delight and in order to clear shelf space for
International Delight in the new plastic packaging, Morningstar/White Wave substantially reduced the price of International Délight in
paper cartons. Also, promotional spending that was recorded as a reduction of revenue increased by $10 million in 2003 versus 2002.

The cost of sales ratio for Morningstar/White Wave increased in 2003 compared to 2002 primarily due to the impact of (1) short-term
manufacturing inefficiencies related to the introduction of new products and new technologies, (2) short-term manufacturing inefficiencies
due to certain manufacturing realignments related to the shifting of Morningstar’s manufacturing operations to the Dairy Group, (3) an
additional $15 million of packaging costs due to the introduction of International Delight in plastic packaging, and (4) increased depreciation
on our new long shelf-life manufacturing equipment. These increases were partly offset by decreased Class 11 raw milK prices.

The operating expense ratio at Morningstar/White Wave decreased due to a gain of $66.2 million on the sale of our frozen pre-
whipped topping and frozen coffee creamer operations in the third quarter of 2003. Excluding the impact of the $66.2 million gain,
Morningstar/White Wave's operating expense ratio was 23.7% during 2003 compared to 21.3% during 2002. This increase was
primarily due to $36 million of higher marketing expenses in 2003 related to the introduction of new products and higher promotional
spending on strategic brands. The ratio was also significantly impacted by the addition of White Wave in May 2002, which accrued
almost $10 million more in 2003 than in 2002 for bonuses to be paid in March 2004 under the White Wave Performance Bonus
Plan that was established when we acquired White Wave in May 2002. See Note 18 to our Consolidated Financial Statements. Partly

offsetting these items was a $3 million decrease in plant closing and rationalization costs.

Specialty Foods Group —
Year Ended December 31

2003 2002
{Dollars in thousands) Dollars Percent Dollars Percent
Net sales $684,207 100.0% $673,604 100.0%
Cost of sales 513,188 75.0 498,085 73.9
Gross profit 171,019 25.0 175,519 26.1
Operating cosis and expenses 67,963 9.9 76.645 11.4
Total operating income $103.056 15.1% $ 98,874 14.7%

The Specialty Foods Group’s net sales increased by $10.6 million, or 1.6%, in 2003 versus 2002. The change in net sales from
2002 to 2003 was due to the following:

(Dollars in millions) Dollars Percentage
2002 Net sales $673.6
Divestitures (13.7) (2.0)%
Volume 156.9 24
Pricing and product mix 8.4 1.2
2003 Net sales $684.2 1.6%
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The Specialty Foods Group sold EBI Foods. Lid. in October 2002, See Nole 2 o our Consolidated Financial Statements. Net of the
clfects of this divestiture. the specially Foods Group's pickle volumes declined 1.6% in 2003 compared to 2002 due to the bankruptey
ol a large customer, and Lo the overall effects of cconomic difficulties in the foodservice sector a8 a whole, Approximately 289% of the
Specialty Foods Group's sales were to foodservice customers in 2003, This decrease was more than offsel by a 12.8% increase in unit
volumes of powdered colfee creamers as a resutt of new business and a 15.2% increase inounit volumes o nutritional beverages due
to increased demand.

Pricing was up in all categories primarily due to increased raw material cosls that were passed on to customers in the form ol higher
selling prices. Also. promotional spending that is recorded as a reduction of revenue was down by $15.3 million in 2003 compared 1o 2002,
The Specialty Foods Groups cost of sales ralio increased in 2003 as a result of higher raw material prices, especially glass, and

increases in natural gas prices. The specially Foods Group uses a significant amount of natural gas in its operations.

The operating expense ratio lor the Specially Foods Group declined in 2003 compared to 2002 primarily due to the sate ol EBI
Foods, Lid. in October 2002, which had higher operating expenses, and (o lower bonus expense. Bonus expenses were $1.3 million

less in 2008 as o resull of our actual performance compared Lo bonus targets.

Year ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002 CoMPARED TO YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001 — CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

Important Note: We cornpleted our aequisition of the former Dean Foods Company ("Legacy Dean”™) on December 21 200000 As a result, [ull vear comparisons
between 2002 and 2001 are less meaninglul than they would he otherwise. We obtained our Specialty Foods Group segmeni as parl of our acquisition of
Legacy Dean. Therelore, excepl for sales. no prior sedar comparisons are provided because the Specialiv Foods Group segment was only owned for a few davs
in 2001, More complete segment data can be found in Note 20 (o our Consolidated Financial Statements. Aso. effective January 12002, we adopted SEAS No.
{42, "Goodwilt and Other Intangible Assets.” which eliminates the amortization of coodwill and cortain other intangible assets. As a resull of the adoption of
SEAS Noo 142 comparisons between 2002 and 2000 are less meaninglul than they would be otherswise. Where appropriaie, we funve provided comparisons
climinating the amortization of goodwill and intangible assels with indefinite useful lives in 2000, See Notes | and 6 1o our Consolidated Financial Statements

for more information reganrding SEAS No, 142,

Net Sales — Consolidated net sales increased 50.59% to $8.99 billion during 2002 from $5.97 billion in 2001, Net sates by segment

are shown in the table below.

Net Sales
(Dotllars in thousands) 2002 2001 S Increase % Increase
Dairy Group S7.061.548 $3.042.836 $2.018.702 0.0,
Morningstar/AWhite Wave 136,751 741,992 314759 424
specialty Foods Group 673.604 18.709 654595 3.500.4
Corporate/Other 199.571 171018 28 553 16.7
Total 58.991.464 $5.474.535 $.3.016.909 S0.5%

The change in net sales was due 1o the following:
Change in Net Sales 2002 vs. 2001

Divestitures and Pricing, Volume
Discontinued Foreign and Product Total

(Dolltars in thousands) Acquisitions Product Lines Exchange Mix Changes Increase
Dairy Group S2.894. 1606 $(H07.903) S(367.561) S2.018.702
Morningstar/White Wave 399,754 (144,884 59.880 314759
Specialty Foods Group 65-4.895 64895
Carporate/Other 39464 19.084 28.503

Total $3.948.815 S5(652.787) 59,469 S(288.588) 330146904

Cost of Sales — Our cosl of sales ratio was 73.9% in 2002 compared to 76.6% in 2001, This decrease was due primarily to lower raw

material costs. See "= Resulls by Segment.”
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Operating Costs and Expenses — OQur operating expense ratio was 18.7% in 2002 compared to 17% during 2001. Comparability of
these ratios is significantly affected by our adoption of SFAS No. 142 on January 1, 2002. Excluding $48.4 million of amortization in
2001, our operating expense ratio would have been 16.2% in 2001, compared to 18.8% in 2002. This increase is primarily due to
the effects of lower raw material prices in 2002, increased promotional spending on our strategic brands in 2002 and accrued
bonuses under White Wave's Performance Bonus Plan established in May 2002. See “- Results by Segment.”

Operating Income — Operating income during 2002 was $662.6 million, an increase of $277.5 million from 2001 operating income of
$385.1 million. Our operating margin in 2002 was 7.4% compared to 6.4% in 2001. Excluding 2001 amortization that would have been
eliminated had SFAS No. 142 been in effect last year, our operating income would have increased by $229.1 million in 2002 as com-
pared to 2001 and our operating margin would have been 7.4% in 2002 as compared to 7.3% in 2001. See “~ Results by Segment.”

Other (Income) Expense — Total other expense increased by $76 million in 2002 compared to 2001. Interest expense increased to
$197.7 million in 2002 from $103.8 million in 2001 as a result of higher debt used to finance the acquisitions of Legacy Dean and
White Wave. 2001 interest expense included a $7.3 million loss related to the early extinguishment of debt. Financing charges on
preferred securities were $33.6 million in both years.

Income from investments in unconsolidated affiliates was a net loss of $7.9 million in 2002 compared to a net loss of $23.6 million
in 2001. We recorded income of $2.1 million in 2002, which was primarily related to our 36% interest in White Wave through May 9,
2002, when we acquired the remaining equity interest in White Wave and began consolidating White Wave's results with our financial
results. This income was offset by a $10 million loss on our minority interest in Consolidated Container Company (“CCC”). During
the fourth quarter of 2002, we agreed to make a $10 million loan to CCC in exchange for the cancellation of our pre-existing $10
million guaranty of CCC’s indebtedness and additional equity interests in CCC. The additional infusion of cash to CCC required us to
record our share of CCC’s 2002 losses, up to $10 million. This transaction also resulted in our ownership percentage declining to
approximately 40% from 43%. See Note 3 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for more information about this transaction.
Our loss from unconsolidated affiliates in 2001 related primarily to our investment in CCC. In the fourth quarter of 2001, we concluded
that our investment in CCC was impaired and that the impairment was not temporary, and as a result we wrote off our remaining

investment in CCC.

Income Taxes — Income tax expense was recorded at an effective rate of 36.4% in 2002 compared to 36.7% in 2001. In 2002 and
2001, contested income tax issues were resolved in our favor. OQur tax rate varies as the mix of earnings contributed by our various

business units changes, and as tax savings initiatives are adopted.

Minority Interest — Minority interest in earnings decreased significantly to $46 thousand in 2002 from $31.4 million in 2001. For
most of 2002, management of EBI Foods Ltd., a subsidiary of our Specialty Foods segment, owned a small minority interest in that
subsidiary. We sold our interest in EBI Foods Ltd. in October 2002. In 2001, Dairy Farmers of America owned a 33.8% minority
interest in our Dairy Group. On December 21, 2001, in connection with our acquisition of Legacy Dean, we purchased the 33.8%

stake that was owned by Dairy Farmers of America. See Note 2 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Discontinued Operations — On December 30, 2002, we sold our operations in Puerto Rico resulting in a loss on sale from discontinued
operations of $8.2 million, including income tax expense. We also recorded income from discontinued operations of $0.9 million during
2002 versus $3.6 million in 2001. All amounts attributable to our former Puerto Rico operations, for all periods, have been

reclassified to “Income from discontinued operations.”
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Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change — \s part of our adoption of SFAS No. 142 on January t. 2002 we wrole down the value ol cer-
tain trademarks and the goodwill related Lo our Puerlo Rico operations which our analvsis indicated were impaired. Our adoption of
this accounting standard resulted in the recognition of $83 million, net of an income tax benefit of $29 million. as a charge Lo carn-
ings. During 2001, we recorded a charge of $1.4 mitlion. net of an income tax benefit of $1.5 million and o minority interest benelil

of 807 million related 1o our adoption of SEAS No. 133, "Accounting for Devivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.”

YearR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002 CoMPARED TO YEAR ENDED DeECEMBER 31, 2001 - RESULTS BY SEGMENT
Dairy Group —
Year Ended December 31

2002 2001
(Dollars in thousands) Dollars Percent Dollars Percent
Netsales S7.061.338 1 00).0% 55.0-42.836 100.0%,
GCostoof sales 5.249.730 4.3 3.896.136 770
Gross profit 1.811.808 250.7 I 146,700 227
Operating costs and expenses 1.290 873 18.3 822 945 16,3
Total aperating income S 520,935 74 S 323755 6 4%

The Dairy Groups netl sales increased by approximately $2 billion, or 40%. in 2002 versus 2001 The change in net sates from 200

lo 2002 was due to the tollowing:

(Dollars in millions) Dollars Percent
2001 Net sales 55,0428
\cquisitions 2.894.2 574
Divestitures (5079} (10.1)
Pricing. volume and product mix (367.6}) (7.3)
2002 Nel sales 57.061.5 40.0%)

We completed the acquisition of Legacy Dean on December 21, 2001, and Legacy Dean's dairy operations were merged into our
Dairy Group. The acquisition of Legacy Dean's dairy operations (net of the ptants divested as part of the transaction) contributed a
nel increase in sales of approximately $2.4 hiltion.

The Dairy Group's 2002 sales were negatively affected by certain volume decreases. On a pro forma basis ax il Legacy Dean had
heen acquired on January 1, 2001 (net of the plants divested as part of the transaction). the Dairy Groups fluid milk volumes during
2002 would have been relatively flat compared to 2001, while ice cream and ice eream novelty volumes were down 4.5%. Our ice
cream is sold under private labels and local brands, and we lost sales during the vear 1o nationally branded products. which are

usually promoted more aggressively than our products.
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Prices were down in 2002 versus 2001 because the price of raw milk was down considerably. In general, we change the prices
that we charge our customers for our fluid dairy products on a monthly basis, as the costs of our raw materials fluctuate. The
following table sets forth the average monthly Class I “mover” and average monthly Class Il minimum prices for raw skim milk and

butterfat for 2002 compared to 2001:
Year Ended December 31*

2002 2001 % Change
Class I raw skim milk movert $7.01¢ $7.93m (12)%
Class I butterfat mover® 1.21@ 1.89@ (36)
Class 11 raw skim milk minimum® 7.62 8.33m (9)
Class 11 butterfat minimum® 1.20@ 1.86@ (35)

* The prices noted in this table are not the prices that we actually pay. The federal order minimum prices at any given location for Class 1 raw skim milk or Class I butterfat are
based on the Class I mover prices plus a location differential. Class Il prices noted in the table are federal minimum prices, applicable at all locations. Qur actual cost also
includes producer premiums, procurement costs and related charges that vary by location and vendor. Please see “Part [ - [tem 1. Business — Government Regulation — Milk
Industry Regulation,” and “- Known Trends and Uncertainties — Prices of Raw Milk and Cream” for a more complete description of raw milk pricing.

(1) Prices are per hundredweight.
(2) Prices are per pound.
(3) We process Class | raw skim milk and butterfat into fluid milk products.

(4) We process Class IF raw skim milk and butterfat into products such as collage cheese, creams, ice cream and sour cream.

The Dairy Group’s cost of sales ratio improved in 2002 compared to 2001 primarily due to lower raw milk costs.

The operating expense ratio at the Dairy Group was 18.3% in 2002 compared to 16.3% in 2001. Excluding approximately $39.4
million of amortization in 2001, the Dairy Group's operating expense ratio would have been 15.5% in 2001, compared to 18.3% in
2002. The increase in the 2002 operating expense ratio was primarily due to the effect of lower raw milk prices in 2002 and to the
impact of a gain of $47.5 million in 2001 related to the divestiture of 11 plants in connection with the acquisition of Legacy Dean.
Lower raw milk prices generally result in lower sales dollars because we decrease the prices of our fluid dairy products on a monthly
basis in accordance with fluctuations in the price of raw milk. Therefore, falling raw milk prices will generally increase the Dairy
Group's operating expense ratio and rising raw milk prices will generally reduce the Dairy Group's operating expense ratio. In addition
to the effects of lower raw milk costs and the $47.5 million gain, the ratio was also affected by increased advertising, bad debt and
bonus expenses in 2002 compared to 2001. We incurred unusual advertising costs in 2002 in an effort to promote our brands in
certain parts of the country folowing our acquisition of Legacy Dean. Bad debt expense was affected in 2002 by the financial
difficulties of several of our customers, and bonus expense was affected in 2002 because our performance was better than bonus

targets for the year causing increased bonus expense.

Morningstar/White Wave —
Year Ended December 31

2002 2001
(Dollars in thousands) Dollars Percent Dollars Percent
Net sales $1,056.751 100.0% $741,992 100.0%
Cost of sales 720,075 68.1 518.367 69.9
Gross profit 336,676 31.9 223,625 30.1
Operating costs and expenses 225,008 21.3 119,331 16.1
Totat operating income $ 111668 10.6% $104,294 14.0%
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Morningstar/Ahite Wave's sales incrcased by $315 mitlion. or approximately 42 4% in 2002 versus 2001, The change in

Morningstar/White Waves net sales from 2001 1o 2002 was due Lo the fotlowing:

(Dollars in millions) Dollars Percent
2001 Nel sales S 742.0
\equisitions 3998 RRRSE
Divestitures and discontinued product lines {1449 {(11).3)
Pricing, volume and product mix 5949 (4.0
2002 Net sales $1.056.8 42 4%

We completed the acquisition of Legacy Dean on December 21, 2001, and Legaey Dean’s Nalional Refrigerated Products operations
were merged into our Morningstar/White Wave segment. The National Refrigerated Products Group had net sales of approximatels
$371.7 million in the 12 months ended May 27, 2001, on May 9. 2002 we acquired the 64% equily interest in White Wave, Inc. that
we did not already own, White Wave had net sales of $125 million in the 12 months ended March 31, 2002, On Min 17, 2002, we
hought the assels of Maries Quality Foods, Maries Dressings. Ine. and Marie's Associates, makers ol Maries hrand dips and dressings
in the western United States. with net sales of $15.7 million in the 12 months ended March 31, 2002,

We estimale that the acquisition of Legacy Dean added approximately 82735 million of sales at our Morningstar/White Wave segmenl
during 2002, Precise measurement of the impact of the acquisition of Legacy Dean on Morningstar/White Waves sales is not possible
hecause Legacy Deans National Refrigerated Products segment was gquickly integrated into Viorningstar Foods and is not accounted
lor separately. The acquisition of White Wave contributed approximately 51138 million during 2002, while the Maries business
contributed approximately $ 10 million.

In January 2002, Morningstar/AWhite Wave began an orderly exit from certain product lines including the Laciaid. Nestle Nesquik
and Nestle Colteemate co-packing businesses. See "= Year Ended December 31, 2003 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2002
— Results by Segment = Morningstar/\White Wave.”

Tolal unit volume comparisons from 2001 to 2002 are not meaninglul because it is nol possible 1o isolate the volume impact of
acquisitions since we did not account for the volume acquired from Legacy Dean separately in 2002, However, we do believe thal
the 859.9 million increase in sales due to pricing, revenue and product mix changes shown in the table above was due primarily 1o
increased sales of our strategic brands.

These increases were partiatly offset by (1) the effects of significantly lower raw milk and bulk cream costs in 2002 that were
passed along Lo customers in the form of lower selling prices, and (i) approximately $8 1 million of promotional spending in 2002
that was recorded as a reduction of revenue. compared to approximately S33.7 mitlion in 2001,

The cost of sales ratio for Morningstar/White Wave improved in 2002 compared to 2001 due primarily 1o lower Class Horaw milk
and bullerfal costs.

The operating expense ratio at Morningstar/White Wave was 21.3% during 2002 compared to 16, 1% in 2001, Excluding
approximately $7.2 million of amortization in 2001, the operating expense ratio woutld have been 15 0 in 2001 compared Lo
21.3% in 2002, This increase was caused primarily by higher promotional expenses related Lo the introduction of new products. and
the acquisition of White Wave, Morningstar/White Wave spenl approximately $127 million promoling onr strategic hrands in 2002, of
which $46 miltion was included in 2002 operating expenses. Only $1ES million of promotional expenses were included in operating
expenses in 20010, The ratio was also affected by S1T1L7 million in management bonus acceruals in 2002 for White Wave management
under the Perlformance Bonus Plan that was established when we bought White Wave in May 2002, Also, plant closing costs were

S4.9 miltion higher in 2002, Scee Note 15 1o our Consolidated Financial Statements,
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Liquidity and Cspital Reseurces

HistoricaL CasH FLow

During 2003, we met our working capital needs with cash flow from operations. Net cash provided by operating activities from

continuing operations was $522.3 million for 2003 as contrasted to $642.6 million for 2002, a decrease of $120.3 million. Net

cash provided by operating activities was impacted by:

® An increase of $91.5 million in net income from continuing operations plus non-cash items in 2003 as compared to 2002 primarily
due to the increase in deferred income taxes; and

= Changes in assets and liabilities which declined by $211.9 million in 2003 compared to the previous year, primarily due to an

increase in accounts receivable and inventory as a result of higher raw material prices in the fourth quarter of 2003.

Net cash used in investing activities for continuing operations was $436.2 million in 2003 compared to $309.1 million in 2002, '
an increase of $127.1 million. We used approximately $291.7 million for capital expenditures and approximately $246.6 million for
acquisitions. We had cash proceeds from the sale of the frozen pre-whipped topping and frozen creamer operations and one other
small business of $90 million in 2003. In 2002, we had cash proceeds from the divestiture of Puerto Rico and three other small
businesses of $148.3 million.

We used approximately $199.5 million to repurchase our stock during 2003, including $14 million paid in 2003 for prior year
repurchases. Set forth in the chart below is a summary of the stock we repurchased in 2003:

No. of Shares of Average

Common Stock Aggregate Purchase i
Period Repurchased Purchase Price Price Per Share 1
(Dollars in millions) ‘
January 2003 4,854,900 $128.5 $26.48 !
August 2003 360,000 9.9 27.52
November 2003 992.400 31.9 32.08 !
December 2003 461,000 15.2 33.01

We received approximately $95.3 million in 2003 as a result of stock option exercises and employee stock purchases through our |
employee stock purchase plan.
We received a net amount of $27 million in 2003 from borrowings in 2003.

CURRENT DEBT OBLIGATIONS
Our senior credit facility provides us with a revolving line of credit of up to $1 billion, a Tranche A term loan in the amount of

$1 billion and a Tranche B term loan in the amount of $750 million.

Amounts outstanding under the revolver and the Tranche A term loan bear interest at a rate per annum equal to one of the

following rates, at our option:

» a base rate equal to the higher of the Federal Funds rate plus 50 basis points or the prime rate, plus a margin that varies from 0 ‘
to 75 basis points, depending on our leverage ratio (which is computed as the ratio of indebtedness to EBITDA, as such terms are
defined in the credit agreement), or "

n the London Interbank Offering Rate (“LIBOR") divided by the product of one minus the Eurodollar Reserve Percentage, plus a
margin that varies from 125 to 200 basis points, depending on our leverage ratio (as defined in the credit agreement).

EBITDA is defined in the credit agreement for any period as, the sum of (i) net income (excluding extraordinary items) after taxes

for such period as determined in accordance with GAAP, plus (ii) an amount which, in the determination of such net income, has

been deducted for (a) all interest expense, including the interest component under capital leagses and the implied interest component
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under our receivables-backed facilities. plus net amounts payable (or minus net amounts receivable) under hedging agreements.,
minus interest income for such period. in cach case as determined in accordance with generally accepled accounting principles
("GAAPT). (b) total federal, state, local and forcign income. value added and similar taxes, (¢) depreciation. amortization expense
and other noncash charges, (d) pro forma cost savings add-backs resulting from non-recurrving charges retated Lo acquisitions (o the
extent permilted under the credit agreement and under Regulation S-X of the Securities Fxchange Act of 1934 or as approved by the
representative of the lenders and (¢) other adjustments reasonably acceptable to the representative of the lenders,
Borrowings imder the Tranche B term loan bear interest at a rale per annum equal 1o one of the following rales. al our oplion:
& a base rate cqual to the higher of the Federal Funds rate plus 50 basis points or the prime rate, plus a margin of 75 basis points.
or

a [LIBOR divided by the product of one minus the Eurodollar Reserve Percentage, plus a margin of 200 basis points.

The btended interest rate in effeet on horrowings under the senior credit facility, including the applicable interest rate margin, was
3.05% at December 31,2003, However, we had interest rale swap agreements in place that hedeed $1.13 billion of our borrowings
under this facility at an average rate ol 4.32%. plus the applicable interest rate margin. Interest is pavable quarterly or at the end of
Lhe applicable interest period.

Irincipal pavments are required on the Tranche A term loan as follows:
= $37.5 million quarterly beginning on September 30, 2003 through December 31, 2004
& $43.75 million quarterhv on March 31, 2005 through December 31, 2005:
= $50 million quarterly on March 31, 2006 through December 31, 2008;
$62.5 million quarterly on March 31. 2007 and June 30, 2007: and

= A final pavment of $275 million on July 15, 2007,

Principal payments are reqguired on the 'Tranche B term loan as follows:
@ $1.875 million quarterly heginning on September 30, 2003 through December 31, 2007: and

& $338. 1 million on cach of March 31, 2008 and July 15. 2008.

No principal payments are due on the $1 billion line of credit until maturity on July 15, 2007.

Our credil agreement also requires mandatory principal prepaviments upon the occurrence of certain assel dispositions not in the
ordinary course of husiness.

In consideration of the revolving commitment. we pay a quarlterly commitment fee on unused amounts of the $1 billion revolving
credil facility that ranges from 25 1o 37.5 basis points. depending on our leverage ratio (as defined in the credit agreement).

The senior eredit facility contains various financial and othier restrictive covenants and requires that we maintain certain financial
atios, including a leverage ratio (computed as the ratio of the ageregate outstanding principal amount of indebtedness to EBITDA,
as such terms are deflined in the credit agreement) and an interest coverage ratio (computed as the ratio of EBITDA to inlerest
expense, as such terms are delined in the credit agreement). In addition. this facility requires that we maintain a minimum level of
nel worth (as defined in the credit agreement).

[For the period from December 31, 2003 through March 31, 2005, our leverage ratio must be less than or equal Lo 4 to 1.
Beginning Aprit 1. 20005, our leverage ratio. calculated according to the definitions contained in the credit agreement. musl be less
than or cqual to 3.75 to 1. As of December 31, 2003, our leverage ratio, caleulated according 1o the deflinitions contained in the

credit agreement. was 3016 to 1.
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EBITDA, as used in our credit agreement, is not intended to represent cash flow from operations as defined by GAAP and principles
and should not be used as an alternative to net income as an indicator of our operating performance or to cash flow as a measure of
our liquidity. Moreover, EBITDA is a term used by many companies to mean many different things. Therefore, neither our EBITDA
nor our leverage ratio, calculated under our credit agreement, should be compared to any other company’s EBITDA or leverage ratio.
We present our leverage ratio in this discussion not as a measure of our liquidity or performance hut only to demonstrate our level
of compliance with our credit agreement.

Our interest coverage ratio must be greater than or equal to 3 1o 1. As of December 31, 2003, our interest coverage ratio, calculated
according to the definitions contained in the credit agreement, was 5.24 to 1.

Our consolidated net worth must be greater than or equal to $1.75 billion, as increased each quarter (beginning with the quarter
ended December 31, 2003) by an amount equal to 50% of our consolidated net income for the quarter, plus 50% of the amount by
which stockholders’ equity is increased by certain equity issuances. As of December 31, 2003, the minimum net worth requirement
was $1.85 billion, and our actual net worth (as defined in the credit agreement) was $2.54 billion.

Our credit agreement permits us to complete acquisitions that meet the following conditions without obtaining prior approval: (1)
the acquired company is involved in the manufacture, processing and distribution of food or packaging products or any other line of
business in which we are currently engaged, (2) the net cash consideration is not greater than $300 million, (3) we acquire at least
51% of the acquired entity, and (4) the transaction is approved by the Board of Directors or shareholders, as appropriate, of the target.
All other acquisitions must be approved in advance by the required percentage of lenders.

The facility also contains limitations on liens, investments and the incurrence of additional indebtedness, and prohibits certain
dispositions of property and restricts certain payments, including dividends. The credit facility is secured by liens on substantially all
of our domestic assets (including the assets of our subsidiaries, but excluding the capital stock of Legacy Dean's subsidiaries, and
the real property owned by Legacy Dean and its subsidiaries).

The agreement contains standard default triggers, including without limitation: failure to maintain compliance with the financial
and other covenants contained in the agreement, default on certain of our other debt, a change in control and certain other material
adverse changes in our business. The agreement does not contain any default triggers based on our debt rating.

At December 31, 2003, we had outstanding borrowings of $1.78 billion under our senior credit facility (compared to $1.83 billion
at December 31, 2002), including $1.67 billion in term loan borrowings, and $112.8 million outstanding under the revolving credit
facility. In addition, at December 31, 2003, there were $108.9 million of letters of credit under the revolver that were issued but
undrawn. On January 2, 2004, we acquired the equity interests in Horizon Organic Holding Corporation that we did not already own
and used approximately $80 million of borrowings under our senior credit facility to pay a portion of the purchase price. As of March
1, 2004, approximately $665.4 million was available for future borrowings under our credit facility. We are currently, and have
always been, in compliance with all covenants contained in our credit agreement.

In addition to our senior credit facility, we also have a $500 million receivables-backed credit facility, which had $302.5 million
outstanding at December 31, 2003. We used approximately $180 million of borrowings under this facility to pay a portion of the
purchase price for Horizon Organic Holding Corporation. Therefore, approximately $451.8 million was outstanding under this facility
at March 1, 2004. See Note 9 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for more information about our receivables-backed facility.

Other indebtedness outstanding at December 31, 2003 included $700 million face value of outstanding indebtedness under
L.egacy Dean’s senior notes, a $6.4 million line of credit at our Spanish subsidiary. $11.7 million of industrial development revenue

bonds and approximately $26.2 million of capital lease and other obligations. See Note 9 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.
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The table below summarizes our obligations for indebtedness and lease obligations at December 31, 2003, Please see Note 18 1o

o Consolidated Financial Statements for more detail about our lease obligations.

Payments Due by Period

Indebtedness & Lease Obligations Total 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 Thereafter
(Dollars In thousands)

senior credit facility S1.7684.053 S157.500 S182.500 5207.500 5520503 S716.250

senior notesi 7000060 100000 250,000 S350L000
Receivables-backed tacitity 302 500 302.0500

I'oreign line ol credit 6.HH Hh401

Industrial development revenue
honds 11700 3.500 $.200

Capital lease oblications and

olher! 26,523 12,757 4688 6,567 2.258 172 41
Purchasing obligations 229 748 144,797 44,027 12.267 10.360 8522 10.275
Operaling leases 452,273 90.662 76.356 61.556 51483 42.950 129.266

Tolal S3.0513.108 SHI5617 S407.071 3540.390 5834404 S7TH7.894 5497822

1) Represents face value

In addition 1o the fetlers of credit secured by our senior credit facility, at December 31, 2003 we had approximately $16.2 million
ol letters of eredit with three other banks that were issued but undrawn. The majority of these were required by various ulitities and

covernment entities for performance and insurance guarantees,

OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

We offer pension benefits through various defined benefit pension plans and also offer certain health care and lile insurance benefits
o eligible emplovees and their eligible dependents upon the retivement of such emplovees, Reported costs of providing non-contributory
defined pension benefits and other postretirement benefits are dependent upon numerous factors, assamptions and estimmates.

For example. these costs are impacted by actual emplovee demographics (including age. compensation levels and employment
periods). the Tevel of contributions made 1o the plan and carnings on plan asscls. Our pension plan assets are primarily made up of
cquity and fixed income investments, Changes made to the provisions of the plan may also impact current and future pension costs.
Fluctuations in actual equity market returns as well as changes in general interest rates may resull in increased or decreased pension
costs in fuure periods. Pension costs may also be signilicantly affected by changes in kev actuarial assumptions, including anticipated
rates of return on plan assets and the discount rates used in determining the projected benetit obligation and pension costs.

In accordance with SFAS No. 87, “Employers” Accounting for Pensions,” changes in pension obligations associated with these fac-
tors may not he immediately recognized as pension costs on the income statement, but generally are recognized in futire years over
the remaining average service period of plan participants. As such. significant portions of pension costs recorded in any period may
not reflect the actual Tevel of cash benefits provided to plan participants. In 2003, we recorded non-cash expense of S15.3 million, of
which $12.8 million was attributable (o periodic expense and $2.5 million was allributable to settlements compared to a total of
9.1 million in 2002, of which $3 million was altributable to settements. These amounts were delermined in accordanee with the
provisions of SFAS No. 87 and SFAS No. 88, "Emplovers Accounting for Scttlements and Curlaitments of Defined Benefit Pension
Plans and for Termination Benelits.”

As ol December 31, 2003, we decreased the assumed discount rate in 2002 from 6.75% to a range of 6% 1o 6.5%. In selecting
assumed rate of return on plan assets. we considered past performance and economic forecasts for the tvpes ol investments held by
the plan as well as the interim Larget allocation policy. Plan asset returns were $25 million in 2003 after decreasing by S19.7 million

in 2002, Net periodic pension expense for our plans is expected to decrease in 2004 by approximateh $3.3 million due primarily 1o
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the increase in assets from $124.8 million as of December 31, 2002 to $151.6 million as of December 31, 2003. Based on current
projections, 2004 funding requirements will be approximately $37.8 million as compared to $31.1 million for 2003. Additionally,
based on current projections, 2004 funding requirements for our other postretirement henefit obligations will be approximately
$2.8 million as compared to $2.4 million in 2003.

As a result of lower discount rates at December 31, 2003, we were required to recognize an additional minimum liability as
prescribed by SFAS No. 87 and SFAS No. 132, “Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions and Postretirement Benefits.” The accumulated
other comprehensive income component of the additional minimum liability, which totaled $37.9 million {$23.6 million after-tax),
was recorded as a reduction to shareholder's equity through a charge to Other Comprehensive Income, and did not affect net income
for 2003. The charge to Other Comprehensive Income will be reversed in future periods to the extent the fair value of plan assets
exceeds the accumulated benefit obligation. See Notes 13 and 14 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for information regarding

retirement plans and other postretirement benefits,

OTHER COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
On December 2'1, 2001, in connection with our acquisition of Legacy Dean, we issued a contingent, subordinated promissory note to
Dairy Farmers of America ("DFA”) in the original principal amount of $40 million. DFA is our primary supplier of raw milk, and the
promissory note is designed to ensure that DFA has the opportunity to continue to supply raw milk to certain of our plants until
2021, or be paid for the loss of that business. The promissory note has a 20-year term and bears interest based on the consumer
price index. Interest will not be paid in cash, but will be added to the principal amount of the note annually, up to a maximum
principal amount of $96 million. We may prepay the note in whole or in part at any time, without penalty. The note will only become
payable if we ever materially breach or terminate one of our milk supply agreements with DFA without renewal or replacement.
Otherwise, the note will expire at the end of 20 years, without any obligation to pay any portion of the principal or interest.
Payments we make under this note, if any, will be expensed as incurred.
We also have the following commitments and contingent liabilities, in addition to contingent liabilities related to ordinary course
litigation and audits:
= the obligation to pay performance bonuses to White Wave’'s management team in the event that established performance hurdles
are met by the end of March 2004, which we currently expect to be approximately $39 million; and
» certain indemnification obligations related to businesses that we have divested; and
= potential liability related to a Wells Notice we received from the staff of the Securities and Exchange Commission related to our
relationship with one of our customers.

See Note 18 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for more information about our commitments and contingent obligations.

FutuRe CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS
During 2004, we intend to invest a total of approximately $350 million in capital expenditures primarily for our existing manufacturing
facilities and distribution capabilities. We intend to fund these expenditures using cash flow from operations. We intend to spend this

amount as follows:

Operating Division Amount

(Dollars in millions)

Dairy Group 38275

Branded Products Group 25

Specialty Foods Group 20

Other 30
Total $350
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1n 2004, we expect cash interest 1o be approximately S170 million based on current debt levels and cash taxes to he approximately
$90 million.

We expeet that cash flow [rom operations will be sufficient Lo meet our requirements for our existing businesses for the
loreseeable Tuture.

In 2004, we intend to pursue additional acquisitions that are compatible with our core business strategy. We mav also repurchase
our stock pursuant to open market or privately negotiated transactions. Approximately $1 146 million was available for spending
under our stock repurchase program as ol March 10, 2004, We base our decisions regarding when 1o repurchase stock on a variety
ol tactors, including primarily an analvsis of the optimal use of available capital, taking into account the markel value ol our stock.
the relative expected return on alternative investments and the tinancial covenants in our credit facility, Any acquisitions or stock
repurchases will be funded through cash flows from operations or borrowings under our senior credit facility. If necessary, we
helieve that we have the ability to secure additional debt or equity financing for our future capitat requirements and we will explore

those alternatives as appropriate.

EconOomIC ENVIRONMENT

A a result of the recent economic environment in this country. and due to the highly competitive environment currenthy existing in
the food retailing and foodservice industries. many ol our retail and loodservice customers have experienced economic difficutty over
the past 18 months 1o 2 vears. A number of our customers have been forced o close stores and certain others have sought bankruptey
protection, This trend could have o material adverse clfect on us it a material number ol our customers, or any one large customer.,
were 1o be foreed to close a significant number of stores or ile for bankrupley protection,

Many ol our retail customers have hecome inereasingly price sensitive in the current economic environment. We have recently
heen subject Lo a number ol intensely competitive bidding situations. which has resulted in margin erosion on sales to several
customers. We expect this trend to continue. by bidding situations we are subject to the risk of fosing certain customers altogether.
Loss of any of our largest customers could have a material adverse impact on our financial results, We do not have conlracts with

many ol our largest customers. and most of the contracks that we do have are generally terminable at will by the customer.

PrRicES oF Raw Mitk AND CREAM

Our raw milk cost changes are based on the federal and certain state governments” minimum prices, regional and nationat milk
supply conditions and arrangements with our suppliers. Generally, we pay the federal minimum prices for raw milk. plus certain
producer premiums (or “over-order”™ premiums) and location differentials. We also incur other raw milk procurement cosls in some
locations (such as hauling. ficld personnel. ete.). A change in the federal minimum price does not necessarily mean an identical
change in our total raw material cost, as over-order premiums may increase or decrease. This relationship is different in every
region ol the country, and sometimes within a region based on supplier arrangements. However, in general, the overall change in
our raw mitk costs can be linked to the change in federal minimum prices. Bulk cream is also a significant raw material cost o us,
Butk cream is Ivpically purchased based on a multiple of the A\ butler price on the Chicago Mercantile Exchange. Bulk cream is
used inour Glass 1 products such as ice cream. ice cream mix, creams and creamers, sour eream and cottage cheese.

In 2002 and in the first eighl months of 2003, prices for raw milk and butter were unusually tow, Beginning in September 2003 and
conlinuing through the end of the yvear. prices for raw milk and butter increased significantly. Afthough Class | prices in carly 2004
have dectined from the levels experienced in late 2003, they have remained at levels higher than the 2003 average. We expecet Glass |
prices 1o continue to rise throughoul the remainder of the vear. Class 11 prices have increased signilicanty over the levels expericneed
lade Tast vear. and are expecled to continue to increase over the next several months. Although we currently expect Class 1 prices 1o
decrease somewhat in the latter part of 2004, we anticipate that they will still be at levels higher than experienced in 2003, (1

course. raw mitk and butter prices are difficult to predict and we change our forecasts frequently based on current market activity.
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In general, we change the prices that we charge our customers for our fluid dairy products on a monthly hasis, as the costs of our
raw materials fluctuate. However, there can be a lag between the time of a raw material cost increase or decrease and the effectiveness
of a cot‘responding price change to our customers, especially in the case of Class II butterfat because Class II butterfat prices for
each month are not announced by the government until after the end of that month. (We use Class II butterfat to make creams,
cultured dairy products and ice cream). Also, in some cases we are contractually restrained with respect to the means and timing of
implementing price changes, and at some point price increases could erode our volumes. These factors can cause volatility in our
earnings. Our sales and operating profit margin (expressed as a percentage of sales) fluctuate with the price of our raw materials.
We expect our profit margins to be lower in 2004 as a result of the expected increase in the price of raw milk.

GROCERY STRIKES

From October 11, 2003 until February 29, 2004, the workers of the United Food and Commercial Workers Union were on strike in
southern California. This strike affected many of our retail grocery customers in southern California whose employees are members
of the United Food and Commercial Workers Union. Our business in southern California was adversely affected in the fourth quarter
of 2003 and in most of the first quarter of 2004 as a result of the strike. We estimate that the strike adversely impacted our fourth
quarter consolidated diluted earnings per share by approximately $.015. We cannot yet estimate the impact on our results for the
first quarter of 2004; however, we expect it to be a proportionately similar amount to the fourth quarter of 2003.

PLaNT CLOSINGS

As part of our ongoing efforts to reduce our costs and improve our manufacturing efficiency, we expect to close approximately six
to eight plants in 2004. We will incur costs in connection with these plant closings, which will be recorded as operating expenses in
the quarter in which they are incurred. Expenses associated with plant closings generally include severance costs, property and
equipment write-down costs and in some cases, lease termination expenses. These costs vary from plant to plant and cannot be
estimated with certainty. We expect the majority of the plants closed in 2004 to be closed in the second half of 2004. Also, we
expect to incur $4.3 million of additional costs primarily in 2004 related to facilities closed prior to 2004.

Tax RATE
Our 2003 tax rate was approximately 38%. We believe that our effective tax rate will be approximately 38% for 2004.
See “- Risk Factors” for a description of various other risks and uncertainties concerning our business.

Critical Accounting Policies

“Critical accounting policies” are defined as those that are both most important to the portrayal of a company’s financial condition
and results, and that require our most difficult, subjective or complex judgments. In many cases the accounting treatment of a
particular transaction is specifically dictated by generally accepted accounting principles with no need for the application of our
judgment. In certain circumstances, however, the preparation of our Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles requires us to use our judgment to make certain estimates and assumptions. These estimates affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the Consolidated
Financial Statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. We have idenlified the
policies described below as our critical accounting policies. See Note 1 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for a detailed
discussion of these and other accounting policies.

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
We provide credit terms to customers generally ranging up to 30 days, perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers and

maintain allowances for estimated credit losses. As these factors change, our estimates change and we could accrue different
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amounts for doubtiul accounts in different accounting periods. At December 31, 2003, our allowance for doubtul accounts was
approximately 8327 million. or 0.4% of =ales, The allowanee for doubtful accounts, expressed as g pereent of sales, was also 0.4% in

2002, Fach 0.19% change in that ratio of allowance for doubtiul accounts to sales would impact net income by approximately $5.7 mitlion.

INSURANCE ACCRUALS

We retain sclected Ievels ol property and casually risks. primarily related to emplovee health cave. workers' compensation claims
and other casually losses. Many of these potential Tosses are covered under conventional insurance progeams with third party
carriers with high deductible Timits. In other arcas. we are self-insured with stop-toss coverages. Accerued Habilities for incurred but
nol reported losses related to these retained risks are caleulated based upon loss development factors which contemplate a number
of variahles including claims history and expected trends, These loss development factors are developed by us in consultation with
external insurance brokers and actuaries, At December 31 2003 and 2002, we recorded acerued liabilities related to these retained

risks of $136.3 million and $128.5 million. respectively, including both current and long-term liabilities,

IncomEe TAXES

Deferred taxes are recognized for future tax effects of temporary differences between financial and income Lax reporting using tax
rates in effect for the vears in which the differences are expected o reverse. We periodically estimate our probable Lax obligations
using historical experience in tax jurisdictions and informed judements. There are inherenl uncertainties related to the interpretations
ol Lax regulations o the jurisdictions inwhich we operate. These judgments and estimates made al a point in lime may change
hascd on the outcome of tax audils and changes Lo or further interpretations of regulations. 11 such changes take place. there is a
risk that our tax rate mav increase or decrease inany period which could have an impact on our carnings. Future business results
may affect deferred tax labilities or the vatuation of deferred tax assets over time, The chiange inour valuation atlowance increased

S7.5 million in 2003 due Lo increased liketihood that state net operating losses will expire before they are used.

VALUATION OF LONG-LIVED INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

In January 2002, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS™) No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assels”™ and as a resull. we no tonger amortize goodwill and other intangibles with indefinite lives. In tieu of amortizalion. we now
conduct impairment tests on our goodwill, trademarks and other intangible assets with indefinite lives annually and when circum-
stances indicate that the careving value may not he recoverable. We evaluate the value ol our intangibles using cash Now analyses,
which require the use of significant judements and estimates. including projections of enterprise values and expected cash flows

from specilic product sales in the future.

PURCHASE PRICE ALLOCATION

We allocate the cost ol acquisitions to the assels acquired and Habilities assumed. Al identifiable assels acquired. including
identifiable intangibles, and liabilities assumed are assigned a portion of the cost of the acquired company. normally equal to their
fair values at the date of acquisition. The excess of the cost of the acquired company over the sum of the amounts assigned Lo
identifiable assets acquired less labilities assumed is recorded as goodwill. We record the initial purchase price allocation based on
evaluation ol information and estimates available at the date of the financial statements, As Tinal information regarding fair vatue of
assels acquired and liabilities assumed is received and estimates are refined. appropriate adjustments are made 1o the purchase
price allocation, To the extent that such adjustments indicate that the fair value of assels and liabilities differ from their preliminary
purchase price allocations, such difference would adjust the amounts allocated to those assets and liabilitics and would change the
amounts allocated to goodwill, The finat purchase price allocation includes the consideration of a number of factors o determine the
[air value of individual assels acquired and liabilities assumed including quoted market prices. forecast ol expected cash flows, nel

realizable values, estimates of the present value of required payments and determination of remaining useful lives.
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EmPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN CosTs

We provide a range of benefits to our employees including pension and postretirement benefits to our eligible employees and retirees.
We record annual amounts relating to these plans based on calculations specified by generally accepted accounting principles,
which include various actuarial assumptions, such as discount rates, assumed rates of return, compensation increases, employee
turnover rates and health care cost trend rates. We review our actuarial assumptions on an annual basis and make modifications to
the assumptions based on current rates and trends when it is deemed appropriate. As required by generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples, the effect of the modifications is generally recorded and amortized over future periods. Different assumptions that we make
could result in the recognition of different amounts of expense over different periods of time.

In 2003, we decided to consolidate the assets of our ten qualified pension plans into one master trust. This consolidation is
expected to be completed in the first quarter of 2004. Also in 2003, we retained investment consultants to assist our Investment
Committee with the transition of the plans’ assets to the master trust and to help our Investment Committee formulate a long-term f
investment policy for the newly established master trust. We have developed an interim investment policy to ensure a smooth
transition to the master trust. Our current asset mix guidelines under the interim investment policy target equities at 65-75% of
the portfolio and fixed income at 25-35%. We expect to develop and adopt a long-term investment policy in early 2004.

We determine our expected long-term rate of return based on our expectations of future returns for the pension plan’s investments
based on interim target allocations of the pension plan's investments. Additionally, we consider the weighted average return of a !
capital markets model that was developed by the plans’ investment consultants and historical returns on comparable equity, debt
and other investments. The resulting weighted average expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is 8.5%.

A 1% reduction in the assumed rate of return on plan assets would increase our annual pension expense by approximately $1.52
million. In addition, a 1% increase in assumed healthcare costs trends would increase the aggregate annual post retirement medical
expense by approximately $0.2 million.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB") issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (“SFAS”) No.
143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations.” This statement requires that the fair value of a liability for an asset retirement
obligation be recognized in the period in which the associated legal obligation for the liability is incurred if a reasonable estimate of
fair value can be made. The associated asset retirement costs are capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the long-lived asset
and amortized over the useful life of the asset. SFAS No. 143 became effective for us in 2003. The adoption of this pronouncement
did not have a material impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

SFAS No. 145, “Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44 and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical Corrections,”
was issued in April 2002 and is applicable to fiscal years beginning after May 15, 2002. One of the provisions of this technical state-
ment is the rescission of SFAS No. 4, “Reporting Gains and Losses from Extinguishment of Debt,” whereby any gain or loss on the early
extinguishment of debt that was classified as an extraordinary item in prior periods in accordance with SFAS No. 4, which does not meet
the criteria of an extraordinary item as defined by APB Opinion 30, must be reclassified. Adoption of this standard required us to reclassify
gains and losses related to early extinguishment of debt that were previously reported as extraordinary as a component of “interest
expense.” The adoption of this pronouncement did not have a material effect on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

in June 2002, FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities.” This statement
addresses financial accounting and reporting for costs associated with exit or disposal activities and nullifies EITF Issue No. 94-3,
“Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs
Incurred in a Restructuring).” The statement requires that a liability for a cost associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized
when the liability is incurred, and is effective for exit or disposal activities that are initiated after December 31, 2002. Our adoption
of this standard changed the timing of the recognition of certain charges associated with exit and disposal activities.

-

in November 2002, FASB issued FASB Interpretation (“FIN”) No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for
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Guarantees. Including Indireel Guarantees of ndebtedness of Others.”™ FIN No, 45 clarilies the requirements of SEAS No. 5
“Accounting for Contingencies.” relating to the accounting for and disclosure of certain cuarantees issued and indemnification
obligations incurred. FIN No. 45 requires disclosure ol certain guarantees and indemnilication obligations. 1t also requires iability
recognition for the tair value of certain guarantees and indemnification obligations made or incurred aller December 31, 2002, We
adopted FIN No. 45 effective January 1. 2003, See Note 18 Lo our Consolidated Financial Statements for the disclosures required by
FIN No. -5,

I becember 2003, PASB issued FIN Mo, 46(R), “Consolidation of Yariable Interest Entities — an inlerpretation of ARB No. 51
(revised December 2003).7 FIN 46(R) provides guidance for identifving a controlling interest in a variable interest entity ("VEHST)
established by means other than voting interests. FIN 46(R) also requires consolidation of a VIE by an enterprise that holds such a
controtling intevest. The elfective date for interest qualification is December 31, 2008, We curventhy utilize special purpose limited
lability entities o facilitate our receivable-backed tacilits, Since their formations, these entities have been consolidated in oar
financial statements for financial reporting purposes. Theretore. the adoption of FIN No. 46(R) had no material impact on our
Consolidated Financial Statements.

I April 2003, FASB issued SEAS Noo 149, " Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.”

This statement amends and clarifies financial accounting and reporting for derivative instruments, including derivative instruments
cmbedded inother contracts and hedgeing activities under SEFAS Noo 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities.” This statement required that contracts with comparable characteristios be accounted for similarly and is eflective tor
conlracts entered into or maditied alter June 30, 2003, Our reporting (o our hedging activities is within the requirements of this
statement. therefore SEAS Noo 149 did not have an impact on our Consolidated Financial Stalements,

In May 2003, FASB issued SIAS Noo 150, “\ccounting for Gertain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of Both Liabilities
and lsquity.” This statement. which became elfective for us on July 1, 2003, requires tat certain financial instruments which had
previoushy been classified as equity be classified as liabilities. We have no outstanding securities that meet the eriteria ot SFAS No.
150, Therefore, SFAS No. 150 had no impact on our Consolidated Finaneial Statements.

In December 2003, the FASE issued SIS Noo 132 (revised 2003), “Emplovers™ Disclosures ahout Pensions and Other
Postretirement Benefits.” to improve lfinancial statement disclosures Tor delined benefit plans, This standard requires that companies
provide more detaits about their plan assels, henelit obligations. cash Qows, benelit costs and other relevant information. In addition
lo expanded annual disclosures, we are required o reporl the various clements of pension and other posiretirement benefit costs on

aquarterly basis, SFAS No. 132 (revised 2003) is elfective for fiscal vears ending after December 15, 2003, and for quarlers heginning
after December 15, 2003, The expanded disclosure requirements are included in this report.

In January 2004, the FASB issued FASB Stafl Position ("FSP7) 106-1. "Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the
Medicare Preseription Drug, Improvement and Modernization et ol 20087 in response 10 a new law regarding prescription drug
henelits under Medicare as well as a federal subsidy to sponsors ol retiree health care benelit plans, Currentiy, SFAS No. 106.
“Emplovers” Accounting for Postretivement Benelits Other Than Pensions™, requires thal changes in relevant law be considered in
current measurement of postretivement benefit costs. We are currentiy evaluating the impact of the new law and will defer recognition.

as permitted by FSP106-1 until authoritative guidanee is issued.

This report containg forward looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act Statements that
are not historical in nature are forward-looking statements aboul our future that are not statements of historical fact. Most of these
statements are found in this report under the following subheadings: “Part | = Hem 1. Business.” “Part I = ltem 7. Management’s
Discussion and Anahsis ol Financial Condition and Results of Operations™ and “"Part 1 = Item 7\, Quantitative and Qualitative
Disclosures About Market Risk.” In some cases. vou can identify these statements by terminology such as “may,” "will.” “should,”

“conld.” expeets.” seek o7 Tanticipates.” Tplans.” Thelieves,” Cestimates.” Tintends.” predicts.” Tprojects.” Cpolential” or Ceontinue”
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

or the negative of such terms and other comparable terminology. These statements are only predictions, and in evaluating those
statements, you should carefully consider the information above, including in “~ Known Trends and Uncertainties,” as well as the
risks outlined below. Actual performance or results may differ materially and adversely.

FUuRTHER CONSOLIDATION OF THE GROCERY AND FOODSERVICE INDUSTRIES CouLp CosT Us CUSTOMERS AND SALES
Over the past several years, the retail grocery and foodservice industries have experienced significant consolidation. As our customer
base continues to consolidate, we expect competition to intensify as we compete for the business of fewer customers. There can be
no assurance that we will be able to keep our existing customers, or gain new customers. Winning new customers is especially
important to the growth of our Dairy Group, as demand tends to be relatively flat in the dairy industry.

There are several large regional grocery chains that have captive dairy operations. As the consolidation of the grocery industry

continues, we could lose sales if any one or more of our existing customers were to be sold to a chain with captive dairy operations.

OuR RECENT SUCCESSES IN THE REFRIGERATED SoYMILK AND ORGANIC Foobps INDUSTRIES CouLD

ATTRACT NEW AND STRONGER COMPETITORS, WHICH CouLD I1MPEDE OUR GROWTH RATE AND CosT Us SALES

We have experienced a great deal of success in the past in the refrigerated soymilk and organic foods industries. Qur Silk soymilk
and our Horizon Organic organic food and beverage products have leading market shares in their categories and have benefited in
many cases from being the first to introduce products in their categories. As soy and organic products continue to gain in popularity
with consumers, we expect our products in these categories to continue to attract competitors. Many large food and beverage
companies have substantially more resources than we do and they may be able to market their soy and organic products more
successfully than us, which could cause our growth rate in these categories to siow and could cause us o lose sales.

Loss of RicHTS To ANY OF OuUR LicENSED BRANDS CouLp ADVERSELY AFFECT OUR SALES AND PROFITS

We sell certain of our products under licensed brand names such as Hershey’s, Borden(R), Pet(R), Folgers, Land O'Lakes and others.
In some cases, we have invested, and intend to continue to invest, significant capital in product development and marketing and
advertising related to these licensed brands. Should our rights to manufacture and sell products under any of these names be

terminated for any reason, our financial performance and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

WE HAaveE SuBSTANTIAL DEBT AND OTHER FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS AND WE MAY INCUR EVEN MoRE DeBT

We have substantial debt and other financial obligations and significant unused borrowing capacity. See “— Liquidity and

Capital Resources.”
We have pledged substantially all of our assets (including the assets of our subsidiaries) to secure our indebtedness. Our high

debt level and related debt service obligations:

= require us to dedicate significant cash flow to the payment of principal and interest on our debt which reduces the funds we have
available for other purposes,

= may limit our flexibility in planning for or reacting to changes in our business and market conditions,

s impose on us additional financial and operational restrictions, and

= expose us to interest rate risk since a portion of our debt obligations are at variable rates.

Our ability to make scheduled payments on our debt and other financial obligations depends on our financial and operating per-
formance. Our financial and operating performance is subject to prevailing economic conditions and to financial, business and other
factors, some of which are beyond our control. A significant increase in interest rates could adversely impact our net income. If we
do not comply with the financial and other restrictive covenants under our credit facilities, we may default under them. Upon defauit,
our lenders could accelerate the indebtedness under the facilities, foreclose against their collateral or seek other remedies, which
would jeopardize our ability to continue our current operations.
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INTEREST RATE FLUCTUATIONS

In order to recduce the volatility of earnings that arises from changes in interest rates, we manage interest rate risk through the use

of interest rate swap agreements. These swap agreements provide hedges Tor loans under our senior credit facility by limiting or fixing

Lthe LIBOR interest rates specified in the senior credit facility at the interest rates noted helow until the indicated expiration dates.
These swaps have been designated as cash flow hedges against variable interest rate exposure. The Tollowing table summarizes

our various interest rate swap agreements in effect as ol December 31, 2003:

Notional Amounts

Fixed Interest Rates Expiration Date (in millions)
148 o 6.69% December 2004 $630
5.20% Lo 6.74% December 20005 400
6. 78"% December 2006 75

The following table swmmarizes our various interest rale swap agreements as of December 31, 2002:

Notional Amounts

Fixed Interest Rates Expiration Date (in millions)
6.235% June 2003 550
4.29% Lo 4.649% December 2003 270
H01% 10 6.69% December 2004 275
3.20% 10 6.74% December 2005 400
6.78% December 2006 75

[ 2001, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement that provided hedges for curo-denominated loans, which were repaid
and replaced with curo-denominated borrowings under our senior credit facilily. The following table describes Lhis swap agreement

as of December 31, 2003 and 2002:

Fixed Interest Rates Expiration Date Notional Amounts

5.60% November 2004 12 million curos {approximately S50 mitlion as of

PDecember 312003 and S12.6 million a3 of December 31, 2002)

We are exposed 1o market risk under these arrangements due o the possibility of interest rates on our credit Facilities falling below the
rales on our interest rate derivative agreements. We incurred $25.6 million of additional interest expense. nel of taxes. during 2003 as a
resull of interest rates on our variable rate debt falling below the agreed-upon interest rate on our existing swap agreements, Credit risk
under these arrangements is remote Rinee the counterparties to our interest rate derivative agreements are major financial institutions.

\ majority ol our debt obligations are currently at variable rates. We have performed a sensitivity analvsis assuming a hvpothetical
10% adverse movement in interest rates. As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, the analvsis indicated thal such interest rate movement
would nol have a material effect on our financial position. results of operations or cash flows. However, actual gains and losses in the
future may differ materially from thal analvsis based on changes in the timing and amount of interest rate movement and our actual

exposure and hedges.

ForelgN CURRENCY

We are exposed o foreign currency risk due to operating cash Nows and various financial instruments that are denominated in foreign
currencies. Our most significant foreign curreney exposures relate to the euro and the British pound. We have performed a sensitivity
analysis assuming a hypothetical 10% adverse movement in forcign currency exchange rates. As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, the
analysis indicated that such foreign curreney exchange rate change would not have a material effect on our financial position, resulls of

operations or cash flows.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Board of Directors
Dean Foods Company
Dallas, Texas

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Dean Foods Company and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of
December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2003. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as

well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of Dean Foods Company and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the results of their operations
and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2003, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, in 2002 the Company changed its method of accounting for goodwill
and other intangible assets to conform to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Dallas, Texas
March 11, 2004
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{Dollars in thousands, except share data)

December 3t

2003

2002

ASSETS
current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents

Receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $32.684 and $34.317

Inventories
Deferred income taxes
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assels
Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill
Identitiable intangible and other assets
Total
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EquiTy
Current Habilitics:
Accounts pavable and accrued expenses
[ncome taxes pavable
Current portion of long-term debt
Total current liabilities
Long-term deht
Other long-term liabilities
Deferred income Laxes
Mandatorily redeemabie convertible trust issued preferred
securities (redemption value of $599.910 plus acerued dividends)
Commilments and contingencies (Note 18)
Stockholders” equily:
Preferred stock, none issued
Common stock, 154.993.214 and 132,961 440 shares issued
and outstanding, with a par value of 80,01 per share
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total stockholders™ equity

Total

See Notex (o Gonsolidated Finaneial Statements.
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S 47143
742934
426,478
137.055

S5 45.896
656,938
400,347
108,337

47.271 49.628
1.400.881 L3I 146

F.773,005
3.197.548
620,552

1628424
3035417

607.279

56,992 536

56.582.266

$ 024,707 $ 981.018
65.528 38,488
180.158 173,442

1.170.393 1,192,948

2.611.356
279.823

388,151

1350

1.498.025

1.074.258
(31.020)

2004482
312010

294.256

MO 1T

330
979,118
T18.555

(33.703)

2,042,813

1.643.293

56.992.536

56.582.266




Consclidated Statements of Income

Years Ended December 31

(Dollars in thousands, except share data) 2003 2002 2001
Net sales $ 9,184,616 $ 8,991,464 § 5,974,555
Cost of sales 6,808,207 6.642,773 4,574,258
Gross profit 2,376.409 2,348,691 1,400,297
Operating costs and expenses:
Selling and distribution 1,345,065 1,321,763 794,937
General and administrative 317,342 337,496 176,642
Amortization of intangibles 4,949 1,775 51,361
Plant closing and rationalization costs 11,787 19,050 9,550
Other operating income (68,719) (17,306)
Total operating costs and expenses 1,610,424 1,686.084 1,015,184
Operating income 765,985 662,607 385,113
Other (income) expense:
Interest expense, net 181,134 197,685 103,820
Financing charges on trust issued preferred securities 14,164 33,578 33,581
Equity in (earnings) losses of unconsolidated affiliates (244) 7,899 23,620
Other (income) expense, net (2.625) 2,660 4,817
Total other expense 192,429 241.822 165,838
Income from continuing operations before income taxes 573,556 420,785 219.275
Income taxes 217,853 152,988 80,160
Minority interest in earnings 46 31,431
Income from continuing operations 355,703 267,751 107,684
Loss on sale of discontinued operations, net of tax (8.231)
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax 879 3,092
Income before cumulative effect of accounting change 355,703 260,399 111,276
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax (84.983) (1,446)
Net income $ 355703 $ 175416 _$ 109.830
Basic earnings per common share:
Income from continuing operations $ 245 § 198 § 1.28
Income (loss) from discontinued operations (.05) .04
Cumulative effect of accounting change (.63) (.02)
Net income $ 245 3 1.30  § 1.30
Diluted earnings per common share:
Income from continuing operations 3 227 % 1.77  § 1.17
Income (loss) from discontinued operations (.05) .03
Cumulative effect of accounting change (.51) (.01)
Net income $ 227  § 121§ 1.19
Average common shares — Basic 145,201,412 135,031,274 84,454,194
Average common shares — Diluted 160,695,670 163,163,904 110,676,222

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Accumulated

Other Total
Common Stock Additional Paid- Retained  Comprehensive Stockholders’ Comprehensive
(Dollars in thousands) Shares Amount In Capital Earnings Income (loss) Equity Income
Balance. Janoary 1. 2001 81836947 S 819 $ 165810 5 433309 % (LHi1) $ 598,832
Issuance ol common stock 3,943 941 39 62,603 62.642
IPurchase and retirement of
Lreasury stock (370.002) () (6.054) (6.058)
Nel income 109.830 109.830 S1049.830
\cquisition of Dean Foods Company 46.378.584 464 738.902 739.366
Other comprehensive income (Nole 12):
Cumulative effect of accounting change (6,403) (6.403) (6.403)
Change in fair value of
derivative instruments (4.438) (9.438) (9.438)
Rectassification of minority interest
portion of derivative fair values {10.033) (10.033) (10.033)
Cumulative transtation adjustment (2.232) (2.232) {2.232)
Minimum pension liability adjustment (626) {620) 626)
Comprehensive income $ 81,098
Balance. December 31, 2001 131.809.470 1.318 961,266 543,139 (29.843) 1 475.880
Issuance of common stock 5278170 53 88,578 88.631
Reclassification of Legacy Dean
stock option lahility 30,461 30461
Purchase and retirement of
treasury stock (4.126.200) (41) (101.192) (101.233)
Actincome 175416 175416 SITH416
Other comprehensive income (Note 12):
Change in fair value of derivative
instruments (46.803) (46.803) (46.803)
Amounts reclassified o income
statement related 1o derivatives 24014 24014 24004
Gumulative translation adjustment 8408 8.408 8.408
Minimum pension liability adjustment (11480 (11.481) (L141)
Comprehensive income $149.554
Balance. December 31, 2002 132,961,440 1.330 979.113 718555  (55.705) 1.643.293
Issuance of common stock 5.798.235 58 121,592 121.650
lixchange of trust issued preferred
seeurities 22.901.839 229 582,757 582,986
Purchase and reticement of treasury
stock (6.668,300) (67) (185,437) (185.504)
Nel income 355,703 355.703 $352.703
Other comprehensive income (Note 12):
Change in fair value of derivative
instruments (7.650) (7.650) (7.650)
Amounts reclassified 10 income
statement related to derivatives 25.610 25610 25.610
Cumulative translation adjustment 18.247 18.247 18.247
Minimum pension ligbility adjustment {(11.522) (11.522) (11.522)
Comprehensive incoime $380.388
Balance. December 31, 2003 154.993.214  $1.550  $1.498.025  $1.074.258  3(31.020) $2542.813

See Notes Lo Consolidated Financial Statemenlts
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31

(Dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 2001
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 355,703 $ 175,416 $ 109,830
Income from discontinued operations (879) (3,092)
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided
by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 191,885 173,994 145,898
(Gain) loss on disposition of assets (67,362) 4,586 (46,270)
Minority interest 120 51,402
Equity in (earnings) loss of unconsolidated affiliates (244) 7.899 23,620
Loss on sale of discontinued operations 8,231
Loss on early extinguishment of debt 7,271
Cumulative effect of accounting change 84,983 1,446
Write-down of impaired assets 8,707 11,253 6,812
Deferred income taxes 143,267 75,605 41,500
Tax savings on stock option exercises 26,380 13,923 9,319
Other (8,990) 2,719 2,402
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:

Receivables (67.565) 99,775 (3.199)

Inventories (18,718) 18.167 (4,703}

Prepaid expenses and other assets 20,663 (943) (17,137)

Accounts payable and accrued expenses (89,367) (561,193) (16,929)

Income taxes payable 27,893 18,961 (2,444)

Net cash provided by continuing operations 522,302 642,617 305,226
Net cash provided by discontinued operations 13,147 2,701
Net cash provided by operating activities 522,302 655,764 307,927
Cash flows from investing activities:
Additions to property, plant, and equipment (291,662) (241,982) (131,210)
Cash outflows for acquisitions and investments (246.573) (222,149) (1,146,077)
Net proceeds from divestitures 89,950 148,313
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets 12,112 6,765 2.683

Net cash used in continuing operations (436.173) (309,053) (1,274,604)

Net cash used in discontinued operations (5,138) (5.896)

Net cash used in investing activities (436,173) (314,191) (1,280,500)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from issuance of debt 349,680 637,500 2,203,725
Repayment of debt (322.691) (992,797) (1,173,335)
Payments of deferred financing, debt restructuring and merger costs (5,200) (2,887) (47,125)
Distributions to minority interest holders (10,363)
Issuance of common stock, net of expenses 95,270 74,988 50,599
Redemption of common stock (199,521) (87.211) (6.068)
Redemption of trust issued preferred securities (2,420)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (84,882) (370,407) 1,017,443
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,247 (28.834) 44,870
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 45,896 74,730 29,860
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 47,143 $ 45896 3 74,730

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Reach for Dean - Dean Foods 2003 Annual Report

55




Nature of Our Business — We are a leading food and beverage company. Our Dairy Group is the Targest processor and distributor of
milk and various other dairy products in the United States. Our Branded Products Group markets and sells a variely of well known
dairy and dairv-related branded products. Our Specialty Foods Group is one of the leading pickle processors in Lthe United States and

a maker of a variety of other specialty food products. We also own the fourth largest dairy processor in Spain.

Basis of Presentation — Our Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of our whollv-owned subsidiaries. Al significant

intercompany balances and transactions are eliminated in consolidation,

Use of Estimates — The preparation of our Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles ("GAAPT) requires us 1o use our judgment Lo make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts ol assets
and labilitics and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the Consolidated Financial Statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates under

different assumptions or conditions.

Cash Equivalents — We consider lemporary cash imvestments with a remaining maturity ol three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Inventories — Inventories are stated at the Tower of cost or market. Dairy and certain specialty products are valued on the first-in.
first-out ("FIFO™) method while our pickle inventories are valued using the tast-in, first-out ("LIFO™) method. The costs of finished

coods inventories include raw materials. direct labor and indirect production and overhead cosis.

Property, Plant and Equipment — Property. plant and equipment are stated al acquisilion cost. plus capitatized interest on borrowings
during the actual construetion period of major capital projects. Also included in property. plant and equipment are certain direct
costs related 1o the implementation of computer <oftware for internal use. Depreciation and amortization arve calculated using the

straight-tine method over the estimated useful lives of the assels. as follows:

Asset Useful Life
Buildines and improvements 710 40 years
Machinery anid equipment 3o 20 vears

Impairment tests are performed when circumstances indicate that the carrving value may not be recoverable, Capitalized leases

are amortized over the shorter of their lease term or their estimated useful lives. Expenditures for repairs and maintenance which

do not improve or extend the life of the assets are expensed as incurred.

Intangible and Other Assets — rior Lo January t. 2002, intangibles were amortized over their related estimated uselul lives as follows:

Asset Useful Life

Goodwill straight-line method over 25 10 40 vears

[dentifiable intangible assets

Customer lists Skraight-line method over 7 to 1O vears
Customer supphy conlracts straight-line methed over the terms of the agreements
Trademarks/lrade names Skraight-line method over 1O 1o 40 vears
Noncompelition agreements Straight-line method over the terms of the agreements
Patents Straight-line method over 15 vears

Deferred financing costs Interest method over the terms of the relaled debt
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Effective January 1, 2002, in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, goodwill and other
intangible assets determined to have indefinite useful lives are no longer amortized. Instead, we now conduct impairment tests on
our goodwill, trademarks and other intangible assets with indefinite lives annually and when circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may not be recoverable. To determine whether an impairment exists, we use present value technigues. Upon adoption
of SFAS No. 142, we conducted transitional impairment tests and recorded certain impairments. See Note 6.

Foreign Currency Translation — The financial statements of our foreign subsidiaries are translated to U.S. dollars in accordance with
the provisions of SFAS No. 52, “Foreign Currency Translation.” The functional currency of our foreign subsidiaries is generally the
local currency of the country. Accordingly, assets and liabilities of the foreign subsidiaries are translated to U.S. dollars at year-end
exchange rates. Income and expense items are translated at the average rates prevailing during the year. Changes in exchange
rates, which affect cash flows and the related receivables or payables are recognized as transaction gains and losses in the
determination of net income. The cumulative translation adjustment in stockholders’ equity reflects the unrealized adjustments

resulting from transtating the financial statements of our foreign subsidiaries.

Minority Interest in Subsidiaries — Minority interest in results of operations of consolidated subsidiaries represents the minority share-
holders’ share of the income or loss of various consolidated subsidiaries. Equity in earnings/(losses) represents the proportional share
of the earnings or losses of these subsidiaries less any cash distributions made. At December 31, 2003, there were no outstanding

minority interests.

Employee Stock-Based Compensation — We measure compensation expense for our stock-based employee compensation pians using
the intrinsic value method and provide the required pro forma disclosures of the effect on net income and earnings per share as if
the fair value-based method had been applied in measuring compensation expense. See Note 11.

We have elected to follow Accounting Principles Board Opinion ("APB”) No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and
related interpretations in accounting for our stock options. All options granted to date have been to employees, officers or directors.
Accordingly, no compensation expense has been recognized since stock options granted were at exercise prices which approximated
or exceeded market value at the grant date. Compensation expense for deferred stock units (*DSUs") is recorded over the vesting
period. Had compensation expense been determined for all stock-based compensation using fair value methods provided for in SFAS
No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” our pro forma net income and net income per common share would have

been the amounts indicated below:
Year Ended December 31

(In thousands, except share data) 2003 2002 2001
" Net income, as reported $ 355,703 $ 175,416 $ 109.830
Add: Stock-based compensation expense included in reported net income, net of tax 2,396

Less: Stock-based compensation expense determined under fair value-based methods

for all awards, net of tax (36,614) (31,249) (16.926)
Pro forma net income $ 321,485 $ 144,167 $ 92,904
Net income per share:

Basic - as reported $ 2.45 $1.30 $1.30
- pro forma 2.21 1.07 1.10
Diluted — as reported 2.27 1.21 1.19
- pro forma 2.06 1.01 1.03
Stock option share data:
Stock options granted during period 3.508,667 7.710,438 3,732,450
Weighted average option fair value $  11.61 $ 9.99 $ 7.43
DSU data:
DSUs granted during period 806,838
Weighted average unit fair value $ 25.08
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The fair value ol cach stock oplion grant is calculated using the Black-Scholes oplion pricing model. with the following assumptions:

2003 2002 2001
Fxpected volatitity 37 — 38 38U 0%
lixpected dividend vield O%) (0 0%
lixpected option term Tovears T ovears 7ears
Risk-lree rate of return 3.03 = 4.00% 4.09 - $87% 491 = 5.19%

Revenue Recognition and Accounts Receivable — Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence ol an arrangement exists, the price is
lixed or determinable. the product has been shipped to the customer and there is a reasonable assurance of coliection ol the sales
proceeds. In accordance with Emerging lssues Task Foree ("EITEFT) O1-09. " Accounting for Consideration Given by a Vendor to a
Customer.” revenue is reduced by certain sales incentives, some ol which are recorded by estimating expense based on our
historical experience. We provide credit lerms (o customers generally ranging up Lo 30 davs, perform ongoing credit evaluation of

our customers and maintain allowances for potential credit losses based on historical experience.

income Taxes — All of our whollv-owned U.S. operating subsidiavies are included in our consolidated tax veturn. In addition. our
proportional share of the operations of our former majorityv-owned subsidiaries and certain of our equity method alfiliates. which
are organized as limited liability companies or imited partnerships. are also included in our consolidated tax return. Our foreign
subsidiarics are required o file separate income Lax returns in their local jurisdictions. Certain distributions from these subsidiaries
are subject 1o US. income taxes: however. available tax credits of these subsidiaries may reduce or eliminate these ULS. income tax
tiabilities. ther foreign earnings are expected to be reinvested indefinitelv. At December 31, 2003 no provision had been made for
LS. federal or state income Lax on approximately $19.4 million of accumulated Toreign carnings.

Deferred income taxes are provided for temporary ditferences between amounts recorded in the Consolidated Financial Stalements
and Lax bases of assets and liabilities using current tax rates. Deferred tax assets. including the benefit of net operating loss carry-

[orwards. are evaluated based on the guidelines Tor realization and are reduced by a valuation allosvance if deemed necessary.

Advertising Expense — Advertising expense is comprised of media. ageney and production expenses. Advertising expenses are charged
Lo income during the period incurred, except for expenses related o the development of o major commercial or media

campaign which are charged to income during the period in which the adverlisement or campaign is first presented by the media.
Advertising expenses charged 1o income totaled $108.3 million in 2003, 891, 1 million in 2002 and S41.1 million in 2001

\dditionaltly, prepaid advertising costs were SO million and $4.9 million at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively,

Shipping and Handling Fees — Our shipping and handling costs are included in both cost of sales and selling and distribution expense,
depending on the nature of such costs, Shipping and handling costs included in cosl of sates reflect the cost of shipping products to
customers through third party carriers, inventory warchouse cosis, product loading and handling costs and costs associated with
transporting finished products from our manufacturing tacilities to our own distribution warchouses. Shipping and handiing costs
included in selling and distribution expense consist primarily of route delivery costs for both company-owned delivery routes and
independent distributor routes. to the extent that such independent distributors are paid a delivery fee. Shipping and handling cosls
that were recorded as a component of selling and distribution expense were approximately $988. 1 million, $951.9 million and

$6:39.2 million during 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively,
Insurance Accruals — We retain selected fevels of property and casualty risks, primarily related to employvee health care, workers' com-

pensation claims and other casually losses, Many of these potential losses are covered under conventional insurance programs with

Lhird party carriers with high deductible imits. In other aveas. we are self-insured with stop-loss coverages. Accraed liabilities for

58 Reach Tor Dean — Dean Foods 2003 Annuat Report




Motes to Consolidated Finanrcial Statements

incurred but not reported losses related to these retained risks are calculated based upon loss development factors which
contemplate a number of factors including claims history and expected trends. These loss development factors are developed by

us in consuitation with external insurance brokers and actuaries.

Plant Closing and Rationalization Costs — We have an on-going plant closing and rationalization strategy. We periodicaily record

plant closing and rationalization charges when we have identified a plant for closure or other rationalization opportunity, developed
a plan and notified the affected employees. Effective January 1, 2003, we record these charges in accordance with SFAS No. 146,
“Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities.” Plant closings initiated prior to January 1, 2003 continue to be
accounted for under the old guidance. See “Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements.”

Comprehensive Income — We consider all changes in equity from transactions and other events and circumstances, except those

resulting from investments by owners and distributions to owners, to be comprehensive income.

Stock Split — On June 9, 2003, we effected a three-for-two split of our common stock, and on April 23, 2002, we effected a
two-for-one stock split. All share numbers contained in our Consolidated Financial Statements and in these Notes have been
adjusted for all periods to reflect the stock splits.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements — In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No.
143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations.” This statement requires that the fair value of a liability for an asset retirement
obligation be recognized in the period in which the associated legal obligation for the liability is incurred if a reasonable estimate of
fair value can be made. The associated asset retirement costs are capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the long-lived asset
and amortized over the useful life of the asset. SFAS No. 143 became effective for us in 2003. The adoption of this pronouncement
did not have a material impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

SFAS No. 145, “Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44 and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical Corrections,”
was issued in April 2002 and is applicable to fiscal years beginning after May 15, 2002. One of the provisions of this technical
statement is the rescission of SFAS No. 4, “Reporting Gains and Losses from Extinguishment of Debt,” whereby any gain or 1oss on
the early extinguishment of debt that was classified as an extraordinary item in prior periods in accordance with SFAS No. 4, which
does not meet the criteria of an extraordinary item as defined by APB Opinion No. 30, must be reclassified. Adoption of this standard
required us to reclassify gains and losses related to early extinguishment of debt that were previously reported as extraordinary as a
component of “interest expense.” Interest expense was increased by $7.3 million in 2001 as a result of the adoption, but there was
no effect on net income.

In June 2002, FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities.” This statement
addresses financial accounting and reporting for costs associated with exit or disposal activities and nullifies EITF Issue No. 94-3,
“Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs
Incurred in a Restructuring).” The statement requires that a liability for a cost associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized
when the liability is incurred, and is effective for exit or disposal activities that are initiated after December 31, 2002. Our adoption
of this standard changed the timing of the recognition of certain charges associated with exit and disposal activities.

In November 2002, FASB issued FASB Interpretation (“FIN”) No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for
Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others.” FIN No. 45 clarifies the requirements of SFAS No. 5
“Accounting for Contingencies,” relating 1o the accounting for and disclosure of certain guarantees issued and indemnification
obligations incurred. FIN No. 45 requires disclosure of certain guarantees and indemnification obligations. It also requires liability
recognition for the fair value of certain guarantees and indemnification obligations made or incurred after December 31, 2002.
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We adopted FIN No. 45 effective January 1. 2003, See Note 18 for the disclosures required by PIN No. 45, The adoption ol this
pronouncement did nol have a material impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements.,

In December 2003, FASB issued FIN No. 46(R). “Consolidation of Yariable Interest kntities — an interpretation of ARB No. 5
(revised December 2003).7 FIN 46(R) provides guidance for identifving a controlling interest in a variable inteeest enlity ("ViE™)
established by means other than voling interests. IFIN 46(R) also requires consolidation ol a Vi by an enterprise thatl holds such a
controlling interest. The effective date for interest qualification is December 31, 2003, We currently ulilize special purpose limited
liability entities Lo facilitate our receivable-backed facility. Since their formations. these entilies have heen consolidated in our
linancial statements for financial reporting purposes. Therefore, the adoption of FIN No. 46(R) had no materiat impact on our
Consolidated Financial Statements,

e April 2003, FASB issued SEAS No. 49, "Amendment of Statement 133 o Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.” This
statement amends and clarifies financial accounting and reporting for derivative instruments, including derivative instruments
embedded in other contracts and hedging activities under SFAS Noo 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities.” This statement requires that contractls with comparable characteristios be accounted for similarty and is effective for
contracts entered into or modified alter June 30, 2003, Our reporting for our hedging activities is within the requirements of this
statement, therefore SFAS Noo 149 had no impact on our Consolidated Financial Stalements.

In May 2003, PASB issued SFAS No, 150, "Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of Both Liabilities
and Bquity.” This statement. which became effective for us on July 1. 2003, requives that certain financial instruments which had
previously heen classilied as cquity he classified as liabilities. We have no oulstanding securities that meet the eriteria of SFAS No,
150, Therelfore, SIAS No. 150 had no impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

In December 2003, FASB issucd SFAS No. 132 (vevised 2003). “lmplovers' Disclosures aboul Pensions and Other Postretirement
Benelits.” Lo improve linancial statement disclosures for defined benefit plans. This standard requires that companies provide more
details about their plan assels, benelit obligations, cash flows, benefit costs and other relevant information. In addition to expanded
annual disclosures, we will be required to report the various elements of pension and other postretirement benelit costs on a

quarterly basis. SFAS No. 132 (revised 2003) is effective for fiscal vears ending after December 15, 2003, and for gquarters
heginning aflter December 15, 2003, The expanded disclosure requirements are included in this report.

In January 2004, the FASB issued FASB Stalf Position ("FSP™) 106-1. "Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the
Medicare Preseription Drug. Improvement and Modernization Act of 20037 in response 1o a new law regarding preseription drug
henefils under Medicare as well as a federal subsidy 1o sponsors of retivee health care benefit plans. Currently. SFAS No. 106,
“Emplovers” Accounting lor Postretirement Benelits Other Than Pensions™, requires tal changes in relevant law be considered in
current measurement of postretirtement benefit costs, We are currently evaluating the impact ol the new law and will defer

recognition. as permitted by FSP 106-1. until authoritative guidance is issued.

Reclassifications — (ertain reclassifications have heen made o conform the prior yvears' Consolidated Financial Statements 1o the

current vear classifications.

GENERAL
In total. we completed the acquisitions of 16 businesses during 2003, 2002 and 2001, which included the acquisition of the former
Dean Foods Company ("Legacey Dean”™) for a purchase price of approximately $1.7 hillion in December 2001,

ALl of these acquisitions were funded with cash flows from operations, borrowings under our credit facility and our accounts
receivables-backed facilities and. in the case of the acquisition of Legacy Dean. the issuance of 46.378.584 shares of our common

stock with a fair market value of S739.4 million,
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All acquisitions were accounted for using the purchase method of accounting as of their respective acquisition dates, and accord-
ingly, only the results of operations of the acquired companies subsequent to their respective acquisition dates are included in our
Consolidated Financial Statements. At the acquisition date, the purchase price was allocated to assets acquired, including identifi-

--able-intangibles, and liabilities assumed based on their fair market values. The excess of the total purchase prices over the fair val-

ues of the net assets acquired represented goodwill. In connection with the acquisitions, assets were acquired and liabilities were

assumed as follows:
Year Ended December 31
(in thousands) 2003 2002 2001

Purchase prices:

Cash paid. net of cash acquired $246,573 $206,3070 $ 1,146,077
Cash acquired in acquisitions 171 17,870 15,060
Common stock issued 739,366
Operations of 11 divested plants 287,989
Total purchase prices $246,744 $224,177 2,188,492

FFair values of net assets acquired:
Assets acquired 102,709 147,650 2,283,882
Liabilities assumed (28,771) (29,172) $(1,511,436)
Total fair value of net assets acquired 73,938 118,478 772,446
Goodwill $172,806 $105,699 $ 1,416,046

(1) An additional $15.8 million was paid in 2002 as part of the Legacy Dean acquisilion.

We have not completed the final allocation of purchase price to the fair values of assets and liabilities acquired in 2003, or the
related business integration plans. We expect that the ultimate purchase price allocation may include additional adjustments to the
fair values of depreciable tangible assets, identifiable intangible assets and the carrying values of certain liabilities. Accordingly, to
the extent that such assessments indicate that the fair value of the assets and liabilities differ from their preliminary purchase price
allocation, such difference would adjust the amounts allocated to the assets and liabilities and would change the amounts allocated
to goodwill.

2003 AcCQuiSITIONS

Cremora — On December 24, 2003, our Specialty Foods Group acquired the “Cremora®” branded non-dairy powdered coffee creamer
business from Eagle Family Foods. Prior to the acquisition, we had been producing Cremora creamers for Eagle Family Foods
pursuant to a co-packing arrangement, which generated approximately $8.9 million of net sales for us in 2003. Cremora is the first
branded powdered coffee creamer offering for Speciaity Foods. The Cremora brand had sales of approximately $15.8 million in the
twelve months ended June 30, 2003. We purchased the Cremora business for a purchase price of approximately $12.6 million, all of

which was funded using borrowings under our senior credit facility.

Kohler Mix — On October 15, 2003, we acquired Kohler Mix Specialties, Inc., the dairy products division of Michael Foods, Inc.
Kohler’s product line consists primarily of private label ultra-pasteurized ice cream mixes, creamers and creams, sold primarily in
the foodservice channel. Since the acquisition, Kohler has been part of our former Morningstar/White Wave segment. Effective
January 1, 2004, Kohler became part of our Dairy Group, along with all of Morningstar Foods’ other private label and manufacturing

---gperations: The acquisition-of Kohler increased the Dairy Group's ultra-high temperature processing capacity; which we need to

meet the expanding needs of our Branded Products Group segment (formerly known as the Morningstar/ White Wave segment).
Kohler had net sales of approximately $187.5 million for the 12 months ended August 31, 2003 and has three plants located in
White Bear Lake. Minnesota, Sulphur Springs, Texas and Newington, Connecticut. We paid approximately $158.6 million for the

purchase of Kohler, all of which was funded using borrowings under our receivables-backed facility.
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Melody Farms — On Junc 9, 2003, our Dairy Group acquired Melody Farms, LLG. Melody Farms, which is now a part of the Vidwest
region of our Dairy Group, is a regional dairy processor hased in Livonia, Michigan, that produces fluid dairy and ice cream products
from two plants in Michigan. Our acquisition of Melody Farms expands our distribution reach and allows us 1o better serve our
customers in the Michigan arca. Velody Farms had net sates ol approximately $ 116 million during the 12 months ended March 31.
20008, We paid approximately $52.7 million for Melody FFarms. all of which was funded using borrowings under our receivables-

backed lacility.

Other — During 2003, our Dairy Group compleled the following acquisitions for an aggregate purchase price of $22.6 million:
= |0 December. a daivy plant located in Baxley, Georgia,

® [n Oclober, a distributor located in Dallas. Texas: and

2 In Seplember. a distributor located in Veguila, New Mexico:

@ In August. a dairy located in Galverton, New York:

@ In July, a distributor located in Reno. Nevada:

m In July, anice cream plant located in Boise. Idaho:

= In March. a distributor located in Nashville, Tennessee:

2002 ACQUISITIONS

Marie’s — On May 7. 2002, we hought the assets of Marie's Quality Foods, Marie’s Dressings, Inc and Marie's Associates. makers of
Maries? brand dips and dressings in the western United States, for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $23.5 million.
Prior to the acquisition. we licensed the Maries brand Lo Maries Quality Foods and Marie's Dressings. ne. for use in connection
with the manufacture and sale of dips and dressings in the western United States. As a result of this acquisition, our Branded

Products Group segment is now the sole owner, manufacturer and marketer of Maries brand products nationwide.

White Wave — On Mayv 9. 2002, we acquired the 64% equily interest in White Wave, Inc. that we did not already own. White Wave,
hased in Boulder. Colorado. is the maker of SilA® sovmilk and other sov-based products, and had sales of approximately $125 million
during the 12 months ended March 31, 2002, Prior to May 9. 2002, we owned approximately 36% of White Wave, as a result of
certain investments made by Legacy Dean beginning in 1999, We decided to purchase the remaining 64% equity interest. for a total
price of approximately $192.8 million because of the success that Sitk had experienced in the refrigerated sovmilk category and we
betieved L was important that we have a successtul branded sovmilk offering in order to better serve our customers and consumers.
Existing management of White Wave has remained in place after the acquisition, We have agreed to pay White Waves management
team an incentive bonus hased on achieving cerlain sales growth targets by the end of March 2004, The bonus amount will depend
on the tevel of two-vear cumulative sales White Wave achieves by the end ol March 2004, and is anticipated to be approximately $39
million. Amounts expected to be pavable under the bonus plan have been expensed cach quarter based on White Waves performance

during the quarter. See Nole 18,

Other — In January 2002, we bought a milk plant in Fort Worth, Texas. and in December 2002, we purchased an ice cream plant in

Denver. Golorado for an ageregate purchase price of $8 million.

2001 ACQUISITIONS

Dean Foods Company — On December 21, 2001, we completed our acquisition of Legacy Dean. Legacy Dean is now our whollv-owned
subsidiary, Immediately upon completion ol the transaction. Legacy Dean changed ils name to Dean Holding Company and we
changed our name 1o Dean Foods Company. As a result of the transaction, each share of common stock of Legacy Dean was

converted into 1.287 shares of our common stock and the right 1o receive 821 in cash. The aggregate purchase price recorded was
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$1.7 billion, including $756.8 million of cash paid to Legacy Dean stockholders and common stock valued at $739.4 million. The

value of the approximately 46.5 million common shares issued was determined based on the average market price of our common

stock during the period from April 2 through April 10, 2001 (the merger was announced on April 5, 2001). In addition, each of the
options to purchase Legacy Dean’s common stock outstanding on December 21, 2001 was converted into an option to purchase

2.256 shares of our stock. As discussed below, the holders of these options had the right, during the ninety day period following

the acquisition, to surrender their stock options to us, in lieu of exercise, in exchange for a cash payment.

We decided to acquire Legacy Dean for the above-described consideration after considering a number of factors, including:

s The acquisition would result in us becoming the first truly national dairy and specialty foods company with the geographic reach,
managentent depth and product mix necessary to meet the needs of large customers, who can especiaily benefit from the added
services, convenience and value that a national dairy company can provide;

s Combining our businesses would enable us to reduce our costs by pursuing economies of scale in purchasing, product development
and manufacturing, and by eliminating duplicative costs; and

= Increasing our scale would provide us with greater resources to invest in marketing and innovation.

Also on December 21, 2001, in connection with our acquisition of Legacy Dean, we purchased Dairy Farmers of America’s
("DFA™) 33.8% stake in our Dairy Group for consideration consisting of: (1) approximately $145.4 million in cash, and (2) the
operations of eleven plants (including seven of our plants and four of Legacy Dean’s plants) located in nine states where we and
Legacy Dean had overlapping operations. Also in connection with the transaction, we delivered a contingent promissory note in the
original principal amount of $40 million to secure our obligation to renew certain of our milk supply agreements with DFA until
2021. See Note 18 for a further discussion of this obligation. As a result of this transaction, we now own 100% of our Dairy Group.

In connection with the merger, we entered into a new credit facility and expanded our receivables-backed loan facilities. We used
the proceeds from the credit facility and receivables-backed loan facilities to fund the cash portion of the merger consideration and
the acquisition of DFA's minority interest, to refinance certain indebtedness and to pay certain transaction costs.

Legacy Dean'’s operations and the acquisition of DFA's minority interest are reflected in our Consolidated Financial Statements
after December 21, 2001.

The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition of Legacy
Dean, and includes the effects of divesting four Legacy Dean plants.

(in thousands) » At December 21, 2001
Current assets $ 694,453
Property, plant, and equipment 725,258
Intangible assets 236,978
Goodwill 1,515,267
Other assets 79,945
Total assets acquired 3,251,901
Current liabilities 540,458
Other liabilities 285,209
Long-term debt 685,645
Total liabilities assumed 1,511,312
Net assets acquired $1,740,589

Of the approximately $237 miliion of acquired intangibie assets, approximately $206.5 million was assigned to trademarks and
trade names that are not subject to amortization and approximately $30.5 million was assigned to customer contracts that have a

weighted average useful life of approximately 17 years.
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The approximalely $1.52 billion of goodwill was assigned Lo Legacy Deans Dairy Group. NRP and Specially segmenls in the amounls
of ST.01 billion, 215 million and 8290 million. respectively, None of Ute goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purposes,

The final allocation of the purchase price Lo the fair values of assets and liabilities of Legaey Dean and the related business integration
plans was completed in the fourth quarter of 2002, Thix final allocation process increased goodwill by approximately $55.4 million,
primarily as a result of the final determination of the tfair values of depreciable tangible assets and business integration plans.

The purchase price allocation ol Legacy Dean included a liability for payment obligations to Legacy Dean emplovees related to
Legacy Dean stock options as a resudt of the change in control of Legacy Dean. Under Legacy Dean's stock oplion agreements. upon
a change in control. emplovees had the right to surrender their stock oplions 1o us, inticu of exercise. in exchange for a cash pavment
during the ninety day period following the change in control. The required cash payment varied depending on the type of stock option
and the grant date with certain stock options requiring a cash payment cqual to the difference belween the exercise price and the
highest elosing price of our stock during the sixty day period beginning thirty davs hefore and ending 30 days alter the completion of
the change in control transaction, and certain of the stock oplion agreements required a tay gross-up pavment upon swrrender. Cash
pavments of approximately 8442 million were made. At the conclusion of the surrender period. the remaining liability of approximatels
S30.5 miltion was transferred o stockholders™ equity as the underlving stock options remained outstanding,

We also incureed a change in control obligation of approximately 4.9 million for pavments to 18 officers under Legacy Dean's
long-term incentive plan and transition bonuses to 5 officers of Legacy Dean, both of which beeame carned and pavable upon
consummation of the merger: and severance obligations of approximately S17.5 million related to the termination of certain employvees
and officers of Legacy Dean as a result of the decision o eliminate certain Legacey Dean administrative funcltions.

The unaudited results ol operations on g pro forma bhasis for the yvear ended December 31, 2001 as if the acquisition of Legacy
Dean. and the purchase of DEAS minority interest (including the divestitare of the 11 plants transferred in partial consideration of

that interest) had occurred as of the beginning of 2001 are as lollows:

(In thousands, except per share data) Year Ended December 31, 2001
Nel sales $10.058.288
Income from continuing operations hefore taxes 289,008
Nelineome from conltinuing operations 178,411

Iartings per share from continuing operations:
Basic $ 1.38
Diluted b 1.28

Minority Interest in Spanish Operations — In August of 2001, we purchased the 259% minority interest in Leche Celta. our Spanish dairy

processor thal we did not alrcady own, for approximately $12.6 million. We funded this purchase with cash flow from operations,

DIVESTITURES

In order to more closely align both our assets and our management resources with our strategic direction. part of our strategy in
2003 and 2002 was Lo divest certain assets. on July 31, 2003, we completed the sale of the frozen pre-whipped topping and rozen
collee creamer operations of Morningstar Foods, We recorded a pre-tax gain on the sale of approximately $66.2 million. Also in July
2003, we sold certain Dairy Group delivery trucks and customer relationships in New York. The proceeds from the sale of businesses
during 2003 was approximately $90 million. During 2002, we completed the sale of the following non-core businesses acquired as
part of Legacy Dean's specialty Foads division: on January 4, 2002, we completed the sale of the stock of DEC Transportation
Company, a contract hauler: on February 7. 2002, we completed the sale of the assets related 1o a boiled peanut business: and on
October 11, 2002, we completed the sale of EBI Foods Limited. a UR.-based manufacturer of powdered food coatings. Net proceeds
from the sale of these three businesses Lotaled approximately $28.9 mitlion. No gain or loss was recorded on the divestiture of

Legacy Dean's businesses during 2002 because the sales prices equated the careving values.
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DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On December 30, 2002, we sold our operations in Puerto Rico for a net price of approximately $119.4 million. In accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, our financial statements have been restated to reflect our former Puerto Rico business as
a discontinued operation.

Revenues and income before taxes generated by our Puerto Rico operations were as folows:

Year Ended December 31®

(In thousands) 2002 2001
Net sales $221,908 $220,451
[ncome before tax™ 1,762 4,213

(1) Corporate interest expense of $3.5 million and $5.1 million in 2002 and 2001, respectively, was allocated to-our Puerto Rico operations bascd on the ratio of our investment
in them to total debt and equity.

(2) All intercompany revenues and expenses have been appropriately eliminated in the table.

In the first quarter of 2002, we recognized an impairment charge of $37.7 million related to the goodwill of our Puerto Rico
operations in accordance with our implementation of SFAS No. 142 “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” This loss is reflected

as a cumulative change in accounting principle in our Consolidated Financial Statements.

3. Investments in Unconsolidated Affiliates

Investment in Consolidated Container Company — We own a minority interest in Consolidated Container Company (“CCC”), one of the
nation’s largest manufacturers of rigid plastic containers and our largest supplier of plastic bottles and bottle components. We have
owned our minority interest since July 2, 1999 when we sold our U.S. plastic packaging operations to CCC.

Since July 2, 1999, our investment in CCC has been accounted for under the equity method of accounting. During 2001, due to a
variety of operational difficulties, CCC consistently reported operating results that were significantly weaker than expected, which
resulted in significant losses in the third and fourth quarters of 2001. As a result, by late 2001 CCC had become unable to comply
with the financial covenants contained in its credit facility. We concluded that our investment was impaired and that the impairment
was not temporary, and wrote off our remaining investment during the fourth quarter of 2001. Accordingly, our investment in CCC
was recorded at $0 at December 31, 2001.

In February 2002, CCC's lenders agreed to restructure CCC's credit agreement to modify the financial covenants, subject to the
agreement of CCC’s primary shareholders to guarantee certain of CCC's indebtedness. Because CCC is an important and valued
supplier of ours, and in order to protect our interest in CCC, we agreed to provide a limited guarantee of up to $10 million of CCC’s
revolving credit indebtedness. By late 2002, CCC was again unable o comply with the terms of its credit agreement. CCC's lenders
agreed to again restructure CCC's credit agreement, subject to the agreement of CCC’s primary shareholders to provide a total of
$35 million of additional debt financing to CCC. In the fourth guarter of 2002, we agreed to loan CCC $10 million of the $35 million
in additional financing, in exchange for cancellation of our pre-existing $10 million guaranty and the receipt of additional equity.
Vestar Capital Partners, majority owner of CCC, loaned CCC the remaining $25 million. Our loan to CCC is due on December 31,
2007 (or upon the earlier payment in full of CCC’s senior debt) and is secured by a subordinate lien on certain of CCC's assets. The
loan is not scheduled to be repaid until after CCC’s senior debt has been paid. Therefore, our right to enforce payment of the loan is
limited prior to payment in full of CCC's senior debt. The loan bears interest at the prime rate plus 2.25%, or the eurodollar rate
plus 3.25%, at CCC's option. Upon maturity of the loan, we will be entitled to receive a $400,000 fee, plus an additional fee in
respect of the unpaid principal amount of the loan from January 10, 2003 to the maturity date of the loan, computed at an annual
rate of 11.3%. Because our participation in this transaction was not in proportion to our ownership interest in CCC, our ownership

interest was diluted from approximately 43% to approximately 40%. On a fully-diluted basis, our interest is approximately 36%.
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Because we made the $10 million loan o CCC. generally accepted accounting principles required us (o recognize a portion of
CCCS 2002 1osses, up to the amount of the loan. The loan was written off in its entirety in the fourth quarter of 2002, Accordingly,
our investment in CCC was recorded at $0 at December 31, 2003 and 2002, Our equily in fosses included in our consolidated statement
of income Tor 2003, 2002 and 2001 was $0. $10 million and $23.7 million. respectively.

Approximately 5% of CCC I8 owned indirectly by Alan Bernon. @ member of our Board of Directors. and his brother Peter Bernon,
Pursuant to our agreements with vestar. we control two of the seven seats on CCGs Management. Committee. We have long-term
supply agreements with CCC 1o purchase certain ol our requirements for plastic bottles and bottle components from GCCL In 2003,

we spent approximately $167.9 million on products purchased from CCC.

Investment in Horizon Organic — As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, we had an approximately 13% interest in Horizon Organic
Holding Corporation. We accounted for this investment under the equily method ol accounting, because we had the ability to
influence the operating policies of Horizon Organic given the size of our investment and the fact that we controlled one seat on their
Board of Directors. On Januwary 2, 2004 we aequired the 879% of Horizon Organic that we did nol already own. Prior to that. Horizon
Organics common stock traded on the Nasdaqg under the symbol "HCOW.” The quoted slock price ranged from $11.07 to $24.00
during 2003. The closing stock price on December 31, 2003 was $23.95 per share, resulting in a markel value of our investment of
$32.1 million. Our investment in Horizon Organic at December 31 2003, 2002 and 2001 was recorded at $16.6 million, $16.4 million
and $16.5 million. respectively. and our equity in carnings included in our consolidated statement of income for 2003, 2002 and

2001 was income of $0.2 million. a loss of S0.1 million and income of S0, million, respectively.

Investment in White Wave — F'rom December 21, 2001 (o May 9. 2002, we owned a 36% interest in White Wave, Inc. This investment
was made by Legacy Dean prior to our acquisition of Legacy Dean. On May 9, 2002, we acquired the remaining equily interest in

White Wave and began consolidating White Wave's results with our financial results.

Investment in Momentx — As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, we had an approximately 16% interest in Momentx, Inc. Our investment
in Momenix at both December 31, 2003 and 2002 was $1.2 million. Momentx is the owner and operator of dairv.com. an online
vertical exchange dedicated Lo the dairy industry. We account for this investment under the cost method of accounting. During 2601,
we recorded an impairment charge on this investment of 3.6 million in "Other (income) expense. nel” Lo rellect the current value of

our equily stake based on their latest financing.

December 31

(In thousands) 2003 2002

Raw malerials and supplies $165.206 SI51.179

Finished goods 261.272 249.168
Total 3426,478 340,347

Approximately $97.6 million and 597.3 million of our invenlory was accounted for under the LIFO method of accounting at
December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. There was no malerial excess of current, cost over the stated value of LIFO inventories

at either date.
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5. Property, Plant and Equipment

December 31

(In thousands) 2003 2002
Land $ 153,257 $ 145,978
Buildings and improvements 642,468 569,001
Machinery and equipment 1,616,100 1,391,114
2,411,825 2,106,093
Less accumulated depreciation (638,270) (477,669)
Total $1,773,655 $1,628,424

For 2003 and 2002, we capitalized $3.4 million and $1.5 million in interest, respectively, related to borrowings during the actual

construction period of major capital projects, which is included as part of the cost of the related asset.

6. Intangible Assels

On January 1, 2002, we adopted SFAS No. 142, which requires, among other things, that goodwill and other intangible assets with

indefinite lives no longer be amortized, and that recognized intangible assets with finite lives be amortized over their respective

useful lives. As required by SFAS No. 142, our results for the year ended December 31, 2001 have not been restated. The following

sets forth a reconciliation of net income and earnings per share information for the year ended December 31, 2001 eliminating

amortization of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives.

(In thousands, except per share data) 2003 2002 2001
Reported income from continuing operations $355,703 $267,751 $107.684
Goodwill amortization, net of tax and minority interest 24,481
Trademark amortization, net of tax and minority interest 2,355
Adjusted income from continuing operations $355,703 $267,751 $134,520
Reported net income $355,703 $175,416 $109,830
Goodwill amortization, net of tax and minority interest 26,247
Trademark amortization, net of tax and minority interest 2,355
Adjusted net income $355,703 $175.416 $138,432
Basic earnings per share:
Income from continuing operations $ 245 $ 1.98 $ 1.28
Goodwill amortization 28
Trademark amortization .03
Adjusted income from continuing operations $ 245 $ 198 $ 1.59
Reported net income $ 245 $  1.30 $ 1.30
Goodwill amortization 31
Trademark amortization .03
Adjusted net income $ 2.45 $  1.30 3 1.64
Diluted earnings per share:
Income from continuing operations $ 227 $ 1.77 $ 117
Goodwill amortization 22
Trademark amortization 0.2
Adjusted income from continuing operations $ 227 $ 177 3 1.41
Reported net income $ 227 $  1.21 $  1.19
Goodwill amortization .23
Trademark amortization .02
Adjusted net income $ 227 $ 1.21 $  1.44
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The changes in the carrving amount of goodwill for the vears ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 are as [ollows:

Morningstar/ Specialty

(In thousands) Dairy Group White Wave Foods Group Other Total

Balance at December 31, 2001 52,123,702 8389072 S290.000 S57.710 S2.860.984
Purchase accounling adjustments 21710 14,358 14.200 55.858
Acquisitions 3977 101722 105,699
curreney changes and other 13,376 13,576
Balance at December 31 2002 2,144,389 H10.602 304.290 71.086 3035417
Purchase accounting adjustments {12.623) (12.091) (24. 714
Acquisitions 53,305 (12,001 7.500 172,606
Curreney changes and other 14.039 14.039
Balanee al December 31, 2003 $2.190.07 1 S56G10.562 $311.790 585,125 $3.197.548

In accordance with SFAS No. 142, we completed a goodwill impairment assessment on our goodwill balances during 2002, The
results of this test indicated that the goodwill related to our Puerto Rico reporting unit was impaired al January 1. 2002, In the
fourth gquarter of 2002, we determined that the impairment that existed as of January 1. 2002 was S37.7 million (et of tax), A8
required by SFAS No. 142, we recorded the impairment in our income statement as the cumulative effect of accounting change
retroactive Lo the first quarter of 2002, See Note 2 for information related 1o the sate of our Puerto Rico operating unit. Our 2003
annual impairment test, which was completed in the fourth quarter of 2003, indicated no goodwill impairment.

The gross carrving amount and accumulated amortization of our intangible assets other than goodwill as of December 31, 2003

and 2002 are as follows:
December 31

2003 2002
Gross Net Gross Net
Carrying Accumulated Carrying Carrying Accumulated Carrying

(In thousands) Amount Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Amount
Intangible assets with indefinite Hves:

Trademarks $485.358 F14.274) S471.084 5478.691 $14.274) S464. 4107
Intangible assets with finite lives:

customer-related 50.850 (12.187) 38.663 56,864 (13.270) 43,094
Total other intangibles $536.208 $126.461) S500.747 3335000 S(27.544) S508.011

[n accordance with SI'AS No. 142, we completed an impairment assessment of our intangibles with indefinite useful lives. other
than goodwill, during the first quarter of 2002 as of January 1. 2002, We determined thal an impairment of $47.3 million, net of
inncome tax benefit of $29 million existed at January 1. 2002, The impairment retated to certain trademarks in our Dairy Group and
Morningstar/White Wave segments. and was recorded in the first quarter as the cumulative effect of an accounting change. The lair
vatue of these trademarks was determined using a present value lechnigue. Our annual impairment test for 2003 was completed in
the fourth gquarter of 2003 and an impairment of $2.3 million was recorded for a rademark thal we are no longer using.

Amortization expense on intangible assets for the vears ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 was $5.5 million. $7.8 miltion

and $7.8 million. respectively, Bstimated aggregate intangible assel amortization expense for the next five vears is as follows:

2004 S-49 mitlion
2005 S48 million
2006 $4.5 million
2007 $4.4 million
2008 $4.3 million
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7. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses

December 31

(In thousands) 2003 2002
Accounts payable $517,852 $510,531
Payroll and benefits 161.700 150,679
Health insurance, workers' compensation and other insurance costs 51,720 53,319
Other accrued liabilities 193,435 266,489
Total $924,707 $981,018

8. Income Tazes

The following table presents the 2003, 2002 and 2001 provisions for income taxes.

Year Ended December 31

(In thousands) 2003 2002¢ 20019
Current taxes payable:
Federal $ 55,652 $ 47,618 $37,295
State 14,533 7.829 6,107
Foreign and other 4,401 3.238 3,319
Deferred income taxes 143.267 94,303 33,439
Total $217.,853 $152,988 $80,160

(1} Excludes a $0.9 million income tax expense related to discontinued operations and a $29 million income benefit related to a cumulative effect of accounting change.

(2) Excludes a $1.5 million income tax benefit related to a cumulalive effect of accounting change and a $0.6 million income tax expense related to discontinued operations.

The following is a reconciliation of income taxes computed at the U.S. federal statutory tax rate to the income taxes reported in

the consolidated statements of income:

Year Ended December 31

(In thousands) 2003 2002% 2001@
Tax expense at statutory rates $200,746 $147,274 $76,746
State income taxes 11,732 16,320 3,290
Change in valuation allowance 7.493 4,527 1,537
Tax effect of tax-exempt earnings (2,387)
Nondeductible goodwill 5,527
Favorable tax settlement {10,076)
Other (2,118) (5.057) (4.553)
Totai $217.853 $152,988 $80.160
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The tax effects of temporary differences giving rise to deferred income lax assets and liabilities were:
December 31
(In thousands) 2003 2002

Deferred income lax assets:

et operaling loss carrv-forwards 311402 S 11,490
Asset valuation reserves 17.096 101,859
Non-deductible accruals 157.268 1300753
State and foreign tax credils 8.389 7.632
Derivative instruments 13.593 27433
Other 1,404 8,860
Valuation allowances (13.557) 16.064)

195,595 191,463

Deterred income tax liabilities:

Depreciation and amortization (428.624) (312.160)
Bagis differences in unconsolidated affiliates (18.067) (8.777)
(:446.691) (320.942)

Nt deferved income tax Hability $(251.096) F(129.479)

These net deferred income tax assels (liabilities) are classified in our consolidated balance sheets as follows:
December 31

(In thousands) 2003 2002
Gurrent. assets $ 137.055 $ 158387
Noncurrent @8sels 6,440
Noncurrent linbilities (388.1561) (294.256)
Total S(251.006) SE129.479)

AL December 31. 2003, we had approximately $3.8 million of federal net operating losses and approximately $4.3 million of federal
lax credits available for carrv-over to future vears, The losses are subject to certain limitations and will expire beginning in 2007.

A valuation allowance of $13.5 million has been established because we believe it is “more likelyv than not” that all of the deferred
lax assels relating Lo state net operating loss and credit carrvovers, foreign tax credil carryovers and capilal loss carrvovers will not

be realized prior o the date they are scheduled to expire.

December 31

2003 2002
Amount Interest Amount Interest
(Dollars in thousands) Outstanding Rate Outstanding Rate
Senior credit facility 31,784,053 3.05% $1.827.500 3.65%
Subsidiary deht obligations:
Senior notes 660.663 6.625-8.15 636.931 6.623-8.15
Receivables-backed facility 302.500 .84 145.000 228
IForeign subsidiary term loan 35.739 4.64
Other lines of credit 6,401 276 11919 371469
Industrial developmenl revenue bonds 11.700 1.353-1.40 21.000 1.65-2.00
Capital lease obligations and other 26,197 29,815
2,791.514 2,927,924
Less current partion (180.158) (173.442)
Total $2,611.356 $2.554.482
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The scheduled maturities of long-term debt, at December 31, 2003, were as follows (in thousands):

2004 $ 180,158
2005 287,189
2006 516,567
2007 772,561
2008 716,422
Thereafter 358.281
Subtotal 2,831,178
Less discounts (39,664)
Total outstanding debt $2,791,514

Senior Credit Facility — Our senior credit facility provides for a revolving line of credit and two term loans. During 2003, we amended
our senior credit facility to lower our interest rates, modify certain covenants, increase the revolving line of credit from $800 million
to $1 billion, increase the Tranche A term loan from $765 million to $1 billion, decrease the Tranche B term loan from $390 million
to $750 million and provide for borrowings in euros up to $200 million under the $1 billion revolver. At December 31, 2003, there
were outstanding term loan borrowings of $1.67 billion under this facility, and $112.8 million outstanding under the revolving line of
credit. Letters of credit in the aggregate amount of $108.9 million were issued but undrawn. At December 31, 2003, approximately
$778.3 million was available for future borrowings under the revolving credit facility, subject to satisfaction of certain conditions
contained in the credit agreement. We are currently in compliance with all covenants contained in our credit agreement.
Amounts outstanding under the revolver and the Tranche A term loan bear interest at a rate per annum equal to one of the
following rates, at our option:
= 3 base rate equal to the higher of the Federal Funds rate plus 50 basis points or the prime rate, plus a margin that varies from
0 to 75 basis points, depending on our leverage ratio (which is computed as the ratio of indebtedness to EBITDA, as such terms
are defined in the credit agreement), or
= the London Interbank Offering Rate ("LIBOR”) divided by the product of one minus the Eurodollar Reserve Percentage, plus a
margin that varies from 125 to 200 basis points, depending on our leverage ratio (as defined in the credit agreement).

EBITDA is defined in the credit agreement for any period as, the sum of (i) net income {excluding extraordinary items) after taxes
for such period as determined in accordance with GAAP, plus (ii) an amount which, in the determination of such net income, has
been deducted for (a) all interest expense, including the interest component under capital leases and the implied interest component
under our receivables-backed facilities, plus net amounts payable (or minus net amounts receivable) under hedging agreements,
minus interest income for such period, in each case as determined in accordance with GAAP, (b) total federal, state, local and foreign
income, value added and similar taxes, (c) depreciation, amortization expense and other noncash charges, (d) pro forma cost savings
add-backs resulting from non-recurring charges related to acquisitions to the extent permitted under the credit agreement and under

____Regulation S-X of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or as approved by the representative of the lenders and (e) other adjustments

reasonably acceptable to the representative of the lenders.

Borrowings under the Tranche B term loan bear interest at a rate per annum equal to one of the following rates, at our option:
m a base rate equal to the higher of the Federal Funds rate plus 50 basis points or the prime rate, plus a margin of 75 basis points, or
s LIBOR divided by the product of one minus the Eurodollar Reserve Percentage, plus a margin of 200 basis points.

The blended interest rate in effect on borrowings under the senior credit facility, including the applicable interest rate margin, was
3.05% at December 31, 2003. However, we had interest rate swap agreements in place that hedged $1.13 billion of our borrowings
under this facility at an average rate of 4.32%, plus the applicable interest rate margin. Interest is payable quarterly or at the end of

the applicable interest period.
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Principal pavments are required on the Tranche A term loan as follows:
@ $37.5 million quarterly beginning on September 30. 2003 through December 31, 2004;
@ $43.75 million quarterly on March 31, 2005 through December 31, 2005:
® $50 million quarterly on March 31, 2006 through December 31, 2006;
= $62.5 million quarterly on March 31. 2007 and June 30. 2007: and

g A [inal pavment of $275 million on July 15, 2007.

Principal pavments are required on the Tranche B term loan as follows:
g $1.875 million quarterly beginning on September 30. 2003 through December 31, 2007; and

2 83581 million on each of March 31, 2008 and July 15, 2008,

No principal payments are due on the $1 billion line of credit until maturity on July 15, 2007.

Our credil agreement also requires mandatory principal prepavinents upon the occurrence of certain asscel dispositions nol in the
ordinary course ol business.

lin consideration of the revolving commitnient, we pav a quarterly commitment fee on unused amounts of the $1 billion revolving
credit facility that ranges from 25 Lo 37.5 basis points, depending on our leverage ratio (as defined in the credit agreement).

The senior credit facility contains various financial and other restrictive covenants and requires that we maintain certain financial
ratios, including a leverage ratio (computed as the ratio of the aggregate oulstanding principal amount of indebtedness Lo FBITDA.
as such terms are defined in the credit agreement) and an interest coverage ratio (computed as the ratio of EBITDA 1o interest
expense. as such terms are defined in the credit agreement). In addition, this facility requires that we maintain a minimum level of
net worth (as defined in the credit agreement).

For the period from December 31, 2003 through March 31, 2005, our leverage ratio must be less than or equal to 4 o 1.
Beginning April 1. 2005, our leverage ratio, calculated according to the definitions contained in the credit agreement, must be less
than or equal 1o 3.75 Lo 1. As of December 31, 2003, our leverage ratio. caleulated according to the definitions conlained in the
credil agreement. was 3.16 1o 1.

EBITDA. as used in our credit agreement. is not intended to represent cash flow from operations as defined by GAAP and should
not be used as an alternative 1o net income as an indicator of our operating performance or to cash llow as a measure ol our liquidity.
Maorcover, EBITDA s a term used by many companics to mean many different things, Therefore. neither our EBITDA nor our leverage
ratio. calculated under our credit agreement. should be compared Lo any other companys EBITDA or leverage ratio. We present our
leverage ratio in Lhis discussion not as a measure of our liquidity or performance but only 1o demonstrate our level of compliance
with our credit agreement.

Our interest coverage ratio must be greater than or equal 1o 3 o 1. As of December 31, 2003, our interest coverage ratio. caleulated
according to the definitions contained in the credil agreement. was 5.24 to 1.

Our consolidated net worth must be greater than or equal to $1.75 billion. as increased cach guarter (beginning with the quarter
cnded December 31, 2003) by an amount equal o 50% ol our consolidated net income for the quarter. plus 50% of the amount by
which stockholders™ equily is increased by certain equity issuances. As of December 31, 2003, the minimum nel worth requirement
was $1.85 billion. and our actual net worth (as defined in the credit agreement) was $2.54 billion.

Owr credit agreement permils us o complete acquisitions that meelt the following conditions withoul obtaining prior approval:

(1) the acquired company is involved in the manulacture, processing and distribution ol food or packaging products or any other line
ol business in which we are currentdy engaged. (2) the net cash consideration is not greater than $300 million, (3} we acquire dl
least H1% of the acquired entily, and (4) the transaction i approved by the Board of Directors or shareholders. as appropriate, of

the target. Alb other acquisilions must be approved in advance by the required percentage of lenders.
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The facility also contains limitations on liens, investments and the incurrence of additional indebtedness, and prohibits certain
dispositions of property and restricts certain payments, including dividends. The credit facility is secured by liens on substantially all
of our domestic assets (including the assets of our subsidiaries, but excluding the capital stock of Legacy Dean’s subsidiaries, and
the real property owned by Legacy Dean and its subsidiaries).

The credit agreement contains standard default triggers, including without limitation: failure to maintain compliance with the
financial and other covenants contained in the agreement, default on certain of our other debt, a change in control and certain

other material adverse changes in our business. The agreement does not contain any default triggers based on our debt rating.

Senior Notes — Legacy Dean had certain senior notes outstanding at the time of the acquisition which remain outstanding. The notes
carry the following interest rates and maturities:

= $98 million ($100 million face value), at 6.75% interest, maturing in 2005;

s $250.4 million ($250 million face value), at 8.15% interest, maturing in 2007;

» $186.1 million ($200 million face value), at 6.625% interest, maturing in 2009; and

= $126.2 million ($150 million face value), at 6.9% interest, maturing in 2017.

The related indentures do not contain financial covenants but they do contain certain restrictions including a prohibition against
Legacy Dean and its subsidiaries granting liens on certain of their real property interests and a prohibition against Legacy Dean
granting liens on the stock of its subsidiaries. The indentures also place certain restrictions on Legacy Dean’s ability to divest assets
not in the ordinary course of business.

Receivables-Backed Facility — In November 2003, we amended our $400 million receivables securitization facility to increase the facili-
ty to $500 million. Certain of our subsidiaries sell their accounts receivable to three wholly-owned special purpose entities intended
to be bankruptcy-remote. The special purpose entities then transfer the receivables to third party asset-backed commercial paper
conduits sponsored by major financial institutions. The assets and liabilities Qf these three special purpose entities are fully reflect-
ed on our balance sheet, and the securitization is treated as a borrowing for accounting purposes. During 2003, we made net bor-
rowings of $157.5 million on this facility leaving an outstanding balance of $302.5 million at December 31, 2003. The receivables-
backed facility bears interest at a variable rate based on the commercial paper yield as defined in the agreement. The average
interest rate on this facility was 1.84% at December 31, 2003. Our ability to re-borrow under this facility is subject to a standard

“borrowing base” formula. At December 31, 2003, we could have re-borrowed an additionat $154.1 million under this facility.

Foreign Subsidiary Term Loan — In connection with our acquisition of Leche Celta in February 2000. our Spanish subsidiary obtained a
42.1 million euro (as of December 30, 2003, approximately $53 million) non-recourse term loan from a syndicate of lenders, all of
which was borrowed at closing and used to finance a portion of the purchase price. On December 30, 2003, we repaid the entire
outstanding balance of the loan with borrowings under our senior credit facility.

Other Lines of Credit — Leche Celta, our Spanish subsidiary, is our only subsidiary with its own lines of credit separate from the
credit facilities described above. Leche Celta’s primary line of credit, which is in the principal amount of 15 million euros (as of
December 31, 2003, approximately $18.9 million), was obtained on July 12, 2000, bears interest at a variable interest rate based
on the ratio of Leche Celta’s debt to EBITDA (as defined in the corresponding loan agreement), is secured by our stock in Leche
Celta and will expire in June 2007. Leche Celta also utilizes other local commercial lines of credil and receivables factoring facilities.
At December 31, 2003, a total of $6.4 million was outstanding on these facilities at an average interest rate of 2.76%.
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Industrial Development Revenue Bonds — Cerlain ol our subsidiaries have revenue bonds owlstanding, some of which require nominal
annual sinking fund redemptions. Tvpicaliy, these bonds are secured by irrevocable letters of eredit issued by financial institutions,
along wilh first morigages on the related real property and equipment. In December 2003, we made pavments ol $9 million, leaving
an outstanding balance of $11.7 million. Interest on these bondg is due semiannually at interest rates that vary based on market

conditions, which at December 31, 2003 ranged Trom 1.35% 1o 1.40%.

Capital Lease Obligations and Other — Capital lcase obligations and other subsidiary debt includes various promissory notes for

the purchase of property, plant, and equipment and capital lease obligations. The various promissory notes pavable provide for
interest at varving rates and are pavable in monthly installiments of principal and interest until maturily, when the remaining
principal balances are due. Capital lease ohligations represent machinery and equipment financing obligations which are pavahle

in monthly installments of principal and interest and are collateralized by the related assels financed.

Letters of Credit — AL December 31, 2003, there were $108.9 million of issued but undrawn letlers of credit secured by our senior
credit facility. In addition to the letters of credit secured by our credit facilily, an additional $16.2 million of letlers of credit were
oulstanding at December 31, 2003, The majority of these letters of credil were required by various utilities and government entities

for performance and insurance guarantees,

Interest Rate Agreements —~ \W¢ have interest rale swap agreements in place that have been designated as cash Now hedges against
variable interest rate exposure on a portion of our debt. with the objective of minimizing our interest rate risk and stabilizing cash flows,
These swap agreements provide hedges for loans under our senior credit facility by limiting or fixing the LIBOR interest rates specified in
the senior credit facilily at the interest rates noted below until the indicated expiration dates of these interest rate swap agreements.

The Tollowing lable summarizes our various interest rale agreements in effect as ol December 31, 2003:

Notional Amounts

Fixed Interest Rates Expiration Date (in millians)
1.48% 1o 6.69% December 2004 5650
5.200 1o 6.74% bDecember 2005 400
6.78" December 2006 75

The following table summarizes our various interest rate agreements in ceffect as of December 31, 2002:

Notional Amounts

Fixed Interest Rates Expiration Date (in millions)
6.23% June 2003 $ 50
4294 to 4,640 December 20003 270
4.01% 1o 6.69% December 2004 275
5.2000 10 6.74% December 2005 <400
6.78% December 2006 IB)

In 2001, we entered into interest rale swap agreements that provided hedges for euro-denominated loans, which were repaid and
replaced with a curo-denominated borrowing under our senior credil facility, The following swap hedges the curo-denominated debi.

The following table describes this agreement:

Fixed Interest Rates Expiration Date Notional Amounts

06090 November 2004 12 miltion euros (approximately $135.1 million as of

December 31,2005 and $12.6 million as of December 31, 2002)
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These swaps are required to be recorded as an asset or liability on our consolidated balance sheet at fair vatue, with an offset to
other comprehensive income to the extent the hedge is effective. Derivative gains and losses included in other comprehensive
income are reclassified into earnings as the underlying transaction occurs. Any ineffectiveness in our hedges is recorded as an
adjustment to interest expense.

As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, our derivative liability totaled $48.4 miilion and $80.4 million on our consolidated balance
sheet respectively. This balance includes approximately $33.6 million and $42.8 million recorded as a component of accounts
payable and accrued expenses at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively and $14.8 million and $37.6 million recorded as a
component of other long-term liabilities at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. There was no hedge ineffectiveness, as
determined in accordance with SFAS No. 133, for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Approximately
$25.6 million and $24 million of losses (net of taxes) were reclassified to interest expense from other comprehensive income during
the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. We estimate that approximately $21.4 million of net derivative losses
(net of income taxes) included in other comprehensive income will be reclassified into earnings within the next 12 months. These
losses will partially offset the lower interest payments recorded on our variable rate debt.

We are exposed to market risk under these arrangements due to the possibility of interest rates on the credit facilities falling
below the rates on our interest rate swap agreements. Credit risk under these arrangements is remote since the counterparties to

our interest rate swap agreements are major financial institutions.

19, Mandalory Redeemable Trust [ssued Preferred Securities

In three separate transactions during the second quarter of 2003, we called for redemption all of our trust-issued preferred securities
(“TIPES”). We originally issued $600 million of TIPES in a private placement in 1998. The TIPES were convertible at the option of
the holders, at any time, into shares of our common stock and were redeemable, at our option, at any time at specified premiums,
In response to our three announced redemption transactions, holders of more than 99% of ali outstanding TIPES elected to convert
their TIPES into shares of our common stock rather than receive the $51.035 per security cash redemption price. Accordingly,
during the second quarter of 2003, we issued an aggregate total of approximately 23 million shares of common stock to holders of
TIPES in lieu of cash redemption payments, and we paid approximately $2.4 million in cash to holders who did not elect to convert.
There are no remaining TIPES outstanding.

11. Stockholders® Equity
Our authorized shares of capital stock include 1 million shares of preferred stock and 500 million shares of common stock with a
par value of $.01 per share.

Stock Award Plans — We currently have two stock award plans with shares remaining available for issuance. These plans, including our
1997 Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan and the 1989 Legacy Dean Stock Awards Plan (which we adopted upon completion of our
acquisition of Legacy Dean), provide for grants of stock options, restricted stock and other stock-based awards to employees, officers,
directors and, in some cases, consultants, up to a maximum of 37.5 million and approximately 5.7 million shares, respectively.
Approximately 10.7 million and 1 million shares remained available for issuance under the 1997 and 1989 plans, respectively, as of
March 10, 2004. Options and other stock-based awards vest in accordance with provisions set forth in the applicable award agreements.
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The following table summarizes the status of our stock option compensation programs:
Weighted Average

Options Exercise Price
Outstanding at January 1. 2001 13.578.813 S12.499
Granted 3.732.450 14.506
Options issued Lo Legacy Dean option holders” 8.035.3136 15.39
Canceled (872.454) 15.47
loxercised 3.398.350) 12.94
Outstanding at December 31, 2001 21005790 1411
Granted 7100394 20.61
Canceled? (4.207.022) 1-4.9+4
Fxercised $.950.732) 13.74%
Oulstanding al December 31, 2002 {9.558.030 16.55
Granted 3.508.667 235.08
Canceled (F.094.262) 20.38
lixercised 5.373.809) 1517
Outstanding al December 31, 2003 16,599,126 $18.50
lixercisable at December 31, 2001 14,353,276 $14.38
kxercisable at December 31, 2002 8.997.098 1442
lixercisable at December 31, 2003 $.333.658 15.62

¢1) o connection with our acquisition of Legacy Dean. all oplions to purchase Legacy Dean stock outstamding ot the time of the acquisition were automatically converted into
aptions (o purchase our stock. Upon conversion, those oplions represented options Lo purchase a total of approximatels 8.1 million shares of our comnion stock. Also. the
acquisition trigeered certain “change in control” rights contained in the option agreements, which consisted of the right to serrender the options to us, in lieu of exercise. in
exchange for cash, provided the options were surrendered prior o March 21, 2002, Options 1o purchase approximately 2.4 million shares were surrendered, See Note 2 1o our
Consolidated Financial Statements

<

The acquisition of Legaey Dean triggered certain “change in control” righls contained in the Legaey Dean option agreements. which conxsisted of the vight 1o surrender the
aplions to us, in lieu ol exercise, in exchange for cash. provided the options were surrendered prior (o March 21, 2002, Options 1o purchase approximately 2.4 mitlion shares

were surrendered

The following table summarizes information about options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2003:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Average

Range of Number Remaining Weighted Average Number Weighted Average
Exercise Prices Outstanding Contractual Life Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price
S0 1o S10.88 982.859 3.09 S 8.67 982.859 5 8.67
114210 1454 +.6894.793 6.29 13.41 3.6499. 147 1315
16.30 10 17.70 844,140 5.61 16.69 844140 16.69
18.75 o 20.35 6.307.991 7.08 20024 2,274,028 20005
217510 22,23 190.979 4495 21.94 168,482 21491
2441ty 25.88 3.427.864 8.95 24.78 282.002 2473
2905 w0 31.50 1530.500 9.60 30.93 82.500 31.50

During 2003. we issued the following shares of restricted stock, all of which were granted Lo independent members of our Board
ol Directors as compensation for services rendered as directors during the immediately preceding quarter. Direclors’ shares of

restricled stock vest one-third on grant, one-third on the first anniversary of grant and one-third on the sccond anniversary of grant.

Period Number of Shares Grant Date Fair Value Per Share
First quarter 13,435
Sceond quarler 9.044
Third quarler 8216
Fourth quarter 6.128
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We also issued DSUs to certain key employees and directors during 2003. Each DSU represents the right to receive one share of
common stock in the future. DSUS have no exercise price. Each employee’s DSU grant vests ratably over five years, subject to certain
accelerated vesting provisions based primarily on our stock price. DSUs granted to non-employee directors vest ratably over three
years. The following table summarized the status of our DSU compensation program:

Employees Directors Totat
Qutstanding at December 31. 2002
Issued 778,750 28,088 806,838
Cancelled (125.250) {125,250)
Outstanding at December 31, 2003 653,500 28,088 681,588
Weighted average fair value $ 24.83 $ 31.50 $ 25.06
Compensation expense {in thousands) $ 3376 $147 $ 3,523

Rights Plan ~ On February 27, 1998, our Board of Directors declared a dividend of the right to purchase one haif of one common
share for each outstanding share of common stock to the stockholders of record on March 18, 1998. The rights are not exercisable
until ten days subsequent to the announcement of the acquisition of or intent to acquire a beneficial ownership of 15% or more in
Dean Foods Company. At such time, each right entitles the registered holder to purchase from us that number of shares of common
stock at an exercise price of $70.00, with a market value of up to two times the exercise price. At any time prior to such date, a
required majority may redeem the rights in whole, but not in part, at a price of $0.01 per right. The rights will expire on March 18,
2008, unless our Board of Directors extends the term of, or redeems, the rights.

Earnings Per Share ~ Basic earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during each
period. Diluted earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding and the effect of all
dilutive common stock equivalents during each period. The following table reconciles the numerators and denominators used in the

computations of both basic and diluted EPS:
Year Ended December 31

(In thousands except share data) 2003 2002 2001

Basic EPS computation:

Numerator:
Income from continuing operations $355,703 $267,751 $107,684
Denominator:
Average common shares 145,201,412 135,031,274 84,454,194
Basic EPS from continuing operations $ 245 $ 1.98 $ 1.28
Diluted EPS computation:
Numerator:
Income from continuing operations $355,703 $267.751 $107,684
Net effect on earnings from conversion of mandatorily redeemable
convertible preferred securities 8.994 21,324 21,324
Income applicable to common stock $364.697 $289.075 $129,008
Denominator:
Average common shares — basic 145,201,412 135,031,274 84,454,194
Stock option conversiont! 5,346,882 5,132,746 3,221,679
Restricted stock 729,655
Dilutive effect of conversion of mandatorily redeemable convertible
preferred securities 9,417,721 22,999,884 23,000,349
Average common shares — diluted 160,695,670 163,163,904 110.676,222
Diluted EPS from continuing operations $  2.27 $  1.717 $ 117

(1) Stock option conversion excludes anti-dilutive shares of 38,344; 263,655 and 1,809,819 at December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
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Stock Repurchases — On Seplember 15, 1998, our Board of Dircctors authorized a stock repurchase program of up 1o $100 million, On
September 28, 1999, the Board increased the program by $100 million to $200 million and on November 17, 1999 authorized a fur-
ther increase to 3300 million. We depleted the S300 million authorization during the second quarter of 2000, and on May 19, 2000,
the Board increased the program by $100 million to $400 million. On November 2. 2000, the Board authorized a further increase to
$300 million. On cach of January 8. 2003 and Febraary 12, 2003, the Board authorized additional increases of $ 150 million cach. Set

forth in the chart below is a summary of the stock we repurchased pursuant o this program through December 31, 2003,

Period No. of Shares of Common Stock Repurchased Purchase Price
Third Quarter 1998 3.000.000 S30.4 million
Fourth Quarter 1998 1.531.200 15.6 mitlion
Second Quarter 1999 2349100 3.0 million
Third Quarter 19499 5.5501.545 6H6.7 million
Fourth Quarter 1999 10459524 1284 million
Iirst Quarter 2000 20606 400 27.2 million
Second Quarter 2000 2.898.195 42.2 million
Third Quarter 2000 $.761.000 77.0rmillion
l'ourth Quarter 2000 120,000 2.1 million
Firsl Quarter 2001 370.002 6.1 million
Fourth Quarter 2002 4,126,200 1012 million
First Quarter 2003 4.854.900 1285 million
Third Quarter 2003 360,000 9.9 million
Fourth Quarter 2003 1. 453.400 47.1 million

Tolal 41791460 3685.4 million

\s of March 10, 2004, $114.6 miltion was available for spending under this program,

Repurchased shares are treated as effectively retired in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Comprehensive income comprises net income plus all other changes in equily from non-owner sowrces. The amount of income tax
(expense) benelit allocated to each component of other comprehensive income during the vear ended December 31, 2003 and 2002

arc included below.

Pre-Tax Tax Benefit Net

(In thousands) Income (Loss) (Expense) Amount

Accumutated other comprehensive income, January 1. 2002 S{Oo1.021) S 21478 ${29.843)
Cumulative transtation adjustment 13,392 (4.984) 8408
Net change in fair value of derivative instruments (7-4.332) 27.529 (46.80:)
Amounts reclassitied to income statement related to derivatives 38,945 (14.931) 24014
Minimum pension liability adjustment (18.668) 7.187 (11.481)
Accumulated other comprehensgive incone, December 31, 2002 (91.684) 35979 {35.703)
Cumulative translation adjustment 16.210 2.037 18.247
Nel change in fair value of derivative instruments (12.338) 1.688 (7.650)
Amounts reclassified to income statement related to derivatives 43,733 (18.123) 25,610
Minitmum pension liabilitv adjustment (18.652) 7.130 (11.522)
\ccumutated other comprehensive income, Decenther 31, 2003 $(62.731) S 31711 $(31.020)
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13. Employee Retirement and Profit Sharing Plans

We sponsor various defined benefit and defined contribution retirement plans, including various employee savings and profit sharing
plans, and contribute to various multi-employer pension plans on behalf of our employees. Substantially all full-time union and
non-union employees who have completed one or more years of service and have met other requirements pursuant to the plans are
eligible to participate in these plans. During 2003, 2002 and 2001, our retirement and profit sharing plan expenses were as follows:

Year Ended December 31

(In thousands) 2003 2002 2001
Defined benefit plans $15,312 $ 9,052 $ 1,343
Defined contribution plans 16,873 13,731 7.891
Multi-employer pension and certain union plans 24,358 17.868 13,247
$56,543 $40.651 322,481

Defined Benefit Plans — The benefits under our defined benefit plans are based on years of service and employee compensation. Qur
funding policy is to contribute annually the minimum amount required under ERISA regulations.

As of December 31, 2003, the latest measurement date, the accumulated benefit obligation of the pension plan exceeded the fair
value of plan assets. In accordance with SFAS No. 87, “Employer’s Accounting for Pensions”, we recorded an additional minimum
pension liability of $18.7 million ($11.5 million, net of income tax benefit). The adjustment to the additional minimum pension
liability was included in other accumulated comprehensive loss as a direct charge to stockholders’ equity. As of December 31, 2003,
the cumulative additional minimum pension charge included in accumulated other comprehensive income was $37.9 million

($23.6 million, net of income tax benefit).
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The following lable sets forth the funded status of our defined henefil plans and the amounts recognized in our consolidaled

balance sheets.

December 31
(In thousands) 2003 2002

Change in benelit obligation:

Benefit obligation at beginning of vear $261.367 $280.281
Service cosl 2,799 1541
Interest cost 17,762 18.954
Plan participants” contributions 73 352
Plan amendments 9510
Arsumption change 523
Actuarial {gain)/loss 18.521 1163
\cquisition 23.750
Fffect of settlement (603)

Benefits puid (28.225) (65.219)

Benefit obligation b end of vear 281104 261.367

Change in plan assels:

Iair value of plan assets al beginning of vear 124.759 178.201
\ctual return on plan assets 24952 (19.718)
Acquisition 2.609
Fmplover contribution ST 28.752
Plan participanls" contributions 73 4
Lflect ol settlement (1.132)

Benelits paid (28.225) (65.214)
i value of plan assels at end of year 151.598 124,759
IF'unded status {129.596) {136.608)

L nrecognized net transition obligation 999 [ 106

L nrecognized prior service cost 11.025 2223

L nrecognized net loss 43.741 43.5849
Net amounl recognized $ (73.831) 5 (B9, 69))
Amounts recognized in the statement of financial position consist of:

PPrepaid benelit cost S138

Acerued henefit liability ${124.307) {114.035)

Intangible asset 12.530 3913

Accumulated other comprehensive income 37.946 19,2494
Nel amount recognized S (73.831) 3 (89.690)

A summary ol our Key actuarial assumptions used 1o determine benefit oblications as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 Tollows:

December 31
{In thousands) 2003 2002

Weighled average assumplions as of December 31

Discount rate (.00-6.500 6.50-6.75"%
Expected return on plan asscls 8.509% G.75-8.00%
Rate of compensation increase +.00% 400
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A summary of our key actuarial assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost for 2003, 2002 and 2001 follows:

Year Ended December 31

2003 2002 2001
Weighted average assumptions as of December 31:
Discount rate 6.50-6.75% 1.20% 7.715%
Expected return on plan assets 6.75-8.50% 6.75-9.00% 6.75-9.50%
Rate of compensation increase 4.00% 0-5.00% 0-5.00%

December 31
(In thousands) 2003 2002 2001

Components of net periodic pension cost:

Service cost $ 2,799 $ 1,581 $ 1,594
Interest cost 17,752 18,954 6,671
Effect of curtailment 311
Expected return on plan assets (10.430) (15,142) (7,647)
Amortizations:
Unrecognized transition obligation 107 106 106
Prior service cost 708 190 207
Unrecognized net (gainj/loss 1,833 332 (47}
Divestiture change 148
Effect of settlement 2,643 3,031
Net periodic benefit cost $ 15,312 $ 9,052 $ 1,343

The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation, and fair value of plan assets for the pension plan with accumulated
benefit obligations in excess of plan assets were $281.2 million, $275.6 million and $151.6 million, respectively, as of December 31,
2003 and $240.9 million, $223.4 million and $120.4 million, respectively, as of December 31, 2002. Included in the above pension
benefit tables is an unfunded supplemental retirement plan with a liability of $5.8 million and $7.3 million at December 31, 2003
and 2002, respectively.

In 2003, we decided to consolidate the assets of our ten qualified pension plans into one master trust. This consolidation is
expected to be completed in the first quarter of 2004. Also in 2003, we retained investment consultants to assist our Investment
Committee with the transition of the plans’ assets to the master trust and to help our Investment Committee formulate a long-term
- investment policy for the newly established master trust. We have developed an interim investment policy to ensure a smooth
transition to the master trust. OQur current asset mix guidelines under the interim investment policy target equities at 65-75%
of the portfolio and fixed income at 25-35%. We expect to develop and adopt a long-term investment policy in early 2004.

We determine our expected long-term rate of return based on our expectations of future returns for the pension plans investments
based on interim target allocations of the pension plan’s investments. Additionally, we consider the weighted average return of a
capital markets model that was developed by the plans’ investment consultants and historical returns on comparable equity, fixed
income and other investments. The resulting weighted average expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is 8.5%.

Our pension plan weighted average asset allocations at December 31, 2003 and 2002 by asset category were as follows:

Asset Category December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002
Equity securities 65% 669%
Fixed income securities 18 26
Cash 14 3
Other 3 5

Total 100% 100%
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Lquily securities of the plan did not include any investment in our common stock at December 31, 2003 or 2002,

We expect to contribule $37.8 million to the pension plans for 2004,

Defined Contribution Plans — Cerlain of our non-union personnel may clecl 1o participale in savings and profil sharing ptans sponsored
by us. These plans generally provide for salary reduction contributions to the plans on behall of the participants of between 1% and
17% of a participants annual compensation and provide for emplover matching and profit sharing contributions as determined by
our Board of Directors. In addition. certain union hourly emplovees are participants in companyv-sponsored defined contribution

plans which provide for emplover contributions in various amounts ranging from 521 (o $39 per pay period per participant.

Multi-Employer Pension and Certain Union Plans — Certain of our subsidiaries contribute to various multi-employer pension and certain
union plans. which are administered jointly by management and union representatives and cover substantially all full-time and certain
parl-lime union emplovees who are not covercd by our other plans. The Multi-kEmployer Pension Plan Amendments Act of 1980
amended ERISA 1o establish funding requirements and obligations for employers participaling in multi-cmployer plans. principally
related o emplover withdrawal from or termination of such plans. We could. under certain circumstances. be liable for unfunded
vested benelils or other expenses ol joinlly administered union/management plans. At this lime, we have not established any

significant liahilities because withdrawal from these plans is not probable or reasonably possible.

Certain of our subsidiaries provide health care henefils Lo certain retirees who are covered under specific group contracts. As
defined by the specific group contract. qualified covered associales may be eligible to receive major medical insurance with
deductible and co-insurance provisions subject Lo certain lifetime maximums.

The following table sets forth the funded status of these plans and the amounts recognized in our consolidated balance sheets:

December 31
(in thousands) 2003 2002

Change in benefit obligation:

Benelit obligation at beginning of vear S 200813 520605
Service coxt 1.169 1,034
Interest cost 1,217 1,139
IPlan participants” contributions 195
Plan amendments (337)
Assumption change (4873
Actuarial loss 098 +.249
\cquisilions 1,152
Benelits paid (2.336) (2.191)
Eflect of curtailment {165)

Benelit obligation at end of yvear 21,261 20813

Fair value of plan assets at end of vear

Funded status (21.261) (20.813)
Lnrecognized prior service cost (2.552) (2.760)
L nrecognized net (gain)/oss 6,424 6.056
Nel amount recognized S{17,389) S(17.517)
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A summary of our key actuarial assumptions used to determine the benefit obligation as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 follows:

December 31
2003 2002
Healthcare inflation:
Initial rate 12.00% 8.33-12.00%
Ultimate rate 5.00% 5.00-6.00%
Year of ultimate rate achievement 2009 2008-2014
Discount rate 6.50% 6.75%

The weighted average discount rate used to determine net periodic benefit cost was 6.75%, 7.25% and 7.75% for 2003, 2002
and 2001, respectively.

December 31

(In thousands) 2003 2002 2001
Components of net periodic benefit cost:

Service and interest cost $2,386 $2,178 $644
Amortizations:

Prior service cost (207) (210) (43)

Unrecognized net {gain)/loss 230 133 (43)

Recognized net actuarial loss from curtailment 217
Net periodic benefit cost $2,409 $2,101 $775

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the health care plans. A one percent
change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effects:

1-Percentage- 1-Percentage-
(In thousands) Point Increase Point Decrease
Effect on total of service and interest cost components $ 200 $ (175)
Effect on postretirement obligation 1,146 {1,006)

We expect to contribute $2.8 million to the postretirement health care plans for 2004.

13, Plamt Closing and Rationalization Costs
Plant Closing and Rationalization Costs — As part of our rationalization and cost reduction program, we recorded plant closing
costs of $11.8 million, $19.1 million and $9.6 million during 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. In addition, our share of CCC’s
restructuring charges was $1.7 million during 2001. This amount was recorded as an adjustment to equity in earnings of
unconsolidated affiliates.
The charges recorded during 2003 are related to the following:
s (losing of a Dairy Group ice cream plant in Hawaii;
= Closing of a Dairy Group distribution facility in New York;
= (Closing of a Dairy Group ice cream operation and maintenance facility in Ohio;
= (losing of a Dairy Group manufacturing facility in California;
= Elimination of certain administrative functions at the Midwest region of our Dairy Group;
= Realignment of Morningstar's private label business and manufacturing operations into the Dairy Group; and
= Elimination of certain administrative functions at the Northeast region of our Dairy Group.
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These charges were accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. (46 which became effective for us in January 2003, Under SIAS
No. 146, the timing of certain costs associated with restructurings are accrued differently than in the past. We expect to incur
additional charges related to these restructuring plans of approximately $4.3 million. including an additional $1.2 million in
workforee reduction costs, $2.2 million in shutdown and other costs and $0.9 million in lease obligation costs. These additional
charges are expected o be completed by December 2004 with the exception of the lease obligation pavments (ov the closed Hawaii
ice cream plant. The Hawaii lease expires in Oclober 2033,

The charges recorded during 2002 are related to the closing of Dairy Group plants in Benninglon, Vermonl and Toledo, Ohio, a
Dairy Group distribution facility in Winchester, Virginia, and one Morningstar plant in ‘Tempe, Arizona. The charges also reflect
additional costs related o severance on the closing of our Dairy Group plant in Port Huron, Michigan in 2001, the shutdown of an
ice ercam production line at our knglewood. Colorado plant and the closing of a Dairy Group plant’s administrative offices in Grand
Rapids, Michigan.

During 2001, we recorded charges related Lo the closing of three Dairy Group plants with consolidation of production into
other plants. The plants closed during 2001 were our processing facilities in Canton. Mississippi, Corpus Christi. Texas and Port
Huron, Michigan.

The principal components of our rationalization and cost reduction program include the following:

& Workforce reductions as a result of plant closings. plant rationalizations and consolidation of administrative functions:

8 Shutdown costs, including those costs that are necessary to prepare the plant facilities for closure:

s Costy incurred after shutdown such as tease obligations or termination costs. utilities and property taxes: and

2 Write-downs of property, plant and cquipment and other assels, primarily for assel impairments as a result of Tacilities that are
no longer used in operations. The impairments relate primarily to owned buildings. land and equipment at the facilities which
were written down Lo their estimated fair values and are being sold. The ceffect ol suspending depreciation on the buildings and
equipment related to the closed facilities was not significant. The carrying value of closed facilities at December 31, 2003 was
approximately $2.6 million. We are marketing these properties for sale. Divestitures of the closed facilities has not resulted in

significant modification o the estimate of fair value.

We consider several factors when evaluating a potential plant closure. including. among other things. the impact of such a closure
on our customers, the impact on production, distribution and overhead costs. the investment required to complete any such closure,
and the impact on future investment decisions. Some plant closures are pursucd W improve our operaling cost structure. while
others enable us to avoid unnecessary capital expenditures. allowing us to more prudently invest our capital expenditure dollars
in our production facilities.

In the first quarter of 2003, we sotd a Dairy Group plant in Port Huron, Michigan. tn 2001, we ctosed this plant and recorded
plant closing costs which included a write-down in the vatue of the plant, We sold the closed plant for more than expected. resulting
in a gain of $1.6 million. This gain was recorded as a reduction of plant closing expense, resulting in a net plant closing charge of

$11.8 miltion during 2003,
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Activity with respect to plant closing and rationalization costs for exit plans approved after January 1, 2003, which was accounted
for under FAS No. 146, is summarized below:

Accrued Charges at
(In thousands) Charges Payments December 31, 2003

Cash charges:

Workforce reduction costs $ 8,737 $(2,775) $5,962
Shutdown costs 203 (203)
Lease obligations after shutdown 491 (14) 477
Other 971 (918) 53
Subtotal 10,402 $(3.910) $6.492
Noncash charges:
Write-down of assets 3.093
Total charges $13.495

Activity with respect to plant closing and rationalization costs for exit plans approved before January 1, 2003, which was accounted
for under EITF 94-3, is summarized below:

Accrued Accrued
Charges at Charges at
December 31, Charges/ December 31,
(In thousands) 2002 (Gain) Payments 2003
Cash charges:
Workforce reduction costs $3,882 $ 234 $(2,659) $1,457
Shutdown costs 1.657 (7) (945) 705
Obligations after shutdown 668 (621) 47
Other 786 (290) (413) 83
Subtotal $6,993 (63) $(4,638) $2,202
Gain on sale of facility (1.645)
Total gain $(1.708)

Activity with respect to plant closing and rationalization costs for 2002 is summarized below:

Accrued Accrued
Charges at Charges at
December 31, December 31,

(in thousands) 2001 Charges Payments 2002
Cash charges:

Workforce reduction costs $ 668 $ 4,576 $(1.362) $3,882

Shutdown costs 460 1,468 (271) 1,657

Obligations after shutdown 119 563 (14) 668

Other 233 1,190 (657) 786
Subtotal $1.500 7,797 $(2,304) $6,993
Noncash charges:

Write-down of assets 11,253
Total charges $19.050

There have not been significant adjustments to the plans and the majority of future cash requirements to reduce the liability at
December 31, 2003 are expecied to be completed within a year.
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Acquired Facility Closing Costs — As part of our purchase price allocations, we accrued costs from time 1o time pursuant to plans to
exit cerlain activities and operations of acquired businesses in order o rationalize production and reduce costs and inefficiencies.
During 2003, we accrued cosls related Lo the closing of an ice cream plant acquired in July 2003 by our Dairy Group. One plant was
closed in connection with our acquisition of Marie's in May 2002 and several plants were closed in connection with our acquisition
of Legacy Dean.

The principal componenls of the plans include the following:
s Workforce reductions as a resull of plant closings. plant rationalizations and consolidation of administrative functions;
= Shutdown costs. including those costs that are necessary to ciean and prepare the plant facilities for closure and costs incurred

after shuldown such as lcase obligations or termination costs, utilities and property taxes after shutdown.

Activity with respect to these acquisition liabilities for 2003 is summarized below:

Accrued Accrued
Charges at Charges at
December 31, December 31,
(In thousands) 2002 Accruals Payments 2003
Workforce reduction costs 3 9.002 $100 $ (6.231) $2.871
sShutdown costs 11.637 200 (5.820) 6,317
Total 520.639 $600 S(12.051) 39,188

Aclivity with respect to these acquisition liabilities for 2002 is summarized below:

Accrued Accrued
Charges at Charges at
December 31, December 31,
(in thousands) 2001 Accruals Payments 2002
Workforce reduction costs $20.029 $11.205 S(22.232) S 9.002
Shutdown costs 12,621 7.880 {8,864 11.637
Tolal 332,650 519,085 $(31,.006) $201,6:39

In the third quarter of 2003, we recognized a gain on the sale of our frozen pre-whipped Lopping and frozen creamer operations

ol $66.2 million.
During the fourth quarter of 2003, we recognized $2.5 million of other operating income as a result of certain contingencies

related 1o the divestiture of 11 plants in 2001 being favorably resolved.
During the fourth quarter of 2001, we recognized a net of $17.3 million of other operating income which includes the following:

= A gain of $47.5 million on the divestiture of the 11 plants divested in connection with the acquisition of Legacy Dean. The gain
represented the difference between fair value and the carrying value of the plants:

w An expense of $28.5 million resulting from a pavment to DFA as consideration for certain modifications to our existing milk supply
arrangements: and

= An expense of 51.7 million resulting from the impairment in value of a water plant.
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17. Supplemental Cash Flew information
Year Ended December 31

(In thousands) 2003 2002 2001
Cash paid for interest and financing charges, net of capitalized interest $182,825 $224,561 $139,984
Cash paid for taxes 19,788 44,738 24,983
Noncash transactions:

Exchange of trust issued preferred securities 582,986

Issuance of common stock in connection with business acquisitions 739.366

Operations of 11 plants in connection with acquisition of minority interest 287,989

18, Commitments and Contingencies

Leases — We lease certain property, plant and equipment used in our operations under both capital and operating lease agreements.

Such leases, which are primarily for machinery, equipment and vehicles, have lease terms ranging from 1 to 20 years. Certain of the

operating lease agreements require the payment of additional rentals for maintenance, along with additional rentals based on miles
driven or units produced. Certain leases require us to guarantee a minimum value of the leased asset at the end of the lease. Our
maximum exposure under those guarantees is not a material amount. Rent expense, including additional rent, was $121.2 million,
$124.5 million and $86.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

The composition of capital leases which are reflected as property, plant and equipment in our consolidated balance sheets

are as follows:

December 31
(In thousands) 2003 2002
Buildings and improvements $ 707 $ 588
Machinery and equipment 1,940 9,200
Less accumulated amortization (7179) (5.347)
$1.868 $ 4,441

Future minimum payments at December 31, 2003, under non-cancelable capital and operating leases with terms in excess of one

year are summarized below:

Capital Operating

(In thousands) Leases Leases
2004 $375 $ 90,662
2005 158 76,356
2006 99 61,556
2007 116 51,483
Thereafter 172,215
Total minimum lease payments $748 $452,272
Less amount representing interest (75)

“Present value of capital lease obligations ' 3673

Contingent Obligations Related to Milk Supply Arrangements — On December 21, 2001, in connection with our acquisition of Legacy

Dean, we purchased DFAs 33.8% stake in our Dairy Group. In connection with that transaction, we issued a contingent, subordinated

promissory note to DFA in the original principal amount of $40 million. DFA is our primary supplier of raw milk, and the promissory

note is designed to ensure that DFA has the opportunity o continue to supply raw milk to certain of our plants until 2021, or be
paid for the loss of that business. The promissory note has a 20-year term and bears interest based on the consumer price index.

Interest will not be paid in cash, but will be added to the principal amount of the note annually, up to a maximum principal amount

of $96 million. We may prepay the note in whole or in part at any time, without penalty. The note will only become payable if we ever

materially breach or terminate one of our milk supply agreements with DFA without renewal or replacement. Otherwise, the note
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will expire al the end of 20 vears. without any obligation to pay any portion of the principal or interest. Payments we make under

this note. il any, will be expensed as incurred.

Contingent Obligations Related to White Wave Acquisition — On May 9. 2002, we acquired Whilte Wave, Inc. In connection with the acqui-
sition. we cstablished a Performance Bonus Plan pursuant Lo which we have agreed Lo pay performance bonuses to certain employ-
ees of White Wave if certain performance targels are achieved. Specificallv, we agreed that if the cumulative net sales (as defined in
the plan) of White Wave equal or exceed $382.5 million during the period heginning April 1. 2002 and ending March 31, 2004 (the
“Incentive Period”} and White Wave does not exceed the budgetary restrictions sel forth in the plan by more than ST million during
the Incentive Period. we will pay emplovee bonuses as follows:
w | cumulative net salex during the Incentive Period are belween $382.5 million and $450 million. the bonus paid will scale ratably
(meaning $129.630 for each $1 million of net sales) belween $26.025 million and $35.0 million: and

w [ cumulative nel sales exceed $450 million during the Incentive Period. additional amounts will be paid as follows:

e |'irst $50 million above $450 million net sales: 1% of amount in excess of $450 million. plus

r Second $50 million above $450 million nel sales: 13% of amount in excess of $500 miflion. plus

n——

= In excess of S550 million nel sales: 200 of amount in excess of S550 million.

We currently expect Lthe aggregate amount of honuses pavable under White Wave's Performance Bonus Plan 10 be approximateiy
p bte) = .

$39 million. and we have recorded quarterly accruals based on the ageregate amount thal we expect to pay.

Contingent Obligations Related to Divested Operations — W¢ have sold several buginesses in recent vears. In each case, we have
retained certain known contingent liabilitics related to those buginesses and/or assumed an obligation to indemnify the purchasers
of Lthe businesses for certain unknown contingent liabilities. In the case of the sale of our Puerto Rico operations. we were required
to post collateral. including one surety bond and one letler of credit, to secure our obligation to satisty the retained liabilities and o
[ulfill our indemnification obligation. We believe we have established adequate reserves for any potential liability related to our
divested businesses. Morcover. we do not expect any liability that we may have for these retained liabilities, or any indemnification

liability. Lo be material.

Enron — In 1999, we entered into an Energy Program Agreement with Lnron Energy Services pursuant 1o which we contracted o pur-
chase clectricity for certain of our plants at a discounted rate for a ten-vear period. Under the agreement, Knron (i) supplied (or
arranged for the supply ol) utilities to our facililics and paid the costs of such utilities directly to the ulility suppliers. and (i) made
certain capital improvements at certain of our facilities in an effort 1o reduce our utility consumption. all in exchange for one monthiy
paviment (rom us. In November 2001, nron stopped performing under the agreement and in December 2001, knron filed for
hankruptey protection. Shortly thereafter, Enron rejected our contract. In order to compensate us for our lost savings, the Fnergy
Program Agreement provided for formula-based liguidated damages. We have filed a claim in Enron's bankruptey for our damages.
We have received correspondence from Enron demanding payment of certain amounts that Enron alleges we owe under the agreement.
We have disputed the validity of Enron's claim and are in the process of altlempting to negotiate an agreement with Lnron for the
settlement ol our claims against cach other. We do not expect Lthe setllement 1o have a material adverse impact on our linancial

position. results of operations or cash flows,

Fleming Matter — On November 4, 2003, we received a notice (a so-called “"Wells Nolice™) from the stalf of the Securities and
kxchange Commission (the "SECT) informing us thatl the staff was planning 1o recommend that the SEC bring a civil injunctive action
against our company, The notice cites the stafts belief that we aided and abetled The Fleming Companies in Flemings acceleration

of revenue recognition by providing Fleming with correspondence that allowed Fleming Lo characterize lwo payments totaling
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$2.7 million made by us to Fleming as current income rather than deferred revenue to be recognized over future periods. Two officers
of our Dairy Group received similar notices. We expensed the two payments made to Fleming during the quarters in which they were
paid, and the Wells Notice contains no allegations regarding our financial statements. We have cooperated fully in the investigation
and we are currently engaged in settlement discussions with the staff. We do not expect the investigation or a settlement thereof 1o

have a material adverse impact on our company.

Litigation, Investigations and Audits — We are party, in the ordinary course of business, to certain other claims, litigation, audits and
investigations. We believe we have adequate reserves for any liability we may incur in connection with any such currently pending or
threatened matter. In our opinion, the settlement of any such currently pending or threatened matter is not expected to have a material

adverse impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

19, Falr Value of Financial Instruments

Pursuant to SFAS No. 107, “Disclosure About Fair Value of Financial Instruments,” we are required to disclose an estimate of the
fair value of our financial instruments as of December 31, 2003 and 2002. SFAS No. 107 defines the fair value of financial instruments
as the amount ai which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties.

Due to their near-term maturities, the carrying amounts of accounts receivable and accounts payable are considered equivalent
to fair value. In addition, because the interest rates on our senior credit facility and most other debt are variable, their fair values
approximate their carrying values.

We have senior notes with an aggregate face value of $700 million with fixed interest rates ranging from 6.625% to 8.15% at
December 31, 2003. These notes were issued by Legacy Dean prior to our acquisition of Legacy Dean, and had a fair market value
of $699.2 million at December 31, 2003.

We have entered into various interest rate agreements to reduce our sensitivity to changes in interest rates on our variable rate
debt. The fair values of these instruments and our senior notes were determined based on current values for similar instruments
with similar terms. The following table presents the carrying value and fair value of our senior notes and interest rate agreements
at December 31:

2003 2002
Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value
(In thousands) of Liability of Liability of Liabitity of Liability
Senior noles $(660,663) $(699,234) $(656,951) $(702,830)
Interest rate agreements (48,368) (48,368) (80,431) (80.,431)

20. Segment and Geographic Information and Major Customers
Segment Information — In 2003, we had the following reportable segments: Dairy Group, Morningstar/ White Wave and Specialty
Foods Group. Our Dairy Group segment manufactures and distributes fluid milk, ice cream and ice cream novelties, half-and-half

and whipping cream, sour cream, cottage cheese, yogurt and dips, as well as fruit juices and other flavored drinks and bottled water.

In 2003, Morningstar/White Wave manufactured dairy and non-dairy coffee creamers, whipping cream and pre-whipped toppings,
dips and dressings, specialty products such as lactose-reduced milk and extended shelf-life milks, as well as certain other refrigerated
and extended shelf-life products. The Specialty Foods Group processes and markets pickles, powdered products such as non-dairy
coffee creamers, aseptic sauces and puddings and nutritional beverages. Our International Group does not meet the definition of a
segment and is reported in “Corporate/Other.” Prior periods have been restated to remove the results of our Puerto Rico operations,
which has been reclassified as a discontinued operation.

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies. We
evaluate performance based on operating profit not including non-recurring gains and losses and foreign exchange gains and losses.
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We do nol allocate income taxes, management fees or unusual items to segments. In addition. there are no significant non-cash
ilems reported in segment profit or 1088 olher than depreciation and amortization and the $47.5 million gain on the divestiture of the
11 plants divested in connection with the acquisition of Legacy Dean which is reported in our Dairy Group segment in 2001, The
amounts in the following tables are the amounts obtained from reports used by our excculive management team for the vear ended

December 31:

(In thousands) 2003 2002 2001

Net sales 1o external customers:

Dairy Group! 57,146,028 $7.061.538 $5.042.836
Morningstar/White Wave 1,109,499 1.056.751 741,992
specialty Foods Group 684,207 673,604 18.709
Corporale/Othert® 244 882 194,571 171,018
Totat 59,184,616 $8.991 464 $5.974.5065
Intersegment sales:
Dairy Group S 35,852 S 31340 5 14133
Morningstar/White Wave 99414 103,686 Y 476
Specialty Foods Groap 10,692 16.287
Total $ 145958 $ 151313 S 104.609
Operatling income:
Dairy Group™ $ 608,616 $ 520,935 S 323.755
Morningstar/White Wave 118,597 111.668 104.2044
specialty Foods Group 103,056 98.874 2,168
Corporate/Otherihie (64.284) (68.870) (45.104)
Total 765.985 662,607 385,113
Other (income) expense:
Interest expense and linancing charges™ o 195,298 231.263 137401
Iiquity in (loss) carnings of unconsolidated affiliates™ (244) 7.899 23.620
(Mher (income) expense. netss (2.625) 2 660 4.817
Consolidated income from continuing operations before tax $  573.356 3 420.785 S 219.275
Depreciation and amortization:
Dairy Group $ 127.224 S 114354 S 113,780
Morningstar/White Wave 29,381 20216 24574
Specialty Foods Group 14,505 14.101 303
Corporate/Othert+ 20775 20.323 7.1
Total $ 191.885 S 173.994 S 145.898
Assets:
Dairy Group $4.590.291 S4.415.139
Morningstar/AVhite Wave 1.255,704 FOT1.095 858.650
Specialty Foods Group 635,321 617.210 625,382
Corporate/Other o1 1,165 174,822 325,635
Total $6.992 536 56.582.266 56.691.897
Capital expenditures:
Dairy Group $ 177,006 3162493 S 89125
Morningstar/Ahite Wave 80.786 651.765 37401
specialty Foods Group 18511 11,176
Corporate/Other 15,309 6.548 4.684
Total F201.662 3 241.982 S 131.210

{1 Netsales for 2001 have been restated 1o refect the adoption of EITE lssue No. 01-09, “Accomnting for Consideration Given By a Vendor 1o a Customer.” The net e¢ffect was to
decrease nel sales by $8.8 mitlion in 2001

(2} Nelsales for 2001 have heen restated 1o reflect the adoption of EITH Tssue No. 01-09 “Accounting for Consideration Given By o Vendor to o Customer.” The net effeet was Lo
decrease el sales by $2-4£9 million in 20071,

13y Batanees for 2002 and 2000 have been adjusted to remove onr Puerto Rico aperations which have been reclassified ax discontinned operations
|
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(4

Operating income includes plant closing charges of $9.9 million, $14.2 million and $9.6 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Operating income in 2001 includes a
gain of $47.5 million related to the divestiture of 11 plants as part of the acquisition of Legacy Dean and an impairment charge of $1.7 million on a water plant.

Operating income includes a gain on the sale of the frozen pre-whipped topping and frozen creamer operations of $66.2 million and plant closing charges of $1.9 million in
2003 and $4.9 million in 2002.

(5

(6

Operating income in 2003 included income of $2.5 million from the divestiture of 11 plants in 2001. Operating income in 2001 includes an expense of $28.5 million resulting
from certain changes to our milk supply agreements.

(7

Results for 2001 have been restated to reflect the adoption of SFAS No. 145 “Rescission of FASB No. 4, 44 and 64, Amendment of FASB No. 13 and Technical Corrections.”
Accordingly, a loss of $7.3 million in 2001 related to the early extinguishment of debt previously recorded as an extraordinary item has been reclassified to interest expense.

(8) Includes $1.7 million in 2001 which is our share of CCC's restructuring charges.

GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

Net Sales Long-Lived Assets
(in thousands) 2003 20029 2001 2003 20029 2001®
United Statest" $8,939.734 $8,791,893 $5.803.535 $5,429,202 $5,137.695 $4,947,908
Europe 244,882 199,571 171,020 162,453 126,984 118,022
Puerto Rico® 124,079
Total $9.184.616 $8,991.464 $5,974,555 $5,591,655 $5,264,679 $5.190,009

(1) Net sales for 2001 have been restated to reflect the adoption of EITF Issue No. 01-09, “Accounting for Consideration Given By a Vendor to a Customer.” The net effect was to
decrease net sales by $33.7 million in 2001,

(2) Net sales for 2002 and 2001 have been restated to remove net sales related to our Puerto Rico operations, which have been reclassified as discontinued operations.

Major Customers — Our Dairy Group and Morningstar/White Wave segments each had one customer that represented greater than
10% of their 2003 sales. Approximately 12.6% of our consolidated 2003 sales were to that same customer. In addition, our
International Group had three customers that represented greater than 10% of their 2003 sales. Each of these customers represented
less than 1% of our consolidated sales.
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The following is a summary of our unaudited quarterly resuits of operations for 2005 and 2002, Financial information for 2002 has

heen adjusted to remove our Puerto Rico operations, which have heen reclassified as discontinued operations.

Quarter

(in thousands, except per share data) First Second Third Fourth
2(H)3:
Net sales $2, 144,878 $2.222.572 $2.306.848 510318
Gross profit 571.233 601,153 HO3.537 610,486
Nel incomem 63.209 83.789 122,162 86.543
Basie earnings per common sharet:

Nekincome 19 60 79 o6
Dituted carnings per commaon share'®

Nelineome A3 54 76 oA
2002:
Nelsales $2,226.220 82.295.243 82229720 52.240.275
Gross profit 044832 HOG 457 593,420 600,982
Income from conlinuing operationsth 04662 74,031 68.007 71051
Nel incomet (29.624) 73.227 683,699 Ba L
Bagic carnings per common share™:

Income from continuing operations A1 NH) NIt 02

Netineome (.22) o4 Dl A7
Dilaled carnings per common sharets:

Income from continuing operations 37 449 4D 46

Neltincome (.13) A48 D A3

(1) The results for the first, sccond. thicd ad Tourth quarters include plant eloxing charges, net of tases of SEO) nitioe SS9 million, $E.3 million and $3.2 million. respectively

(2} The results for the third and tourth quarters inclnde a cain on sale ol the frozen pre-whipped topping and frozen creamer operations and income related 1o the divestituree of
I plants in 2000 of $40.9 million. net of taxe and S E.8 mition net of fax. respectivels

Earnings per common share calculations tor each of the yuarters were based on the basic and dituted weighted averaee nuniber of shares oulstanding for each quarter. and
the sum ol the quarters nias not necessarily be equal 1o the foll vear earnines per caommon share amounl

(4

The results for the fivst. second. third and fourth quarters imetude plant closing charges, net of Gises, ol SO8 million. $3.2 million, 330 million ani $4.7 million, respectivety
Results in the fourth quarter also include o $6.3 million loss: net of tases. related o our investment in G0

1

Fhe results of the first guarter include an S85 million loss, net of tases, for the impairment of coodwill and athier intangible assels inaccordance with oar adoption ol SFAS
Noo 142 00 the First quarter of 2002 The resufts for the first. second. thind and fourth quarters include income from discontinued operations of 0.7 million. $10.8) million,
SO.7 mittion and 303 million, respectivels

2. SursroLes

fn 2003, we had three reportabie scgments, including the Dairy Group. Morningstar/AWhite Wave and the Specialty Foods Group.
Isffective January 1. 2004, we reorganized our former Morningstar FFoods division. which has resulted in a new segment reporting structure.
We now have the following reportable segments: the Dairy Group. the Branded Products Group and the Specialty Foods Group.

On January 26. 2004, our Dairy Group acquired Ross Swiss Dairies, a daivy distributor based in Los Angeles, Galifornia, which
had net sales of approximately $120 million in 2003, As a result of this acquisition, we have increased the distribution capabhility of
our Dairy Group in Southern California. allowing us 1o better serve our customers. Ross Swiss Dairies has historically purchased a
significant portion ol its products from other processors, We intend to shift the manufacturing of substantially all of Ross Swiss
Dairies” product needs into our Southern Catifornia plants in 2004, We paid approximately $20 miltion for the purchase off Ross
Swiss Dairies and funded the purchase price with borrowings under our receivables-backed facility.

On January 2, 2004, we completed the aequisition of the 87% of Horizon Organic Holding Corporation that we did not alreacy
own. Horizon Organic Holding Corporation had sales of approximately $2 14 million during 2003, We already owned approximately

139 of the outstanding common stock of Horizon Organic Holding Corporation as a result ol investments made in 1998, All of
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Horizon Organic’s manufacturing has historically been done by third-party co-packers, including us. During 2003, we produced
approximately 27% of Horizon Organic’s dairy products. We also distributed Horizon Organic's products in several parts of the country.
Over time, we intend to increase the percentage of Horizon Organic’s manufacturing that is done in our plants, which we believe will
lower its manufacturing costs. We also believe that we can achieve greater distribution for Horizon Organic’s products by leveraging
our Dairy Group's DSD system. Horizon Orgarnic is the leading branded organic foods company in the United States. Because orgarnic
foods are gaining popularity with consumers and because Horizon Organic's products offer consumers an alternative to our Dairy
Group's traditional dairy products, we believe Horizon Organic is an important addition to our portfolio of strategic brands. The

purchase price for the 87% of Horizon Organic that we did not already own was approximately $216 million, all of which was funded
using borrowings under our senior credit facility and our receivables-backed facility. We also repaid approximately $40 million of
borrowings under Horizon Organic’s former credit facilities. Horizon Organic’s financial results will be reported in our Branded

__ Products Group segment.

23. Related Party Transactions

Real Property Lease — We lease the land for our Franklin, Massachusetts plant from a partnership in which Alan Bernon, Chief
Operating Officer of the Northeast region of our Dairy Group and a member of our Board of Directors, owns a 13.45% minority
interest. (The remaining interests are owned by members of Mr. Bernon's family.) The lease payments totaled $0.7 million in 2003,
$0.7 million in 2002 and $0.6 million in 2001,

Minority Interest in Consolidated Container Holding Company — We hold our minority interest in Consolidated Container Company through
our subsidiary Franklin Plastics, Inc., in which we own an 89.5% interest. Alan Bernon, Chief Operating Officer of the Northeast
region of our Dairy Group and a member of our Board of Directors, and his brother, Peter Bernon, coliectively own the remaining
10.5% of Franklin Plastics, Inc.

Aircraft Leases — On August 1, 2000, we entered into a five-year aircraft lease agreement with Neptune Colorado LLGC, a limited
liability company owned by Gregg Engles (our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of our Board of Directors) and Pete Schenkel
(President of our Dairy Group and also a member of our Board of Directors). Pursuant to the lease agreement, we agreed to lease
an airplane from Neptune Colorado at a rate of $1,000 per hour for each hour of flight with a minimum of 40 hours of flight per
month. We also agreed to pay a non-refundable equipment reserve charge equal to $83.10 per engine hour used during the term of
the agreement, with reserve funds being used by the lessor for engine overhauls, removal or replacement during the term of the
agreement. Under the lease, we were responsible for paying certain taxes related to and insurance for the airplane, as well as ;
operating costs, landing and customs fees, storage charges and any fines or penalties arising from the operation or use of the

airplane. We paid an aggregate of $0.5 million in 2002 and $0.6 million in 2001 to Neptune Colorado, LLC under the lease. }

In June 2001, we entered into a six-year aircraft lease agreement with Curan, LLGC, a limited liability company also owned by
Gregg Engles and Pete Schenkel. Pursuant to the lease agreement, we agreed (o lease an airplane from Curan at a rate of $122,000 |
per month. We were required to set up a non-refundable equipment reserve account, the amount of which was determined periodically
by a third party. Reserve funds were used by the lessor for engine overhauls, removal or replacement during the term of the agreement.
We were responsible for paying certain taxes related to and insurance for the airplane, as well as operating costs, landing and
customs fees, storage charges and any fines or penalties arising from our operation or use of the airplane. We paid an aggregate
of $1.6 million and $0.9 million to Curan, LLC during 2002 and 2001, respectively.

On March 24, 2003, the independent members of our Board of Directors voted to purchase Neptune Colorado LLC and Curan,
LLC from Messrs. Engles and Schenkel, after determining that it would be in our best interesis to own the aircraft rather than to
lease the aircraft pursuant to the terms of the existing leases. As consideration for the purchase of the lessor companies from
Messrs. Engles and Schenkel, we assumed the indebtedness that the lessor entities incurred to finance the purchase of the aircraft. <
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No other consideration was paid to Mr. Engles or Mr. Schenkel. directly or indirectly. The aggregate principal balance of the
indebledness that we assumed was approximately $9.6 million. which approximated the then-current lair market value of the aircraft.
The indebtedness is secured by the aircrafl. The lessor entities have no assels or liabilities other than the aircrafl, certain cash and
the related purchase money indebtedness. As part of the transaction, we received cash in the amount of approximately $100.000,
which was the balance of the equipment reserves that were established under the leases. Because the marketl value of the assets we
acquired in the transaction was equal to the value of the liabilities that we assumed. there was no income statement impact related

to the transaction. We completed the transaction in March 2003.

Reach for Dean - Dean Foods 2003 Annual Report




Other Shareholder Information
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Auditor
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Market Information

NYSE: DF

Annual Meeting
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Dean Foods Company
2515 McKinney Avenue
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Forward-Looking

Statement Disclosure

This report contains statements about the
future that are not statements of historical
fact. These statements, which are
sometimes predictions and sometimes
statements of our plans for the future,

are found in the Chairman’s letter to
shareholders, and on pages 1 through 23,
as well as in Management's Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations. In most cases,

you can identify these statements by
terminology such as “may,” “will,”

[T

“should,” “could,” “expect,” “seek to,”

“anticipate,” “plan,” “believe,” “estimate,”

" " oa

“intend,” “predict,” “potential.” “hope” or
“continue” or the negative of such terms
and other comparable terminology. In
evaluating these statements, you should
carefully consider the risks outlined in
this report, and in any subsequent reports
we may file after the date hereof with the
Securities and Exchange Commission. You
may obtain copies of these reports without
charge by writing to our corporate head-
quarters, Attention: Investor Relations,

or through our corporate website at
www.deanfoods.com, or on the SEC's

website at www.sec.gov.

Reach for Dean - Dean Foods 2003 Annual Report

95




GREGG L. ENGLES
Chairman of the Board and
Chiel Exceutive Officer
Dean Foods Company

ALAN |. BERNON
Chicel Operating Officer
Northeast Region

P. EUGENE PENDER
Retired

PETE SCHENKEL
President
Dean Dairy Group

Jim L. TURNER
President and
Chiel Executive Officer

WiLLiam C. TINKLEPAUGH
Sentor Vice President —
Government Relations

Lisa N. Tyson

Senior Vice President.
Deputy General Counsel and
Assistant seeretary

Dean Dairy Group Dr Pepper/Seven-Up czrs
Bottling Group. Inc.
ket
Lewis M. CoLLENS BLAKE ANDERSON
President President = Specialty Foods Group
Hlinots Institute of Technology and ciiairele Llftiers

Chairman, T Research Institute Rick BEAMAN

GREGG L. ENGLES Chiel Operating Officer —
Chairman of the Board and

Ghiel lixeculive Officer

Tom C. Davis Sauthwest Region. Dairy Group
Chief Executive Officer

I'he Concorde Group ALAN J. BERNON

PETE SCHENKEL Chiel Operating Officer -
STEPHEN L. GREEN
General Partner

Canaan Capital Partners

President = Dean Dairy Group Northeast Region. Dairy Group

BARRY A. FROMBERG MicueL M. CaLapo

Executive Vice President and Executive Vice President and
JosepH S. HARDIN, JR. Chief Financial MTicer

Relired

President — International

MicHELLE P. GooLsBY Steve Demos

JANET HiLL President — White Wave

Executive Vice President.
Vice President Chief Administrative Officer, General
Alexander & Associales Counsel and Corporale Sceerelar RicK FEHR

Chiel Operating Officer -
RonALD KIRK RoBerT D. DunN Sautheast Region. Dairy Group
Partner Senior Vice Prexident —

Gardere Wynne Sewell LLP Human Resources JACKIE JACKSON

Chiel Operating Officer -

JoHN S. LLEWELLYN, JR. ART FINO Midwest Region. Dairy Group
Retired Senior Vice President and
Chiet Information Officer Mike Keown

President = National Brand Group
JoHN R. Muse ‘ ol

Chief Operating Officer
Hicks, Muse. Tate & 'urst Incorporated

RonaLD H, KLEIN

Lo ) ; X CHuck Marcy
Senior Vice President —

. President = Horizon Organic
Corporate Development =

HeEcTOR M. NEVARES

President Cory M. OLsoN
Neva Management

JoHN ROBINSON

Chicl Operating Officer -
onmior Viee Pracido _ . . N
Senior vice President Marningstar Division. Dairy Group
Finance and Treasurer

96 Rcach for Decan - Dean Foods 2003 Annual Report







OX

Deanmn.

F o oD s

DEAN FOODS COMPANY

2515 MeKNinney \Wwenue
Suite 1200

Dallas, Texas 75201
Telephone: 214.3003.3400
Faesimile: 214.303.3499

www. deanfoods. com




